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CAUTIONARY NOTE CONCERNING FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q including, without
limitation, statements in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” regarding the Company’s financial
position, business strategy and the plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. Words such as “expect,”
“estimate,” “project,” “budget,” “forecast,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “may,” “will,” “could,” “should,” “believes,” “predicts,” “potential,” “possible,”
“continue,” and variations and similar words and expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements
relate to future events or future performance, but reflect management’s current beliefs, based on information currently available and involve risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expected and projected.

A number of factors could cause actual events, performance or results to differ materially from the events, performance and results discussed in the
forward-looking statements. Factors that may cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the impact of general economic conditions, including
economic slowdowns, inflation, interest rate changes, recessions, and tightening of credit markets on our business; the impact of challenging
macroeconomic and marketplace conditions; the impact of stimulus or other government programs; whether we will be successful in obtaining declaratory
relief against the Commissioner of the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation for the State of California; whether we will be subject to AB 539;
whether our bank partners will continue to lend in California and whether our financing sources will continue to finance the purchase of participation rights
in loans originated by our bank partners in California; our ability to scale and grow the Bitty business; the impact that events involving financial institutions
or the financial services industry generally, such as actual concerns or events involving liquidity, defaults, or non-performance, may have on our
business; risks related to the material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting; our ability to grow and manage growth profitably and
retain our key employees; risks related to new products; risks related to evaluating and potentially consummating acquisitions; concentration risk; risks
related to our ability to comply with various covenants in our corporate and warehouse credit facilities; costs related to the business combination; changes
in applicable laws or regulations; the possibility that we may be adversely affected by other economic, business, and/or competitive factors; risks related
to management transitions; risks related to the restatement of our financial statements and any accounting deficiencies or weaknesses related thereto and
other risks contained in the section captioned “Risk Factors” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 27, 2024 (“2023 Annual Report”). Except as expressly required by applicable securities law, the Company disclaims any intention
or obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1.     FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries    
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share data)

June 30, December 31,

2024 2023

Assets

Cash $ 46,622  $ 31,791  

Restricted cash 34,215  42,152  

Total cash and restricted cash 80,837  73,943  

Finance receivables at fair value 430,482  463,320  

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit losses of $ 3 and $ 346 as of June 30, 2024 and December 31,

2023, respectively 19  110  

Settlement receivable 1,980  1,904  

Debt issuance costs, net 3,718  3,834  

Property, equipment and software, net 9,795  10,292  

Operating lease right-of-use assets 11,361  12,180  

Deferred tax asset 25,118  25,777  

Other assets 9,783  10,183  

Total assets $ 573,093  $ 601,543  

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity

Liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 2,399  $ 4,442  

Accrued expenses 25,602  22,006  

Operating lease liabilities 14,171  15,061  

Senior debt, net 301,774  332,667  

Note payable —  1,449  

Warrant liabilities 2,669  6,864  

Tax receivable agreement liability 24,789  25,025  

Total liabilities 371,404  407,514  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)

Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 1,000,000 shares authorized with no shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and

December 31, 2023)
—  —  

Class A common stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 379,000,000 shares authorized with 21,074,448 shares issued and 19,600,819 shares

outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and 19,554,774 shares issued and 18,850,860 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023)
2  2  

Class B common stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 6,000,000 shares authorized with no shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2024

and December 31, 2023)
—  —  

Class V voting stock, $ 0.0001 par value ( 115,000,000 shares authorized with 91,286,966 and 91,898,193 shares issued and

outstanding as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively)
9  9  

Additional paid-in capital 80,951  76,480  

Accumulated deficit ( 57,341 ) ( 63,591 )

Treasury stock, at cost ( 1,473,629 and 703,914 shares as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively) ( 4,993 ) ( 2,460 )

Total OppFi Inc.'s stockholders' equity 18,628  10,440  

Noncontrolling interest 183,061  183,589  

Total stockholders' equity 201,689  194,029  

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 573,093  $ 601,543  

 Includes amounts in consolidated variable interest entities ("VIEs") presented separately in the table below.

Continued on next page

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1)
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries    
Consolidated Balance Sheets (Unaudited) - Continued

(in thousands)

The following table summarizes the consolidated assets and liabilities of VIEs, which are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The assets below may only be used to settle

obligations of VIEs and are in excess of those obligations.

June 30, December 31,

2024 2023

Assets of consolidated VIEs, included in total assets above

Cash $ 360  $ 368  

Restricted cash 24,646  32,782  

Total cash and restricted cash 25,006  33,150  

Finance receivables at fair value 364,117  417,138  

Settlement receivable 1,980  1,904  

Debt issuance costs, net 3,718  3,834  

Other assets 26  7  

Total assets $ 394,847  $ 456,033  

Liabilities of consolidated VIEs, included in total liabilities above

Accounts payable $ 1  $ 5  

Accrued expenses 3,201  3,614  

Senior debt, net 262,100  283,213  

Total liabilities $ 265,302  $ 286,832  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenue:

Interest and loan related income $ 125,076  $ 121,583  $ 251,355  $ 241,525  

Other revenue 1,228  903  2,292  1,335  

126,304  122,486  253,647  242,860  

Change in fair value of finance receivables ( 40,019 ) ( 44,043 ) ( 104,121 ) ( 107,161 )

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables ( 4 ) ( 3,866 ) ( 31 ) ( 3,936 )

Net revenue 86,281  74,577  149,495  131,763  

Expenses:

Salaries and employee benefits 16,227  16,125  32,225  30,646  

Interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs 10,964  11,231  22,394  22,602  

Direct marketing costs 12,808  13,400  22,320  23,928  

Professional fees 4,798  5,194  10,279  8,917  

Technology costs 2,963  3,280  6,021  6,446  

Depreciation and amortization 2,490  3,317  5,215  6,708  

Payment processing fees 1,676  2,383  3,762  4,773  

Exit costs ( 33 ) —  2,885  —  

Occupancy 1,042  1,106  1,984  2,214  

Lower of cost or market adjustment on transfer of finance receivables from held

for sale to held for investment —  ( 3,130 ) —  ( 2,983 )

General, administrative and other 3,859  3,337  7,639  6,448  

Total expenses 56,794  56,243  114,724  109,699  

Income from operations 29,487  18,334  34,771  22,064  

Other (expense) income:

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ( 976 ) 351  4,195  504  

Other income 79  79  159  272  

Income before income taxes 28,590  18,764  39,125  22,840  

Income tax expense 914  688  1,318  834  

Net income 27,676  18,076  37,807  22,006  

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 24,610  15,934  29,204  19,613  

Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. $ 3,066  $ 2,142  $ 8,603  $ 2,393  

Earnings per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:

Earnings per common share:

Basic $ 0.16  $ 0.14  $ 0.44  $ 0.16  

Diluted $ 0.16  $ 0.14  $ 0.36  $ 0.16  

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

Basic 19,675,934 15,632,120 19,440,680 15,336,366

Diluted 19,675,934 15,873,753 86,148,477 15,533,467

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Unaudited)

(in thousands, except share data)



Class A Common Stock Class V Voting Stock Additional Paid- Accumulated Treasury Noncontrolling

Total

Stockholders’

Shares Amount Shares Amount in Capital Deficit Stock Interest Equity

Balance, March 31, 2024 19,311,623  $ 2  91,606,194  $ 9  $ 78,669  $ ( 58,044 ) $ ( 2,460 ) $ 179,116  $ 197,292  

Exchange of Class V shares 319,228  — ( 319,228 ) — 435  11  — ( 446 ) —  

Issuance of common stock under equity incentive plan 912,852  — — — — — — — —  

Stock-based compensation — — — — 2,092  — — — 2,092  

Tax withholding on vesting of restricted stock units ( 173,169 ) — — — ( 552 ) — — — ( 552 )

Purchase of treasury stock ( 769,715 ) — — — — — ( 2,533 ) — ( 2,533 )

Common stock dividend ($ 0.12 per share) — — — — — ( 2,374 ) — — ( 2,374 )

Member distributions — — — — — — — ( 20,219 ) ( 20,219 )

Tax receivable agreement — — — — ( 216 ) — — — ( 216 )

Deferred tax asset — — — — 523  — — — 523  

Net income — — — — — 3,066  — 24,610  27,676  

Balance, June 30, 2024 19,600,819  $ 2  91,286,966  $ 9  $ 80,951  $ ( 57,341 ) $ ( 4,993 ) $ 183,061  $ 201,689  

Balance, March 31, 2023 15,221,283 $ 2  94,566,687 $ 9  $ 67,179  $ ( 63,292 ) $ ( 2,460 ) $ 162,685  $ 164,123  

Exchange of Class V shares 528,847 — ( 528,847 ) — 1,414 157 — ( 1,571 ) —

Issuance of common stock under equity incentive plan 530,267 — — — — — — — —

Stock-based compensation — — — — 845 — — — 845

Member distributions — — — — — — — ( 7,505 ) ( 7,505 )

Tax receivable agreement — — — — 1,146 — — — 1,146

Deferred tax asset — — — — 305 — — — 305

Net income — — — — — 2,142 — 15,934 18,076

Balance, June 30, 2023 16,280,397  $ 2  94,037,840  $ 9  $ 70,889  $ ( 60,993 ) $ ( 2,460 ) $ 169,543  $ 176,990  

Balance, December 31, 2023 18,850,860  $ 2  91,898,193  $ 9  $ 76,480  $ ( 63,591 ) $ ( 2,460 ) $ 183,589  $ 194,029  

Exchange of Class V shares 611,227  — ( 611,227 ) — 1,120  21  — ( 1,141 ) —  

Issuance of common stock under equity incentive plan 1,069,564  — — — — — — — —  

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase

plan

66,072  — — — 119  — — — 119  

Stock-based compensation — — — — 3,096  — — — 3,096  

Tax withholding on vesting of restricted stock units ( 227,189 ) — — — ( 741 ) — — — ( 741 )

Purchase of treasury stock ( 769,715 ) — — — — — ( 2,533 ) — ( 2,533 )

Common stock dividend ($ 0.12 per share) — — — — — ( 2,374 ) — — ( 2,374 )

Member distributions — — — — — — — ( 28,591 ) ( 28,591 )

Tax receivable agreement — — — — 130  — — — 130  

Deferred tax asset — — — — 747  — — — 747  

Net income — — — — — 8,603  — 29,204  37,807  

Balance, June 30, 2024 19,600,819  $ 2  91,286,966 $ 9  $ 80,951  $ ( 57,341 ) $ ( 4,993 ) $ 183,061  $ 201,689  

Balance, December 31, 2022 14,760,566 $ 2  94,937,285 $ 9  $ 65,501  $ ( 63,546 ) $ ( 2,460 ) $ 159,644  $ 159,150  

Exchange of Class V shares 899,445 — ( 899,445 ) — 2,044 160 — ( 2,204 ) —  

Issuance of common stock under equity incentive plan 530,267 — — — — — — — —  

Issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase

plan

90,119 — — — 157 — — — 157  

Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,984 — — — 1,984  

Member distributions — — — — — — — ( 7,510 ) ( 7,510 )

Tax receivable agreement — — — — 959 — — — 959  

Deferred tax asset — — — — 244 — — — 244  

Net income — — — — — 2,393 — 19,613 22,006  

Balance, June 30, 2023 16,280,397  $ 2  94,037,840  $ 9  $ 70,889  $ ( 60,993 ) $ ( 2,460 ) $ 169,543  $ 176,990  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

(in thousands)

Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 37,807  $ 22,006  

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Change in fair value of finance receivables 104,121  107,161  

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables 31  3,936  

Depreciation and amortization 5,215  6,708  

Debt issuance cost amortization 1,148  1,278  

Stock-based compensation expense 3,096  1,984  

Loss on disposition of equipment 3  1  

Lower of cost or market adjustment on transfer of finance receivables from held for sale to held for investment —  ( 2,983 )

Deferred income taxes 1,243  249  

Tax receivable agreement liability adjustment 57  —  

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities ( 4,195 ) ( 504 )

Gain on forgiveness of debt —  ( 113 )

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accrued interest and fees receivable 1,400  1,715  

Settlement receivable ( 76 ) ( 511 )

Operating lease, net ( 71 ) ( 32 )

Other assets 400  38  

Accounts payable ( 2,043 ) ( 2,279 )

Accrued expenses 3,596  ( 88 )

Net cash provided by operating activities 151,732  138,566  

Cash flows from investing activities:

Finance receivables originated and acquired ( 336,893 ) ( 346,697 )

Finance receivables repayments 264,270  248,131  

Purchases of equipment and capitalized technology ( 4,721 ) ( 4,633 )

Net cash used in investing activities ( 77,344 ) ( 103,199 )

Cash flows from financing activities:

Member distributions ( 28,591 ) ( 7,510 )

Payments of secured borrowing payable —  ( 643 )

Net payments of senior debt - revolving lines of credit ( 21,113 ) ( 13,086 )

Payment of senior debt - term loan ( 10,000 ) —  

Payments of note payable ( 1,449 ) ( 1,616 )

Payments for debt issuance costs ( 812 ) ( 231 )

Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 119  157  

Payments of tax withholding on vesting of restricted stock units ( 741 ) —  

Purchase of treasury stock ( 2,533 ) —  

Dividend paid on common stock ( 2,374 ) —  

Net cash used in financing activities ( 67,494 ) ( 22,929 )

Net increase in cash and restricted cash 6,894  12,438  

Cash and restricted cash

Beginning 73,943  49,670  

Ending $ 80,837  $ 62,108  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Interest paid on borrowed funds $ 21,592  $ 20,966  

Income taxes paid $ 391  $ 19  

Non-cash investing and financing activities:

Adjustments to additional paid-in capital as a result of tax receivable agreement $ 130  $ 959  



Adjustments to additional paid-in capital as a result of tax receivable agreement $ 130  $ 959  

Adjustments to additional paid-in capital as a result of adjustment to deferred tax asset $ 747  $ 244  

Operating lease right of use asset recognized $ —  $ 159  

Operating lease liability recognized $ —  $ 159  

Reclassification of finance receivables held for sale to held for investment $ —  $ 2,637  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1. Organization and Nature of Operations

OppFi Inc. (“OppFi”), formerly FG New America Acquisition Corp. (“FGNA”), collectively with its subsidiaries (“Company”), is a tech-enabled, mission-
driven specialty finance platform that broadens the reach of community banks to extend credit access to everyday Americans. OppFi’s primary products
are offered by its OppLoans platform. OppFi’s products also previously included its payroll deduction secured installment loan product, SalaryTap, and
credit card product, OppFi Card.

On July 20, 2021 (“Closing Date”), the Company completed a business combination pursuant to the Business Combination Agreement (“Business
Combination Agreement”), dated as of February 9, 2021, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC (“OppFi-LLC”), a Delaware limited liability company,
OppFi Shares, LLC (“OFS”), a Delaware limited liability company, and Todd Schwartz (“Members’ Representative”), in his capacity as the representative
of the members of OppFi-LLC (“Members”) immediately prior to the closing (“Closing”). The transactions contemplated by the Business Combination
Agreement are referred to herein as the “Business Combination.” At the Closing, FGNA changed its name to “OppFi Inc.” OppFi’s Class A common
stock, par value $ 0.0001 per share (“Class A Common Stock”), and redeemable warrants exercisable for Class A Common Stock (“Public Warrants”) are
listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbols “OPFI” and “OPFI WS,” respectively.

Following the Closing, the Company is organized in an “Up-C” structure in which substantially all of the assets and the business of the Company are held
by OppFi-LLC and its subsidiaries, and OppFi’s only direct assets consist of Class A common units of OppFi-LLC (“OppFi Units”). As of June 30, 2024
and December 31, 2023, OppFi owned approximately 17.7 % and 17.0 % of the OppFi Units, respectively, and controls OppFi-LLC as the sole manager
of OppFi-LLC in accordance with the terms of the Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of OppFi-LLC (“OppFi A&R
LLCA”). All remaining OppFi Units (“Retained OppFi Units”) are beneficially owned by the Members. OFS holds a controlling voting interest in OppFi
through its ownership of shares of Class V common stock, par value $ 0.0001 per share, of OppFi (“Class V Voting Stock”) in an amount equal to the
number of Retained OppFi Units and therefore has the ability to control OppFi-LLC.

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation and consolidation: The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) for interim reporting. Certain information and note disclosures normally included in the financial statements prepared in accordance
with GAAP have been omitted if they substantially duplicate the disclosures contained in the Company’s annual audited consolidated financial
statements pursuant to such rules and regulations.

These unaudited consolidated financial statements and related notes should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial
statements and the related notes as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023 included in the 2023 Annual Report. In the opinion of the Company’s
management, these unaudited consolidated financial statements include all adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for
the fair statement of the results and financial position for the periods presented. The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30,
2024 are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations that may be expected for the full year ending December 31, 2024.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements include the accounts of OppFi and OppFi-LLC with its wholly-owned subsidiaries and
variable interest entities (“VIEs”) in which the Company is the primary beneficiary. As the primary beneficiary of the VIEs, the Company has consolidated
the financial statements of the VIEs. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

Segments: Segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which discrete financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the chief
operating decision maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. OppFi’s Chief Executive Officer is considered to
be the CODM. The CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial
performance. The Company’s operations constitute a single reportable segment.

Use of estimates: The preparation of the unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
unaudited consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

The judgements, assumptions, and estimates used by management are based on historical experience, management’s experience and qualitative
factors. The areas subject to significant estimation techniques are the determination of fair value of installment finance receivables and warrants,
valuation allowance of deferred tax assets, stock-based compensation expense and income tax
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provision. For the aforementioned estimates, it is reasonably possible the recorded amounts or related disclosures could significantly change in the near
future as new information is available.

Accounting policies: There have been no changes to the Company's significant accounting policies from those described in Part II, Item 8 - Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data in the 2023 Annual Report.

Participation rights purchase obligations : OppFi-LLC has entered into bank partnership arrangements with certain banks insured by the FDIC. As
part of these bank partnership arrangements, the banks have the ability to retain a percentage of the finance receivables they have originated, and
OppFi-LLC’s participation rights are reduced by the percentage of the finance receivables retained by the banks. For the six months ended June 30,
2024 and 2023, finance receivables originated through the bank partnership arrangements totaled 100 % and 96 %, respectively. As of June 30, 2024
and December 31, 2023, the unpaid principal balance of finance receivables outstanding for purchase was $ 18.0  million and $ 14.5  million,
respectively.

Capitalized technology: The Company capitalized software costs associated with application development totaling $ 2.4 million and $ 2.5 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $ 4.4 million and $ 4.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. Amortization expense, which is included in depreciation and amortization on the consolidated statements of operations, totaled $ 2.4 million
and $ 3.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $ 4.9 million and $ 6.3 million for the six months ended June 30,
2024 and 2023, respectively.

Noncontrolling interests: Noncontrolling interests are held by the Members, who retained 82.3 % and 83.0 % of the economic ownership percentage of
OppFi-LLC as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. In accordance with the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board
(“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 810, Consolidation, the Company classifies the noncontrolling interests as a component of
stockholders’ equity in the consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, the Company has presented the net income attributable to the Company and the
noncontrolling ownership interests separately in the consolidated statements of operations.

Costs associated with exit activities: Costs associated with exit activities include contract termination costs and other costs associated with exit
activities. In January 2024, the Company completed the previously disclosed wind down and exited its OppFi Card product. In accordance with the
provisions of FASB ASC 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations  , the Company recognized a liability for $ 2.9  million for costs related to contracts
associated with its OppFi Card product that will continue to be incurred under these contracts for their remaining term without economic benefit to the
Company. The Company recorded these costs in exit costs on the consolidated statements of operations. As of June 30, 2024, the Company’s remaining
liability totaled $ 2.4 million, which is included in accrued expenses on the consolidated balance sheets.

Emerging growth company: The Company is an emerging growth company as defined under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (“Jobs
Act”). The Company is permitted to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public companies until such
pronouncements apply to private companies. This may make comparison of the Company’s financial statements with another public company which is
neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible
because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements: None.

Accounting pronouncements issued and not yet adopted: In March 2020, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2020-04,
Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting . The purpose of ASU 2020-04 is to
provide optional guidance for a period of time related to accounting for reference rate reform on financial reporting. It is intended to reduce the potential
burden of reviewing contract modifications related to discontinued rates. In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic
848): Scope. The purpose of ASU 2021-01 is to expand guidance on contract modifications and hedge accounting. In December 2022, the FASB issued
ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848. The purpose of ASU 2022-06 is to defer the effective date
of the provisions of ASU 2020-04 from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024. The Company did not utilize the optional expedients and exceptions
provided by ASU 2020-04 during the quarter ended June 30, 2024. This guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures . The purpose of
ASU 2023-07 is to provide guidance on new segment disclosures, including significant segment expenses. The guidance is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within the annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is
permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09,  Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures . The purpose of ASU 2023-09
is to provide guidance on the enhanced income tax disclosure requirements. The guidance requires an

8



OppFi Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)

Table of Contents
entity to disclose specific categories in the effective tax rate reconciliation as well as provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a
quantitative threshold. Further, the ASU requires certain disclosures of state versus federal income tax expense and taxes paid. The standard is intended
to benefit investors by providing more detailed income tax disclosures that would be useful in making capital allocation decisions. The guidance is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Note 3. Finance Receivables

Finance receivables at fair value: The components of installment finance receivables at fair value as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were as
follows (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,

2024 2023

Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables - accrual $ 363,638  $ 384,587  

Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables - non-accrual 23,448  31,876  

Unpaid principal balance of finance receivables $ 387,086  $ 416,463  

Finance receivables at fair value - accrual $ 413,059  $ 444,120  

Finance receivables at fair value - non-accrual 757  1,135  

Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and fees receivable 413,816  445,255  

Accrued interest and fees receivable 16,666  18,065  

Finance receivables at fair value $ 430,482  $ 463,320  

Difference between unpaid principal balance and fair value $ 26,730  $ 28,792  

The Company’s policy is to discontinue and reverse the accrual of interest income on installment finance receivables at the earlier of 60 days past due on
a recency basis or 90 days past due on a contractual basis. As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the aggregate unpaid principal balance of
installment finance receivables 90 days or more past due on a contractual basis was $ 11.9 million and $ 15.2 million, respectively. As of June 30, 2024
and December 31, 2023, the fair value of installment finance receivables 90 days or more past due on a contractual basis was $ 0.4 million and $ 0.5
million, respectively.
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Changes in the fair value of installment finance receivables at fair value for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Balance at the beginning of the period $ 412,038  $ 417,489  $ 463,320  $ 457,296  

Originations 184,351  190,753  336,869  346,246  

Repayments ( 127,579 ) ( 118,511 ) ( 264,187 ) ( 247,715 )

Accrued interest and fees receivable 1,691  1,268  ( 1,399 ) ( 1,710 )

Charge-offs, net ( 41,072 ) ( 44,204 ) ( 102,059 ) ( 102,958 )

Net change in fair value 1,053  161  ( 2,062 ) ( 4,203 )

Balance at the end of the period $ 430,482  $ 446,956  $ 430,482  $ 446,956  

 Included in “Change in fair value of finance receivables” in the consolidated statements of operations.

The estimated amount of losses included in earnings attributable to changes in instrument-specific credit risk was $ 6.2 million and $ 14.6 million for the
three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and was $ 8.4 million and $ 18.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. The credit risk component was driven by the credit loss assumption applied in the discounted cash flow model, particularly the default rate.
This assumption was primarily developed based on historical data of the installment loan portfolio.

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net: The components of finance receivables at amortized cost as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023
were as follows (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,

2024 2023

Finance receivables $ 21  $ 454  

Accrued interest and fees receivable 1  2  

Allowance for credit losses ( 3 ) ( 346 )

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net $ 19  $ 110  

In January 2024, the Company completed the wind down and exited its OppFi Card revolving charge account product; as a result, the Company
charged-off its remaining OppFi Card finance receivables. As of June 30, 2024, the Company’s finance receivables measured at amortized cost were
comprised solely of the SalaryTap finance receivables.

Changes in the allowance for credit losses on finance receivables at amortized cost for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as
follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Beginning balance $ 7  $ 47  $ 346  $ 96  

Provisions for credit losses on finance receivables 4  3,866  31  3,936  

Finance receivables charged off ( 8 ) ( 1,505 ) ( 374 ) ( 1,624 )

Recoveries of charge offs —  3  —  3  

Ending balance $ 3  $ 2,411  $ 3  $ 2,411  

(1)

(1)

(1)
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The following is an assessment of the credit quality of finance receivables measured at amortized cost and presents the recency and contractual
delinquency by year of origination as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

June 30, 2024

Origination year 2024 2023 2022 2021 Total

Recency delinquency

Current $ —  $ —  $ 6  $ 12  $ 18  

Delinquency

30-59 days —  —  1  —  1  

60-89 days —  —  —  2  2  

90+ days —  —  —  —  —  

Total delinquency —  —  1  2  3  

Finance receivables $ —  $ —  $ 7  $ 14  $ 21  

Contractual delinquency

Current $ —  $ —  $ 4  $ —  $ 4  

Delinquency

30-59 days —  —  1  2  3  

60-89 days —  —  —  1  1  

90+ days —  —  2  11  13  

Total delinquency —  —  3  14  17  

Finance receivables $ —  $ —  $ 7  $ 14  $ 21  

December 31, 2023

Origination year 2023 2022 2021
Revolving charge

accounts Total

Recency delinquency

Current $ —  $ 35  $ 73  $ 244  $ 352  

Delinquency

30-59 days —  3  1  16  20  

60-89 days —  1  11  9  21  

90+ days —  —  —  61  61  

Total delinquency —  4  12  86  102  

Finance receivables $ —  $ 39  $ 85  $ 330  $ 454  

Contractual delinquency

Current $ —  $ 32  $ 46  $ 244  $ 322  

Delinquency

30-59 days —  3  8  16  27  

60-89 days —  2  9  9  20  

90+ days —  2  22  61  85  

Total delinquency —  7  39  86  132  

Finance receivables $ —  $ 39  $ 85  $ 330  $ 454  

In accordance with the Company’s income recognition policy, finance receivables at amortized cost in non-accrual status as of June 30, 2024 and
December 31, 2023 were $ 13 thousand and $ 30 thousand, respectively.
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Note 4. Property, Equipment and Software, Net

Property, equipment and software consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,

2024 2023

Capitalized technology $ 59,824  $ 55,405  

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4,259  3,964  

Leasehold improvements 979  979  

Total property, equipment and software 65,062  60,348  

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization ( 55,267 ) ( 50,056 )

Property, equipment and software, net $ 9,795  $ 10,292  

Depreciation and amortization expense was $ 2.5  million and $ 3.3  million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and was $
5.2  million and $ 6.7  million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Note 5. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,

2024 2023

Accrual for services rendered and goods purchased $ 9,827  $ 6,899  

Accrued payroll and benefits 6,081  8,900  

Accrued interest 2,448  2,794  

Accrued exit costs 2,364  —  

Other 4,882  3,413  

Total $ 25,602  $ 22,006  

Note 6. Leases

The components of total lease cost for three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Operating lease cost $ 585  $ 599  $ 1,182  $ 1,162  

Variable lease expense 435  496  769  993  

Short-term lease cost 15  3  18  43  

Sublease income ( 79 ) ( 79 ) ( 159 ) ( 159 )

Total lease cost $ 956  $ 1,019  $ 1,810  $ 2,039  

Supplemental cash flow information related to the leases for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 621  $ 616  $ 1,254  $ 1,195  
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The weighted average remaining lease term and discount rate as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were as follows:

June 30, December 31,

2024 2023

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years) 6.3 6.7

Weighted average discount rate 5  % 5  %

Future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2024 were as follows (in thousands):

Year  Amount

Remaining of 2024 $ 1,217  

2025 2,482  

2026 2,557  

2027 2,633  

2028 2,712  

2029 2,794  

Thereafter 2,144  

Total lease payments 16,539  

Less: imputed interest ( 2,368 )

Operating lease liabilities $ 14,171  

Note 7. Borrowing

The following is a summary of the Company’s outstanding borrowings as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, including borrowing capacity as of
June 30, 2024 (in thousands):

Purpose Borrower Borrowing CapacityJune 30, 2024December 31, 2023 Interest Rate as of June 30, 2024 Maturity Date

Senior debt, net

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC

(Tranche B) $ 125,000  $ 62,500  $ 103,400  SOFR plus 6.75 % June 2026

Revolving line of credit

Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC

(Tranche C) 125,000  62,500  37,500  SOFR plus 7.50 % July 2027

Revolving line of credit Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC 150,000  85,871  93,871  SOFR plus 7.50 % December 2026

Revolving line of credit Gray Rock SPV LLC 75,000  51,229  48,442  SOFR plus 7.45 % October 2026

Total revolving lines of credit 475,000  262,100  283,213  

Term loan, net OppFi-LLC 50,000  39,674  49,454  SOFR plus0.11 % plus 10 %March 2025

Total senior debt, net $ 525,000  $ 301,774  $ 332,667  

Note payable

Financed insurance premiumOppFi-LLC $ —  $ —  $ 1,449  9.70 % June 2024

Senior debt, net:

Revolving line of credit - Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC

On March 19, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment (the “First Amendment”) to its revolving credit agreement with UMB Bank, N.A. The First
Amendment, among other things, removed a collateral performance trigger that the Company had previously been out of compliance with.
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Revolving line of credit - Gray Rock SPV LLC

On April 12, 2024, Gray Rock SPV LLC entered into an amendment (the “Fourth Amendment”) to its revolving line of credit agreement. The Fourth
Amendment, among other things, extended the maturity date from April 15, 2025 to October 16, 2026 and increased the applicable margin rate from 7.25
% to 7.45 %.

Term loan, net

On May 30, 2024, the Company entered into an amendment (the “Eleventh Amendment”) to its senior secured multi-draw term loan agreement. The
Eleventh Amendment, among other things, replaced the use of the synthetic LIBOR rates with Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate as the
benchmark interest rate and amended the optional prepayments provision to allow the Company to voluntarily prepay in part, in minimum amounts of $
10.0 million and increments of $ 10.0 million thereof.

Certain of the Company’s foregoing credit facilities that consist of term loans and revolving loan facilities are subject to provisions that provide for a cross-
default in the event certain covenants under the relevant agreements are breached.

Total interest expense related to the Company’s senior debt, which is included in interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated
statements of operations, was $ 10.4 million and $ 10.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and was $ 21.2 million
and $ 21.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Additionally, the Company has capitalized $ 14.8 million in debt
issuance costs in connection with the Company’s senior debt as of June 30, 2024. Amortized debt issuance costs associated with the Company’s senior
debt, which is included in interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated statements of operations, were $ 0.6 million and $ 0.5
million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and were $ 1.2 million and $ 1.3 million for the six months ended June 30,
2024 and 2023, respectively. As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the Company’s senior debt
totaled $ 4.0 million and $ 4.3 million, respectively, of which $ 3.7 million and $ 3.8 million related to the revolving lines of credit, respectively, and $ 0.3
million and $ 0.5 million related to the term loan, respectively.

Note payable: As of June 30, 2024, the borrowing under this note payable was paid in full. Total interest expense related to notes payable, which is
included in interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs in the consolidated statements of operations, was $ 26  thousand and $ 26  thousand for
the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and was $ 52  thousand and $ 51  thousand for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and
2023, respectively.

Secured borrowing payable: On February 16, 2023, the borrowings under the Company’s previous secured borrowing payable, with Opportunity
Funding SPE II, LLC as borrower, were paid in full, of which borrowings totaling $ 0.1  million were forgiven. Subsequent to repayment, OppFi-LLC
terminated the preferred return agreement. No interest expense was recognized related to secured borrowings for the three and six months ended June
30, 2024. No interest expense was recognized related to secured borrowings for the three months ended June 30, 2023. Interest expense related to this
facility was $ 1 0 thousand for the six months ended June 30, 2023. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, there were no
amortized debt issuance costs related to the secured borrowing payable.

As of June 30, 2024, required payments for all borrowings, excluding revolving lines of credit, for each of the next five years were as follows (in
thousands):

Year Amount

Remainder of 2024 $ —  

2025 40,000  

2026 —  

2027 —  

2028 —  

2029 —  

Total $ 40,000  
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Note 8. Warrant Liabilities

As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were 11,887,500 Public Warrants and 3,451,937 Private Placement Warrants outstanding. As of
June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company recorded warrant liabilities of $ 2.7 million and $ 6.9 million, respectively, in the consolidated
balance sheets. The change in fair value of the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants was increased by $ 0.6  million and $ 0.4  million,
respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and was decreased by $ 3.1  million and $ 1.1  million, respectively, for six months ended June
30, 2024. The change in fair value of the Public Warrants and Private Placement Warrants was decreased by $ 0.3  million and $ 0 .1  million,
respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and was decreased by $ 0.4  million and $ 0.1  million, respectively, for six months ended June
30, 2023.

Note 9. Stockholders’ Equity

Share repurchase: On April 9, 2024, the Company announced that its Board of Directors (the “Board”) had authorized a program to repurchase (the
“Repurchase Program”) up to $ 20.0  million in the aggregate of shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. Repurchases under the Repurchase
Program may be made from time to time, on the open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or by other methods, at the discretion of the
management of the Company and in accordance with the limitations set forth in Rule 10b-18 promulgated under the Exchange Act and other applicable
legal requirements, including restrictions in the Company’s existing credit facilities. Repurchases may be made pursuant to any trading plan that may be
adopted in accordance with SEC Rule 10b5-1, which would permit Class A Common Stock to be repurchased when the Company might otherwise be
precluded from doing so under insider trading laws. The timing and amount of the repurchases will depend on market conditions and other requirements.
The Repurchase Program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares and the Repurchase Program may be
extended, modified, suspended, or discontinued at any time. For each share of Class A Common Stock that the Company repurchases under the
Repurchase Program, OppFi-LLC, the Company’s direct subsidiary, will redeem one Class A common unit of OppFi-LLC held by the Company,
decreasing the percentage ownership of OppFi-LLC by the Company and relatively increasing the ownership by the other members. The Repurchase
Program will expire in April 2027.

During the three months ended June 30, 2024, the Company repurchased 769,715 shares of Class A Common Stock, which were held as treasury stock
as of June 30, 2024, for an aggregate purchase price of $ 2.5  million at an average purchase price per share of $ 3.27 . As of June 30, 2024, $ 17.5
 million of the repurchase authorization under the Repurchase Program remained available.

Dividend paid: On May 1, 2024, the Company paid a dividend of $ 0.12 per share ($ 2.4  million in the aggregate) to stockholders of record of the
Company’s Class A Common Stock as of the close of business on April 19, 2024.

Member Distributions: On May 1, 2024, OppFi-LLC paid a special distribution of $ 0.12 per share ($ 10.3  million in the aggregate), which is included in
member distributions in the consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity, to holders of record of OppFi Units as of the close of business on April 19,
2024.

Note 10. Stock-Based Compensation

On July 20, 2021, the Company established the OppFi Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (“Plan”), which provides for the grant of awards in the form of
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units, performance shares, performance units, cash-based awards, and other
stock-based awards to employees, non-employee directors, officers, and consultants. As of June 30, 2024, the maximum aggregate number of shares of
Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the Plan (including from outstanding awards) was 22,794,973 shares. As of June 30, 2024, the
Company had only granted awards in the form of options, restricted stock units, and performance stock units.
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Stock options: A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the six months ended June 30, 2024 is as follows:

(in thousands, except share and per share data) Stock Options

Weighted-
Average Exercise

Price

Weighted- Average
Remaining

Contractual Life
(Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 1,842,192 $ 13.65  7.6 $ 450  

   Granted — —  — — 

   Exercised — —  — — 

   Forfeited — —  — — 

Outstanding as of June 30, 2024 1,842,192 $ 13.65  7.1 $ 43  

Vested and exercisable as of June 30, 2024 1,502,344 $ 14.26  7.1 $ 21  

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense related to stock options of $ 0.2  million and $ 0.1  million for the three months ended June
30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $ 0.3  million and $ 0.3  million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of June 30, 2024
the Company had unrecognized stock-based compensation of $ 0.7  million related to unvested stock options that is expected to be recognized over an
estimated weighted-average period of approximately 1.3 years.

Restricted stock units: A summary of the Company’s restricted stock units (“RSUs”) activity for the six months ended June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Shares

Weighted-
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

Unvested as of December 31, 2023 1,768,811 $ 3.45  

Granted 2,004,789 2.73  

Vested ( 1,008,787 ) 2.67  

Forfeited ( 302,702 ) 3.49  

Unvested as of June 30, 2024 2,462,111 $ 3.17  

The Company recognized stock-based compensation related to RSUs of $ 1.9  million and $ 0.8  million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and
2023, respectively, and $ 2.7  million and $ 1.6  million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As of June 30, 2024, total
unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUs was $ 7 . 0 million, which will be recognized over a weighted-average vesting period of
approximately 2.8 years.

Performance stock units: A summary of the Company’s performance stock units (“PSUs”) activity for the six months ended June 30, 2024 is as follows:

Shares

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair

Value

Unvested as of December 31, 2023 127,835 $ 3.42  

Granted — —  

Vested ( 25,273 ) 3.37  

Forfeited — —  

Unvested as of June 30, 2024 102,562 $ 3.43  

The Company recognized stock-based compensation related to PSUs of $ 30  thousand and $ 67  thousand for the three and six months ended June 30,
2024, respectively. The Company recognized negative stock-based compensation of $ 0.1  million for the three months ended June 30, 2023 due to
performance adjustment and recognized stock-based compensation of $ 1  thousand for
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the six months ended June 30, 2023. As of June 30, 2024, total unrecognized compensation expense related to PSUs was $ 0.1 million, which will be
recognized over a weighted-average vesting period of approximately 1.8 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan: On July 20, 2021, the Company established the OppFi Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). As of
June 30, 2024, the maximum aggregate number of shares of Class A Common Stock that may be issued under the ESPP was 1,672,427 and may
consist of authorized but unissued or reacquired shares of Class A Common Stock.

As of June 30, 2024, there were 300,321 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock purchased under the ESPP. As of December 31, 2023, there
were 234,249 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock purchased under the ESPP. As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, ESPP
employee payroll contributions accrued of $ 0.2 million and $ 0.1 million, respectively, are included within accrued expenses on the consolidated balance
sheets. Payroll contributions accrued as of June 30, 2024 will be used to purchase shares at the end of the ESPP offering period ending on June 30,
2024. Payroll contributions ultimately used to purchase shares are reclassified to stockholders’ equity on the purchase date. The Company recognized
ESPP compensation expense of $ 19 thousand and $ 21 thousand for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $ 46 thousand
and $ 45 thousand for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Note 11. Income Taxes

For the three months ended June 30, 2024, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $ 0.9 million and reported consolidated income before income
taxes of $ 28.6 million, resulting in a 3.2 % effective income tax rate. For the three months ended June 30, 2023, OppFi recorded an income tax expense
of $ 0.7 million and reported consolidated income before income taxes of $ 18.8 million, resulting in a 3.7 % effective income tax rate. For the six months
ended June 30, 2024, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $ 1.3 million and reported consolidated income before income taxes of $ 39.1 million,
resulting in a 3.4 % effective tax rate. For the six months ended June 30, 2023, OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $ 0.8 million and reported
consolidated income before income taxes of $ 22.8 million, resulting in a 3.7 % effective income tax rate.

OppFi’s effective income tax rates for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, differ from the federal statutory income tax rate of 21 %
primarily due to the noncontrolling interest in the Up-C partnership structure, nondeductible expenses, state income taxes, warrant liability, and discrete
tax items. The warrant liability is recorded by OppFi and is a fair market value adjustment of the warrant liability and is a permanent difference between
GAAP and taxable income, which impacts OppFi’s effective income tax rate. For the three months ended June 30, 2024, one discrete item was recorded
of $ 148  thousand related to stock compensation, which in total decreased the effective tax rate by 0.5 %. Excluding the aforementioned discrete item,
the effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2024 would have been 3.7 %. For the three months ended June 30, 2023, one discrete item
was recorded consisting of a $ 3  thousand benefit related to stock compensation, which in total increased the effective tax rate by 0.01 %. Excluding the
aforementioned discrete item, the effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2023 would have been 3.7 %. For the six months ended June
30, 2024, two discrete items were recorded consisting of $ 17  thousand expense related to a prior period adjustment based on FASB Interpretation No.
48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” and $ 193 thousand benefit related to stock compensation, which in total decreased the effective tax
rate by 0.5 %. Excluding the aforementioned discrete items, the effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2024, would have been 3.9 %. For
the six months ended June 30, 2023, two discrete items were recorded consisting of a $ 7  thousand expense related to a prior period state tax
adjustment during the three months ended March 31, 2023, and a $ 3  thousand benefit related to stock compensation, which in total increased the
effective tax rate by 0.02 %. Excluding the aforementioned discrete items, the effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2023, would have
been 3.6 %.

OppFi is subject to a 21 % federal income tax rate on its activities and its distributive share of income from OppFi-LLC, as well as various state and local
income taxes. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, OppFi owned 17.7 % and 14.8 %, respectively, of the outstanding units of OppFi-LLC and considers
appropriate tax accounting only on this portion of OppFi-LLC’s activity. Additionally, OppFi’s income tax rate varies from the 2 1 % statutory federal
income tax rate primarily due to a permanent difference related to the adjustment of the warrant liabilities recorded by OppFi. This fair value adjustment
of the warrant liabilities represents a large portion of OppFi’s pre-tax book income or loss and is a permanent difference between GAAP and taxable
income, which impacts OppFi’s effective income tax rate.

As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, OppFi recorded an unrecognized tax benefit of $ 55 thousand and $ 38 thousand, respectively, related to
research and development credits allocated from OppFi-LLC. ASC 740 prescribes a recognition threshold and a measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. For those benefits to be recognized, a tax position
must be more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The Company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense. There were no amounts accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of June 30, 2024 and
December 31, 2023. The Company is currently not aware of any issues under review that could result in significant payments, accruals or material
deviations from its position. The Company is subject to income tax examinations by major taxing authorities since inception.
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Note 12. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value on a nonrecurring basis : The Company has no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis; that is, the instruments
are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances.

Fair value measurement on a recurring basis : The Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 were as follows (in thousands):

Fair Value Measurements

June 30, 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets:

Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and fees receivable $ 413,816  $ —  $ —  $ 413,816  

Financial liabilities:

Warrant liability - Public Warrants 1,545  1,545  —  —  

Warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants 1,124  —  —  1,124  

Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets:

Finance receivables at fair value, excluding accrued interest and fees receivable $ 445,255  $ —  $ —  $ 445,255  

Financial liabilities:

Warrant liability - Public Warrants 4,636  4,636  —  —  

Warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants 2,228  —  —  2,228  

 The Company primarily estimates the fair value of its installment finance receivables portfolio using discounted cash flow models that have been internally developed. The models

use inputs that are unobservable but reflect the Company’s best estimates of the assumptions a market participant would use to calculate fair value.

 The fair value measurement for the Public Warrants is categorized as Level 1 due to the use of an observable market quote in an active market under the ticker OPFI WS.

 The fair value of the Private Placement Warrants is measured using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model; accordingly, the fair value measurement for the Private Placement

Warrants is categorized as Level 3.

During the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, there were no transfers of assets or liabilities in or out of Level 3 fair value
measurements.

The following table presents quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used for the Company’s installment finance receivables
fair value measurements as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Interest rate on finance receivables 157.09  % 156.15  %

Discount rate 25.17  % 26.34  %

Servicing cost* 3.22  % 2.96  %

Remaining life 0.62 years 0.60 years

Default rate* 27.09  % 25.63  %

Accrued interest* 4.31  % 4.34  %

Prepayment rate* 21.08  % 20.90  %

*Stated as a percentage of finance receivables

 (1)

(2)

(3)

 (1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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The following table presents the significant assumptions used for the Company’s Private Placement Warrants as of June 30, 2024 and December 31,
2023:

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Input

$11.50 Exercise 

Price Warrants

$15 Exercise 

Price Warrants

$11.50 Exercise 

Price Warrants

$15 Exercise 

Price Warrants

Risk-free interest rate 4.65  % 4.28  % 4.07  % 3.84  %

Expected term (years) 2.1 years 7.1 years 2.6 years 7.6 years

Expected volatility 54.00  % 54.00  % 44.10  % 44.10  %

Exercise price $ 11.50  $ 15.00  $ 11.50  $ 15.00  

Fair value of warrants $ 0.13  $ 0.87  $ 0.41  $ 1.30  

The following table presents the changes in the fair value of the warrant liability - Private Placement Warrants (in thousands):

$11.50 Exercise 

Price Warrants

$15 Exercise 

Price Warrants Total

Fair value as of December 31, 2023 $ 1,041  $ 1,187  $ 2,228  

Change in fair value ( 838 ) ( 648 ) ( 1,486 )

Fair value as of March 31, 2024 203  539  742  

Change in fair value 127  255  382  

Fair value as of June 30, 2024 $ 330  $ 794  $ 1,124  

Financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value : The following table presents the carrying value and estimated fair values of financial
assets and liabilities disclosed but not carried at fair value and the level within the fair value hierarchy as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in
thousands):

Fair Value Measurements

June 30, 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:

Cash $ 46,622  $ 46,622  $ —  $ —  

Restricted cash 34,215  34,215  —  —  

Accrued interest and fees receivable 16,666  16,666  —  —  

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net 19  —  —  19  

Settlement receivable 1,980  1,980  —  —  

Liabilities:

Senior debt, net 301,774  —  —  301,774  

Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Assets:

Cash $ 31,791  $ 31,791  $ —  $ —  

Restricted cash 42,152  42,152  —  —  

Accrued interest and fees receivable 18,065  18,065  —  —  

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net 110  —  —  110  

Settlement receivable 1,904 1,904 — —

Liabilities:

Senior debt, net 332,667  —  —  332,667  

Notes payable 1,449  —  —  1,449  
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Note 13. Commitments, Contingencies and Related Party Transactions

Legal contingencies: Due to the nature of its business activities, the Company is subject to extensive regulations and legal actions and is currently
involved in certain legal proceedings, including class action allegations, and regulatory matters, which arise in the normal course of business. In
accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued liability for legal proceedings and regulatory matters when those
matters present loss contingencies that are both probable and reasonably estimable.

The Company has received inquiries from certain agencies and states on its lending compliance, the validity of the bank partnership model, and its ability
to facilitate the servicing of bank originated loans. Management is confident that its lending practices and the bank partnership structure, in addition to the
Company’s technologies, services, and overall relationship with its bank partners, complies with state and federal laws. However, the inquiries are still in
process and the outcome is unknown at this time.

The Company is vigorously defending all legal proceedings and regulatory matters. Except as described below, management does not believe that the
resolution of any currently pending legal proceedings and regulatory matters will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows.

On March 7, 2022, the Company filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief (“Complaint”) against the Commissioner (in her official capacity) of
the Department of Financial Protection and Innovation of the State of California (“Defendant”) in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of
Los Angeles, Central Division (“Court”). The Complaint seeks a declaration that the interest rate caps set forth in the California Financing Law, as
amended by the Fair Access to Credit Act, a/k/a AB 539 (“CFL”), do not apply to loans that are originated by the Company’s federally-insured state-
chartered bank partners and serviced through the Company’s technology and service platform pursuant to a contractual arrangement with each such
bank (“Program”). The Complaint further seeks injunctive relief against the Defendant, preventing the Defendant from enforcing interest rate caps under
the CFL against the Company based on activities related to the Program. On April 8, 2022, the Defendant filed a cross-complaint against the Company
attempting to enforce the CFL against the Company and, among other things, void loans that are originated by the Company’s federally-insured state-
chartered bank partners through the Program in California and seek financial penalties against the Company. On October 17, 2022, the Company filed a
cross-complaint against the Defendant seeking declaratory relief for issuing an underground regulation to determine the “true lender” under the CFL
without complying with California’s Administrative Procedures Act. On January 30, 2023, the Defendant filed a motion for a preliminary injunction seeking
to enjoin the Company from providing services to FinWise in connection with loans made to California consumers to the extent that such loans are in
excess of California’s interest rate caps. On September 26, 2023, the Court sustained the Defendant’s demurrer to the Company’s cross-complaint with
leave to amend. On October 26, 2023, the Company filed its amended cross-complaint. On October 30, 2023, the Defendant’s motion for preliminary
injunction was denied. On November 27, 2023, the Defendant filed her answer to the Company’s cross-complaint. The Company intends to continue to
aggressively prosecute the claims set forth in the Complaint and vigorously defend itself and its position as the matter proceeds through the court
process. The Company believes that the Defendant’s position is without merit as explained in the Company’s initial Complaint.

On July 20, 2023, a stockholder filed a putative class action complaint in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (Case No. 2023-0737) on behalf
of a purported class of Company stockholders naming certain of FGNA’s former directors and officers and its controlling stockholder, FG New America
Investors, LLC (the “Sponsor”), as defendants. The lawsuit alleges that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties to the stockholders of FGNA
stemming from FGNA’s merger with OppFi-LLC and that the defendants were unjustly enriched. The lawsuit seeks, among other relief, unspecified
damages, redemption rights, and attorneys’ fees. Neither the Company nor any of the Company’s current officers or directors are parties to the lawsuit.
The Company is obligated to indemnify certain of the defendants in the action. The Company has tendered defense of this action under its directors’ and
officers' insurance policy. Due to the early stage of this case, neither the likelihood that a loss, if any, will be realized, nor an estimate of the possible loss
or range of loss, if any, can be determined.

Related party transactions: In connection with the Business Combination, OppFi entered into the Tax Receivable Agreement with the Members and
the Members’ Representative (the “Tax Receivable Agreement”). The Tax Receivable Agreement provides for payment to the Members of 90 % of the
U.S. federal, state and local income tax savings realized by the Company as a result of the increases in tax basis and certain other tax benefits related to
the transactions contemplated under the Business Combination Agreement and the exchange of Retained OppFi Units for Class A Common Stock or
cash.

Note 14. Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentration of credit risk consist primarily of finance receivables. As of
June 30, 2024, consumers living primarily in Texas, Florida and Virginia made up approximately 15 %, 12 % and 11 %, respectively, of the Company’s
portfolio of finance receivables. As of June 30, 2024, there were no other states that made up more than 10% or more of the Company’s portfolio of
finance receivables. As of December 31, 2023,
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consumers living primarily in Texas, Florida and Virginia made up approximately 16 %, 12 %, and 11 %, respectively, of the Company’s portfolio of
finance receivables. Furthermore, such consumers’ ability to honor their installment contracts may be affected by economic conditions in these areas.
The Company is also exposed to a concentration of credit risk inherent in providing alternate financing programs to borrowers who cannot obtain
traditional bank financing.

Note 15. Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) retirement plan (“401(k) Plan”) for its employees. Full time employees (except certain non-resident aliens) and others,
as defined in the plan document, who are age 21 and older are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan. The 401(k) Plan participants may elect to
contribute a portion of their eligible compensation to the 401(k) Plan. The Company has elected a matching contribution up to 4 % on eligible employee
compensation. The Company’s contribution, which is included in salaries and employee benefits in the consolidated statements of operations, totaled $
0.3 million and $ 0.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, and $ 0.7 million and $ 0.8 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Note 16. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in
thousands, except share and per share data):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Numerator:

Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. $ 3,066  $ 2,142  $ 8,603  $ 2,393  

Net income available to Class A common stockholders - Basic 3,066  2,142  8,603  2,393  

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest —  33  29,204  34  

Income tax expense —  ( 8 ) ( 6,875 ) ( 8 )

Net income available to Class A common stockholders - Diluted $ 3,066  $ 2,167  $ 30,932  $ 2,419  

Denominator:

Weighted average Class A common stock outstanding - Basic 19,675,934 15,632,120 19,440,680 15,336,366

Effect of dilutive securities:

   Stock options — — — —

   Restricted stock units — 238,008 602,628 180,290

   Performance stock units — 3,625 73,205 16,811

   Warrants — — — —

   Employee stock purchase plan — — — —

   Retained OppFi Units, excluding Earnout Units — — 66,031,964 —

      Dilutive potential common shares — 241,633 66,707,797 197,101

Weighted average units outstanding - diluted 19,675,934 15,873,753 86,148,477 15,533,467

Earnings per share:

Basic $ 0.16  $ 0.14  $ 0.44  $ 0.16  

Diluted $ 0.16  $ 0.14  $ 0.36  $ 0.16  

The following table presents securities that have been excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings per share as their effect would have been anti-
dilutive for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Public Warrants 11,887,500  11,887,500  11,887,500  11,887,500  

Private Unit Warrants 231,250  231,250  231,250  231,250  

$11.50 Exercise Price Warrants 2,248,750  2,248,750  2,248,750  2,248,750  

$15 Exercise Price Warrants 912,500  912,500  912,500  912,500  

Underwriter Warrants 59,437  59,437  59,437  59,437  

Stock Options 1,842,192  1,978,972  1,842,192  1,978,972  

Restricted stock units 2,471,364  2,137,158  2,062,342  2,169,736  

Performance stock units 102,562  154,569  109,063  230,819  

Noncontrolling interest - Earnout Units 25,500,000  25,500,000  25,500,000  25,500,000  

Noncontrolling interest - OppFi Units 65,880,789  68,876,910  —  69,058,761  

Potential common stock 111,136,344  113,987,046  44,853,034  114,277,725  
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Note 17. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated the impact of events that have occurred through the date these financial statements were issued and identified the following
event that required disclosure.

Bitty Purchase Agreement: On July 31, 2024, OppFi-LLC and Opportunity Financial SMB, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “Buyer”), each
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2024 (the “Purchase Agreement”), by and among
OppFi-LLC, the Buyer, Blaze Capital Funding 5, LLC, a Wyoming limited liability company (the “Seller”), and the seller principals party thereto
(collectively with the Seller, the “Seller Parties”), pursuant to which the Buyer acquired 35 % of the outstanding equity securities of Bitty Holdings, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“Bitty”, and such acquisition, the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition closed on July 31, 2024 (the “Closing Date”). Bitty is a
credit access company that offers revenue-based financing and other working capital solutions.

The aggregate consideration paid to the Seller in connection with the Acquisition consisted of (i) a cash payment of approximately $ 15.3  million and (ii)
734,851 OppFi Units, valued at approximately $ 2.7  million. In accordance with the OppFi A&R LLCA, the Company also issued 734,851 shares of Class
V Voting Stock to OFS, which number of shares of Class V Voting Stock was equal to the number of OppFi Units issued to the Seller.

Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Buyer has a right to purchase from the Seller an additional thirty percent ( 30 %) of the equity securities of Bitty
(the “First Call Option”) within a specific time period from the date that is three ( 3 ) years from the Closing Date, and (b) the right to purchase from the
Seller all remaining equity securities of Bitty not held by the Buyer (the “Second Call Option” and together with the First Call Option, the “Call Options”
and each, a “Call Option”) within a specific time period from the date that is six ( 6 ) years from the Closing Date, contingent upon the Buyer exercising
the First Call Option. The aggregate purchase price for the equity securities, payable in cash unless otherwise agreed by the Seller and the Buyer, in (a)
the First Call Option will be equal to thirty percent ( 30 %) of the product of six times ( 6 x) the trailing twelve (12) month post-tax earnings of Bitty as of
June 30, 2027, and (b) the Second Call Option will be equal to thirty-five percent ( 35 %) of the product of six times ( 6 x) the trailing twelve (12) month
post-tax earnings of Bitty as of June 30, 2030.

In the event the Buyer does not exercise the First Call Option or the Second Call Option, the Board of Managers of Bitty will have the right to initiate a
process to effectuate a sale of 100 % of the equity securities of Bitty through a bona fide sale or auction process, subject to the terms of the limited
liability company agreement of Bitty.
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ITEM 2.    MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the unaudited consolidated
financial statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion contains forward-looking
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should review the sections titled “Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May Affect Future
Results” and “Risk Factors” of this Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on March
27, 2024 (“2023 Annual Report”), for a discussion of forward-looking statements and important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the results described or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

OVERVIEW

OppFi is a tech-enabled, mission-driven specialty finance platform that broadens the reach of community banks to extend credit access to everyday
Americans. The Company’s platform powers banks to offer accessible lending products through its proprietary technolo gy and top-rated customer
experience. OppFi’s primary mission is to facilitate financial inclusion and credit access to the 63 million everyday Americans who are credit marginalized
with digital specialty finance products and an unwavering commitment to its customers.

OppFi works with banks to facilitate short-term credit options for everyday Americans who lack access to mainstream financial products. OppFi’s specialty
finance platform focuses on helping these consumers rebuild their financial health. Customers on OppFi’s platform benefit from a highly automated,
transparent, efficient, and fully digital experience. The banks that work with OppFi benefit from its turn-key, outsourced marketing, data science, and
proprietary technology to digitally acquire, underwrite and service these consumers.

OppFi’s primary products are offered by its OppLoans platform. Customers on this platform are U.S. consumers who are employed, have bank accounts,
and generally earn median wages. The average installment loan facilitated by OppFi is approximately $1,500, payable in installments and with an
average contractual term of 11 months. Neither SalaryTap nor OppFi Card contributed meaningfully to OppFi’s results during the three months ended
June 30, 2024.

On the Closing Date, OppFi completed the Business Combination. At the Closing, FGNA changed its name to “OppFi Inc.” OppFi’s Class A Common
Stock and Public Warrants are listed on the NYSE under the symbols “OPFI” and “OPFI WS,” respectively.

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to “OppFi” or the “Company” refer to OppFi-LLC and its subsidiaries prior to the
Closing, or to OppFi Inc. and its subsidiaries from and after the Closing. See Item 1. “Organization and Nature of Operations” for more information.

HIGHLIGHTS

Our financial results as of and for the three months ended June 30, 2024 are summarized below:
• Basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) of $0.16 and $0.16, respectively, for the three months ended June 30, 2024;
• Adjusted earnings per share (“Adjusted EPS”)  of $0.29 for the three months ended June 30, 2024, an increase of $0.10 from $0.19 for the

three months ended June 30, 2023;
• Net originations increased 2.4% to $205.5 million from $200.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively;
• Ending receivables decreased 2.7% to $387.1 million from $397.8 million as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively;
• Total revenue increased 3.1% to $126.3 million from $122.5 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively;
• Net income of $27.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, an increase of $9.6 million from $18.1 million for the three months ended

June 30, 2023; and
• Adjusted net income (“Adjusted Net Income”)  of $24.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, an increase of $8.9 million from $15.9

million for the three months ended June 30, 2023.

(1)

(1)
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(1) Adjusted EPS and Adjusted Net Income are not prepared in accordance with the United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”).
For information regarding our uses and definitions of these measures and for reconciliations to the most directly comparable United States GAAP
measures, see the section titled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below. Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, we
have updated our presentation and calculation of Adjusted EBT, and corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted
EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost amortization.

Dividend Paid
On May 1, 2024, we paid a dividend of $0.12 per share ($2.4 million in the aggregate) to stockholders of record of our Class A Common Stock as of the
close of business on April 19, 2024.

Share Repurchase Program

On April 4, 2024, the Board authorized a new share repurchase program to repurchase up to $20.0 million in the aggregate of shares of our Class A
Common Stock. This new share repurchase program will expire in April 2027. During the three months ended June 30, 2024, we repurchased 769,715
shares of Class A Common Stock, which were held as treasury stock as of June 30, 2024, for an aggregate purchase price of $2.5 million at an average
purchase price per share of $3.27. As of June 30, 2024, $17.5 million of the repurchase authorization under the Repurchase Program remained available.

Bitty Purchase Agreement

On July 31, 2024, we entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 31, 2024, to acquire 35% of the outstanding equity securities of
Bitty Holdings, LLC (“Bitty”), a credit access company that offers revenue-based financing and other working capital solutions. The acquisition closed on
July 31, 2024 (the “Closing Date”). The aggregate consideration paid in connection with the acquisition consisted of (i) a cash payment of approximately
$15.3 million and (ii) 734,851 OppFi Units, valued at approximately $2.7 million.

Pursuant to the Securities Purchase Agreement, one of our subsidiaries has (a) the right to purchase an additional 30% of the outstanding equity
securities of Bitty within a specific time period from the date that is three years from the Closing Date, and (b) the right to purchase all remaining equity
securities of Bitty within a specific time period from the date that is six years from the Closing Date.

For further details, see Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, “Subsequent Events”.

KEY PERFORMANCE METRICS

We regularly review the following key metrics to evaluate our business, measure our performance, identify trends affecting our business, formulate
financial projections and make strategic decisions, which may also be useful to an investor. The following tables and related discussion set forth key
financial and operating metrics for the Company’s operations as of and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.

The key performance metrics presented are for the OppLoans product only and exclude the SalaryTap and OppFi Card products.

Total Net Originations

We measure originations to assess the growth trajectory and overall size of our loan portfolio. There is a direct correlation between origination growth and
revenue growth. We include both bank partner originations as well as those originated by us directly. Loans are considered to be originated when the
contract is signed between us and the prospective borrower. The vast majority of our originations ultimately disburse to a borrower, but disbursement
timing lags that of originations. Originations may be useful to an investor because they help understand the growth trajectory of our revenues.

The following tables present total net originations (defined as gross originations net of transferred balance on refinanced loans), total retained net
originations (defined as the portion of total net originations as defined above with respect to which the Company ultimately purchased a receivable from
bank partners or originated directly), percentage of net originations by bank partners, and percentage of net originations by new loans for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):
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Three Months Ended June 30, Change

2024 2023 $ %

Total net originations $ 205,549 $ 200,640 $ 4,909 2.4 %

Total retained net originations $ 189,344 $ 195,347 $ (6,003) (3.1)%

Percentage of net originations by bank partners 100.0 % 97.3 % N/A 2.8 %

Percentage of net originations by new loans 44.4 % 43.6 % N/A 1.8 %

Six Months Ended June 30, Change

2024 2023 $ %

Total net originations $ 369,045 $ 360,236 $ 8,809 2.4 %

Total retained net originations $ 341,855 $ 350,990 $ (9,135) (2.6)%

Percentage of net originations by bank partners 100.0 % 96.4 % N/A 3.7 %

Percentage of net originations by new loans 43.5 % 43.8 % N/A (0.7)%

Total net originations increased to $205.5 million and $369.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, from $200.6 million
and $360.2 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The 2.4% and 2.4%  increases for the three and six months ended
June 30, 2024 were a result of bank partners’ expansion into additional states as well as enhanced lead evaluation capabilities driving higher quality
applications. Total retained net originations decreased to $189.3 million and $341.9 million for the  three and six months ended June 30, 2024,
respectively, from $195.3 million and $351.0 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The 3.1% and 2.6%  decreases for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 were attributed to one of our bank partners retaining a higher percentage of loans originated in certain
states.

Total net originations by our bank partners increased to 100.0% and 100.0% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, from 97.3%
and 96.4% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. During the third quarter of 2023, the Company ceased directly originating
loans and transitioned completely to a servicing / facilitation model for bank partners.

Total net originations of new loans as a percentage of total loans increased to 44.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2024 from 43.6% for the three
months ended June 30, 2023. The increase is a result of accelerating growth from our bank partners’ expansion into additional states. Total net
originations of new loans as a percentage of total loans decreased to 43.5% for the six months ended June 30, 2024 from 43.8% for the six months
ended June 30, 2023. The decrease is a result of the pool of customers available to refinance growing over time, as well as marketing campaigns
targeting email engagement rates in the refinance population.

Ending Receivables

Ending receivables are defined as the unpaid principal balances of loans at the end of the reporting period. The following table presents ending
receivables as of June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands):

As of June 30, 2024 Change

2024 2023 $ %

Ending receivables $ 387,086 $ 397,754 $ (10,668) (2.7)%

Ending receivables decreased to $387.1 million as of June 30, 2024 from $397.8 million as of June 30, 2023. The 2.7% decrease was primarily driven by
a one of our bank partners retaining a higher percentage of loans originated in certain states.
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Average Yield

Average yield represents total revenue from the period as a percent of average receivables and is presented as an annualized metric. Receivables are
defined as the unpaid principal balances of loans. The following tables present average yield for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and
2023:

Three Months Ended June 30, Change

2024 2023 %

Average yield, annualized 134.8 % 128.8 % 4.7 %

Six Months Ended June 30, Change

2024 2023 %

Average yield, annualized 131.4 % 126.7 % 3.7 %

Average yield increased to 134.8% and 131.4%  for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, from 128.8% and 126.7% for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The 4.7% and 3.7% increases were driven by a decrease in delinquent loans in the portfolio that were
not accruing interest throughout the period as well as an increase in the average statutory rate from a relative shift away from states with lower interest
rates.

Net Charge-Offs as a Percentage of Total Revenue and Net Charge-Offs as a Percentage of Average Receivables

Net charge-offs as a percentage of total revenue and net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables represent total charge-offs from the period
less recoveries as a percentage of total revenue and as a percentage of average receivables. Net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables is
presented as an annualized metric. Receivables are defined as the unpaid principal of loans. Our charge-off policy is based on a review of delinquent
finance receivables on a loan-by-loan basis. Finance receivables are charged off at the earlier of the time when accounts reach 90 days past due on a
recency basis, when we receive notification of a customer bankruptcy, or when finance receivables are otherwise deemed uncollectible.

The following tables present net charge-offs as a percentage of total revenue and as an annualized percentage of average receivables for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023:

Three Months Ended June 30, Change

2024 2023 %

Net charge-offs as % of total revenue 32.5 % 36.2 % (10.2)%

Net charge-offs as % of average receivables, annualized 43.8 % 46.6 % (6.0)%

Six Months Ended June 30, Change

2024 2023 %

Net charge-offs as % of total revenue 40.2 % 42.6 % (5.6) %

Net charge-offs as % of average receivables, annualized 52.9 % 53.9 % (1.9) %

Net charge-offs as a percentage of total revenue decreased to 32.5% and 40.2%  for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, from
36.2% and 42.6% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The decreases in net charge-offs as a percentage of total revenue for
the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 are a result of a higher yielding portfolio for the reasons discussed above in “Average Yield” combined
with higher recoveries driving lower levels of net charge-offs compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2023. Net charge-offs as a
percentage of average receivables decreased to 43.8% and 52.9% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, from 46.6% and
53.9% for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The decreases in net charge-offs as a percentage of average receivables for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2024 are a result of higher recoveries driving lower levels of net charge-offs compared to the three and six months
ended June 30, 2023.
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Auto-Approval Rate

Auto-approval rate is calculated by taking the number of approved loans that are not decisioned by a loan processor or underwriter (auto-approval)
divided by the total number of loans approved. The following tables present auto approval rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and
2023:

Three Months Ended June 30, Change

2024 2023 %

Auto-approval rate 75.8 % 72.1 % 5.1 %

Six Months Ended June 30, Change

2024 2023 %

Auto-approval rate 74.7 % 71.0 % 5.2 %

Auto-approval rate increased to 75.8% and 74.7%  for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, respectively, from 72.1% and 71.0%  for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2023, respectively. The increases in auto-approval rate for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 were driven by
the continued application of algorithmic automation projects that streamline frictional steps of the origination process.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Comparison of the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

The following table presents our consolidated results of operations for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except number of
shares and per share data).

Three Months Ended June 30, Change

(unaudited) 2024 2023 $ %

Interest and loan related income $ 125,076 $ 121,583 $ 3,493 2.9 %

Other revenue 1,228 903 325 36.0 

     Total revenue 126,304 122,486 3,818 3.1 

Change in fair value of finance receivables (40,019) (44,043) 4,024 (9.1)

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables (4) (3,866) 3,862 (99.9)

     Net revenue 86,281 74,577 11,704 15.7 

Expenses:

Sales and marketing 10,824 12,314 (1,490) (12.1)

Customer operations 11,608 11,740 (132) (1.1)

Technology, products, and analytics 9,148 9,779 (631) (6.5)

General, administrative, and other 14,250 11,179 3,071 27.5 

     Total expenses before interest expense 45,830 45,012 818 1.8 

Interest expense 10,964 11,231 (267) (2.4)

     Total expenses 56,794 56,243 551 1.0 

     Income from operations 29,487 18,334 11,153 60.8 

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (976) 351 (1,327) (378.6)

Other income 79 79 — — 

    Income before income taxes 28,590 18,764 9,826 52.4 

Income tax expense 914 688 226 32.8 

     Net income 27,676 18,076 9,600 53.1 

Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 24,610 15,934 8,676 54.4 

     Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. $ 3,066 $ 2,142 $ 924 43.1 %

Earnings per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:

Earnings per common share:

   Basic $ 0.16 $ 0.14 

   Diluted $ 0.16 $ 0.14 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

   Basic 19,675,934 15,632,120

   Diluted 19,675,934 15,873,753

 Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the Company reclassified certain expenses that were previously included in general, administrative,

and other expenses to customer operations expenses.

Total Revenue

Total revenue consists mainly of revenue earned from interest on receivables from outstanding loans based on the interest method. We also earn
revenue from referral fees related primarily to our “Turn-Up” program, which represented 0.3% of total revenue for the three months ended June 30,
2024.

Total revenue increased by $3.8 million, or 3.1%, to $126.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 from $122.5 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2023. The increase was due to a higher average statutory rate for the loans in the portfolio as well as stronger payment activity driving a
higher yield on the balances.

(a)

(a)

(a)
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Change in Fair Value and Provision for Credit Losses on Finance Receivables

Commencing on January 1, 2021, we elected the fair value option on the OppLoans installment product. To derive the fair value, we utilize discounted
cash flow analyses that factor in estimated losses and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying assets. Loss and prepayment
assumptions are determined using historical loss data and include appropriate consideration of recent trends and anticipated future performance. Future
cash flows are discounted using a rate of return that we believe a market participant would require based on the risk characteristics of the loans. We did
not elect the fair value option on our SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables, which are carried at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit
losses.

Change in fair value consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period on the OppLoans installment product, net of recoveries, plus the change in the
fair value on the installment loans portfolio. Change in fair value totaled $40.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, which was comprised of
$41.1 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $(1.1) million, down from $44.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023,
which was comprised of $44.2 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $(0.2) million. The fair value adjustment for the three
months ended June 30, 2024 had a positive impact due to the increase in receivables over the period with a relatively flat fair value mark.

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period, net of recoveries, plus the change in allowance for
credit losses for our SalaryTap and OppFi Card products. Provision for credit losses on finance receivables decreased by $3.9 million to $4.1 thousand
for the three months ended June 30, 2024 from $3.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023. The decrease is largely attributed to very few
remaining active SalaryTap finance receivables during the three months ended June 30, 2024, while provision for credit losses was increased during the
three months ended June 30, 2023 to account for the then-impending closure of OppFi Card finance receivables.

Net Revenue

Net revenue is equal to total revenue less the change in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables. Total net revenue increased by
$11.7 million, or 15.7%, to $86.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 from $74.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023. This
increase was due to both the increase in total revenue and the decrease in change in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables.

Expenses

Expenses includes costs related to salaries and employee benefits, interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs, sales and marketing, customer
operations, technology, products, and analytics, and general, administrative, and other expenses.

Expenses increased by $0.6 million, or 1.0%, to $56.8 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, from $56.2 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2023. The increase in expenses was primarily driven by a one-time adjustment as a result of the reclassification of OppFi Card assets from held
for sale to held for investment at amortized cost that offset expenses for the three months ended June 30, 2023. The increase was partially offset by lower
direct marketing spend expense resulting from a shift towards relatively lower-cost loans, reduced payment processing fees related to a renegotiation,
and lower professional fees related to accounting and legal matters. Despite the slight increase in total expenses for the three months ended June 30,
2024, expenses as a percent of total revenue decreased from 45.9% to 45.0% for the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three months
ended June 30, 2023.

Income from Operations

Income from operations is the difference between net revenue and expenses. Total income from operations increased by $11.2 million to $29.5 million for
the three months ended June 30, 2024 from income from operations of $18.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023. This increase was driven
primarily by higher total revenue and lower change in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables, slightly offset by higher  expenses
for the three months ended June 30, 2024 as a result of the reasons discussed above.
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Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities totaled $(1.0) million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and $0.4 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2023. These warrant liabilities arose with respect to warrants issued in connection with the initial public offering of FGNA and are subject to re-
measurement at each balance sheet date.

Other Income

Other income totaled $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023. Other income for
both periods was comprised of $0.1 million in income related to the Company subleasing one floor of its office space.

Income Before Income Taxes

Income before income taxes is the sum of income from operations, the change in fair value of warrant liabilities, and other income. Income before income
taxes increased by $9.8 million, or 52.4%, to $28.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 from $18.8 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2023 for the reasons stated above.

Income Tax Expense

OppFi recorded an income tax expense of $0.9 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and $0.7 million for the three months ended June 30,
2023. This increase is largely attributed to OppFi Inc.’s increasing ownership in OppFi-LLC.

Net Income

Net income increased by $9.6 million to $27.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 from net income of $18.1 million for the three months
ended June 30, 2023 for the reasons stated above.

Net Income Attributable to OppFi Inc.

Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. was $3.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024, up from net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $2.1
million for the three months ended June 30, 2023. Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. represents the income solely attributable to stockholders of
OppFi Inc. As a result of the Company’s Up-C structure, the underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. are generally
expense items related to OppFi Inc.’s status as a public company, the income or expense for the change in fair value of warrant liabilities related to the
Company’s warrants, and the Company’s approximate percentage interest in the noncontrolling interest. For the three months ended June 30, 2024, the
underlying income or expense components attributable to OppFi Inc. include OppFi Inc.'s percentage interest in the income attributable to noncontrolling
interest of $5.3 million, partially offset by the loss on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $1.0 million, income tax expense of $0.9 million, general
and administrative expense of $0.2 million, and board fees of $0.1 million, for total net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $3.1 million. For the three
months ended June 30, 2023, the underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. include OppFi Inc.’s percentage interest
in the income attributable to noncontrolling interest of $2.6 million and the gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $0.3 million, partially offset
by income tax expense of $0.6 million, general and administrative expense of $0.1 million, and board fees of $0.1 million, for net income attributable to
OppFi Inc. of $2.1 million.

Diluted Earnings per Share

The Company’s outstanding shares of Class V Voting Stock were excluded in computing the diluted earnings per share for the three months ended
June 30, 2024 as the inclusion of these shares would have had an antidilutive effect under the if-converted method. Under the if-converted method,
shares of the Company’s Class V Voting Stock are assumed to be exchanged, together with OppFi Units, into shares of the Company’s Class A Common
Stock as of the beginning of the period. The Company’s outstanding shares of Class V Voting Stock were also excluded in computing the diluted
earnings per share for the three months ended June 30, 2023 as the inclusion of these shares would have had an antidilutive effect under the if-
converted method.
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Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

The following table presents our consolidated results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 (in thousands, except number of
shares and per share data).

Six Months Ended June 30, Change

(unaudited) 2024 2023 $ %

Interest and loan related income $ 251,355 $ 241,525 $ 9,830 4.1 %

Other revenue 2,292 1,335 957 71.7 

     Total revenue 253,647 242,860 10,787 4.4 

Change in fair value of finance receivables (104,121) (107,161) 3,040 (2.8)

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables (31) (3,936) 3,905 (99.2)

     Net revenue 149,495 131,763 17,732 13.5 

Expenses:

Sales and marketing 19,002 22,161 (3,159) (14.3)

Customer operations 22,971 22,774 197 0.9 

Technology, products, and analytics 18,927 19,733 (806) (4.1)

General, administrative, and other 31,430 22,429 9,001 40.1 

     Total expenses before interest expense 92,330 87,097 5,233 6.0 

Interest expense 22,394 22,602 (208) (0.9)

     Total expenses 114,724 109,699 5,025 4.6 

     Income from operations 34,771 22,064 12,707 57.6 

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 4,195 504 3,691 732.6 

Other income 159 272 (113) (41.5)

     Income before income taxes 39,125 22,840 16,285 71.3 

Income tax expense 1,318 834 484 58.0 

     Net income 37,807 22,006 15,801 71.8 

Less: net income attributable to noncontrolling interest 29,204 19,613 9,591 48.9 

     Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. $ 8,603 $ 2,393 $ 6,210 259.5 %

Earnings per share attributable to OppFi Inc.:

Earnings per common share:

     Basic $ 0.44 $ 0.16 

     Diluted $ 0.36 $ 0.16 

Weighted average common shares outstanding:

     Basic 19,440,680 15,336,366

     Diluted 86,148,477 15,533,467

 Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the Company reclassified certain expenses that were previously included in general, administrative,

and other expenses to customer operations expenses.

Total Revenue

Total revenue consists mainly of revenue earned from interest on receivables from outstanding loans based on the interest method. We also earn
revenue from referral fees related primarily to our “Turn-Up” program, which represented 0.2% of total revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024.

Total revenue increased by $10.8 million, or 4.4%, to $253.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 from $242.9 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2023. The increase was due to higher average receivables balances throughout the period, a higher average statutory rate for the loans in the
portfolio, and stronger payment activity driving a higher yield on the balances.

(a)

(a)

(a)
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Change in Fair Value and Provision for Credit Losses on Finance Receivables

Commencing on January 1, 2021, we elected the fair value option on the OppLoans installment product. To derive the fair value, we utilize discounted
cash flow analyses that factor in estimated losses and prepayments over the estimated duration of the underlying assets. Loss and prepayment
assumptions are determined using historical loss data and include appropriate consideration of recent trends and anticipated future performance. Future
cash flows are discounted using a rate of return that we believe a market participant would require based on the risk characteristics of the loans. We did
not elect the fair value option on our SalaryTap and OppFi Card finance receivables, which are carried at amortized cost, net of allowance for credit
losses.

Change in fair value consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period on the OppLoans installment product, net of recoveries, plus the change in the
fair value on the installment loans portfolio. Change in fair value totaled $104.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, which was comprised of
$102.1 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $2.1 million, down from $107.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023,
which was comprised of $103.0 million of net charge-offs and a fair market value adjustment of $4.2 million. The fair value adjustment for the six months
ended June 30, 2024 had a negative impact due to the decrease in receivables over the period with a relatively flat fair value mark.

Provision for credit losses on finance receivables consists of gross charge-offs incurred in the period, net of recoveries, plus the change in allowance for
credit losses for our SalaryTap and OppFi Card products. Provision for credit losses on finance receivables decreased by $3.9 million to $30.8 thousand
for the six months ended June 30, 2024 from $3.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. The decrease is largely attributed to very few
remaining active SalaryTap finance receivables during the six months ended June 30, 2024, while provision for credit losses was increased during six
months ended June 30, 2023 to account for the then-impending closure of OppFi Card finance receivables.

Net Revenue

Net revenue is equal to total revenue less the change in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables. Total net revenue increased by
$17.7 million, or 13.5%, to $149.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 from $131.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. This
increase was due to both the increase in total revenue and the decrease in change in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables.

Expenses

Expenses includes costs related to salaries and employee benefits, interest expense and amortized debt issuance costs, sales and marketing, customer
operations, technology, products, and analytics, and other general and administrative expenses.

Expenses increased by $5.0 million, or 4.6%, to $114.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, from $109.7 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2023. The increase in expenses was primarily driven by a one-time expense associated with the exit activities from the OppFi Card product as
well as a one-time adjustment as a result of the reclassification of OppFi Card assets from held for sale to held for investment at amortized cost that offset
expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2023. The increase was partially offset by lower direct marketing spend expense resulting from a shift
towards relatively lower-cost loans, reduced payment processing fees related to a renegotiation, and lower capitalized technology amortization expense.
Despite the overall increase in expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2024, expenses as a percent of total revenue was flat year over year at
45.2%.

Income from Operations

Income from operations is the difference between net revenue and expenses. Total income from operations increased by $12.7 million to $34.8 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2024 from income from operations of $22.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. This increase was driven
primarily by higher total revenue and lower change in fair value and provision for credit losses on finance receivables, slightly offset by higher  expenses
for the six months ended June 30, 2024 as a result of the reasons discussed above.
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Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liabilities

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities totaled $4.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and $0.5 million for the six months ended June 30,
2023. These warrant liabilities arose with respect to warrants issued in connection with the initial public offering of FGNA and is subject to re-
measurement at each balance sheet date.

Other Income

Other income totaled $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. For the six months
ended June 30, 2024, other income includes $0.2 million in income related to the Company subleasing one floor of its office space. For the six months
ended June 30, 2023, other income includes $0.2 million in income related to the Company subleasing one floor of its office space and $0.1 million from
the gain on partial loan forgiveness of the secured borrowing payable.

Income Before Income Taxes

Income before income taxes is the sum of income from operations, the change in fair value of warrant liabilities, and other income. Income before income
taxes increased by $16.3 million, or 71.3%, to $39.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 from $22.8 million for the six months ended June 30,
2023 for the reasons stated above.

Income Tax Expense

OppFi recorded a provision for income taxes of $1.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and $0.8 million for the six months ended June 30,
2023. This increase is largely attributed to OppFi Inc.’s increasing ownership in OppFi-LLC.

Net Income

Net income increased by $15.8 million, or 71.8%, to $37.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024 from $22.0 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2023 for the reasons stated above.

Net Income Attributable to OppFi Inc.

Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. was $8.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, up from $2.4 million for the six months ended June 30,
2023. Net income attributable to OppFi Inc. represents the income solely attributable to stockholders of OppFi Inc. As a result of the Company’s Up-C
structure, the underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. are generally expense items related to OppFi Inc.’s status as
a public company, the income or expense for the change in fair value of warrant liabilities related to the Company’s warrants, and the Company’s
approximate percentage interest in the noncontrolling interest. The underlying income or expense components that are attributable to OppFi Inc. for the
six months ended June 30, 2024 are OppFi Inc.’s percentage interest in the income attributable to noncontrolling interest of $6.3 million and gain on
change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $4.2 million, partially offset by income tax expense of $1.3 million, general and administrative expense of $0.4
million, and board fees of $0.2 million, for total net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $8.6 million. The underlying income or expense components that
are attributable to OppFi Inc. for the six months ended June 30, 2023 are OppFi Inc.’s percentage interest in the income attributable to noncontrolling
interest of $3.2 million and gain on change in fair value of warrant liabilities of $0.5 million, partially offset by income tax expense of $0.8 million, general
and administrative expense of $0.4 million, and board fees of $0.2 million, for total net income attributable to OppFi Inc. of $2.4 million.

Diluted Earnings per Share

For the six months ended June 30, 2024, the Company’s outstanding shares of Class V Voting Stock were included in computing the diluted earnings per
share as the inclusion of these shares had a dilutive effect under the if-converted method. Under the if-converted method, shares of the Company’s Class
V Voting Stock are assumed to be exchanged, together with OppFi Units, into shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock as of the beginning of
the period. For the six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company’s outstanding shares of Class V Voting Stock were excluded in computing the diluted
earnings per share as the inclusion of these shares would have had an antidilutive effect under the if-converted method.
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CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS

Comparison as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023

The following table presents our condensed balance sheet as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

(Unaudited) Change

June 30, December 31,
$ %

2024 2023

Assets

Cash and restricted cash $ 80,837 $ 73,943 $ 6,894 9.3 %

Finance receivables at fair value 430,482 463,320 (32,838) (7.1)

Finance receivables at amortized cost, net 19 110 (91) (82.7)

Other assets 61,755 64,170 (2,415) (3.8)

Total assets $ 573,093 $ 601,543 $ (28,450) (4.7)%

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 28,001 $ 26,448 $ 1,553 5.9 %

Other liabilities 38,960 40,086 (1,126) (2.8)

Total debt 301,774 334,116 (32,342) (9.7)

Warrant liabilities 2,669 6,864 (4,195) (61.1)

Total liabilities 371,404 407,514 (36,110) (8.9)

Total stockholders’ equity 201,689 194,029 7,660 3.9 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 573,093 $ 601,543 $ (28,450) (4.7)%

Total cash and restricted cash increased by $6.9 million as of June 30, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023 driven by an increase in received
payments relative to originations. Finance receivables at fair value decreased by $32.8 million as of June 30, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023 from
lower origination volume due to seasonality. Finance receivables at amortized cost, net decreased by $0.1 million as of June 30, 2024 compared to
December 31, 2023 due to the continued rundown of SalaryTap finance receivables. Other assets decreased by $2.4 million as of June 30, 2024
compared to December 31, 2023 mainly due to a decrease in the operating lease right of use asset of $0.8 million, a decrease in the deferred tax asset
of $0.7 million, and a decrease in property, equipment, and software of $0.5 million.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses increased by $1.6 million as of June 30, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023 driven by an increase in
accrued expenses of $3.6 million, partially offset by a decrease in accounts payable of $2.0 million. Other liabilities decreased by $1.1 million as of
June 30, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023 driven by a decrease in the operating lease liability of $0.9 million and the tax receivable agreement
liability of $0.2 million. Total debt decreased by $32.3 million as of June 30, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023 driven by a decrease in utilization of
revolving lines of credit of $30.9 million and a decrease in notes payable of $1.4 million. Warrant liabilities decreased by $4.2 million due to the decrease
in the valuation of the warrants as of June 30, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023. Total stockholders’ equity increased by $7.7 million as of June 30,
2024 compared to December 31, 2023 driven by net income and stock-based compensation, partially offset by purchases of treasury stock and dividend
issuance.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Comparison of the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023

We believe that the provision of non-GAAP financial measures in this report, including Adjusted EBT, Adjusted Net Income, and Adjusted EPS can
provide useful measures for period-to-period comparisons of our business and useful information to investors and others in understanding and evaluating
our operating results. However, non-GAAP financial measures are not calculated in accordance with GAAP measures, should not be considered an
alternative to any measure of financial performance calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP, and may not be comparable to the non-GAAP
financial measures of other companies.

35



Table of Contents         

Adjusted EBT and Adjusted Net Income

Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, we have updated our presentation and calculation of Adjusted EBT, and the
corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost amortization.

Adjusted EBT is a non-GAAP measure defined as our GAAP net income adjusted to eliminate the effect of certain items as shown below, including
income tax expense, other income, change in fair value of warrant liabilities and other addbacks and one-time expenses. Adjusted Net Income is a non-
GAAP measure defined as our Adjusted EBT less pro forma taxes for comparison purposes. We believe that Adjusted EBT and Adjusted Net Income are
important measures because they allow management, investors, and our Board to evaluate and compare our operating results from period-to-period by
making the adjustments described below.

Adjusted EBT and Adjusted Net Income exclude certain expenses that are required in accordance with GAAP because they are non-recurring items
(such as severance), non-cash expenditures (such as changes in the fair value of warrant liabilities and expenses related to stock compensation), or are
not related to our underlying business performance. We believe these adjustments provide investors with a comparative view of expenses that the
Company expects to incur on an ongoing basis.

(in thousands, except share and per share data) Three Months Ended June 30, Variance

(unaudited) 2024 2023 $ %

Net income $ 27,676 $ 18,076 $ 9,600 53.1 %

Income tax expense 914 688 226 32.8 

Other income (79) (79) — — 

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 976 (351) 1,327 378.6 

Other addbacks and one-time expenses, net 2,932 2,588 344 13.3 

Adjusted EBT 32,419 20,922 11,497 55.0 

Less: pro forma taxes 7,638 5,057 2,581 51.0 

Adjusted net income $ 24,781 $ 15,865 $ 8,916 56.2 %

Adjusted earnings per share $ 0.29 $ 0.19 

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 86,268,511 84,750,663

 For the three months ended June 30, 2024, other addbacks and one-time expenses, net of $2.9 million included $2.1 million in stock compensation
expenses, $0.5 million in expenses related to legal matters, $0.3 million in severance expenses, and $0.1 million in expenses related to corporate
development. For the three months ended June 30, 2023, other addbacks and one-time expenses, net of $2.6 million included a $(3.1) million addback
from the reclassification of OppFi Card finance receivables from assets held for sale to assets held for investment at amortized cost, a $3.8 million
expense related to provision for credit losses on the OppFi Card finance receivables, $0.8 million in stock compensation expenses, $0.6 million in
severance expenses, $0.4 million in expenses related to corporate development, and $0.1 million in retention expenses.

 Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the Company has updated its presentation and calculation of Adjusted
EBT, and the corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost
amortization.

 Assumes a tax rate of 23.56% for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 24.17% for the three months ended June 30, 2023, reflecting the U.S.
federal statutory rate of 21% and a blended statutory rate for state income taxes.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(b)

(b)

(a)

(b)

(c)
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(in thousands, except share and per share data) Six Months Ended June 30, Variance

(unaudited) 2024 2023 $ %

Net income $ 37,807 $ 22,006 $ 15,801 71.8 %

Income tax expense 1,318 834 484 58.0 

Other income (159) (272) 113 (41.5)

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (4,195) (504) (3,691) 732.6 

Other addbacks and one-time expenses, net 9,136 3,940 5,196 131.9 

Adjusted EBT 43,907 26,004 17,903 68.8 

Less: pro forma taxes 10,345 6,284 4,061 64.6 

Adjusted net income $ 33,562 $ 19,720 $ 13,842 70.2 %

Adjusted earnings per share $ 0.39 $ 0.23 

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 86,148,477 84,592,228

 For the six months ended June 30, 2024, other addbacks and one-time expenses, net of $9.1 million included $3.1 million in stock compensation
expenses, a $2.9 million expense related to OppFi Card’s exit activities, $1.2 million in expenses related to legal matters, $1.1 million in severance
expenses, and $0.8 million in expenses related to corporate development. For the six months ended June 30, 2023, other addbacks and one-time
expenses, net of $3.9 million included a $(3.0) million addback from the reclassification of OppFi Card finance receivables from assets held for sale to
assets held for investment at amortized cost, a $3.8 million expense related to provision for credit losses on the OppFi Card finance receivables, $2.0
million in stock compensation expenses, $0.6 million in severance expenses, $0.4 million in expenses related to corporate development, and $0.1 million
in retention expenses.

 Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the Company has updated its presentation and calculation of Adjusted
EBT, and the corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost
amortization.

 Assumes a tax rate of 23.56% for the six months ended June 30, 2024 and a 24.16% tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2023, reflecting the
U.S. federal statutory rate of 21% and a blended statutory rate for state income taxes.

(a)

(b)

(c)

(b)

(b)

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Adjusted Earnings Per Share

Adjusted EPS is defined as adjusted net income divided by weighted average diluted shares outstanding, which represent shares of both classes of
common stock outstanding, excluding 25,500,000 shares related to earnout obligations and including the impact of restricted stock units and
performance stock units. We believe that presenting Adjusted EPS is useful to investors and others because, due to the Company’s Up-C structure,
Basic EPS calculated on a GAAP basis excludes a large percentage of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock, which are Class V Voting
Stock, and Diluted EPS calculated on a GAAP basis excludes dilutive securities, including Class V Voting Stock, restricted stock units, and performance
stock units, in any periods in which their inclusion would have an antidilutive effect. Shares of the Company’s Class V Voting Stock may be exchanged,
together with OppFi Units, into shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. We believe that presenting Adjusted EPS is useful to investors and
others because it presents the Company’s Adjusted Net Income on a per share basis based on the shares of the Company’s common stock that would
be issued but for, and can be issued as a result of, the Company’s Up-C structure, excluding the forfeitable earnout shares from the Company’s
Business Combination. The earnout shares issued in the Business Combination are excluded from the calculation of Adjusted EPS because such
earnout shares were subject to potential forfeiture pending the achievement of certain earnout targets pursuant to the terms of the Business
Combination, and we believed that, until such shares were forfeited or no longer subject to forfeiture, it was useful to investors and others to provide per
share earnings information based only on those shares that were not subject to forfeiture. The earnout shares were forfeited subsequent to the end of the
three months ended June 30, 2024.

Three Months Ended June 30,

(unaudited) 2024 2023

Weighted average Class A common stock outstanding 19,675,934 15,632,120

Weighted average Class V voting stock outstanding 91,380,789 94,376,910

Elimination of earnouts at period end (25,500,000) (25,500,000)

Dilutive impact of restricted stock units 642,306 238,008

Dilutive impact of performance stock units 69,482 3,625

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 86,268,511 84,750,663

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended

June 30, 2024
Three Months Ended

June 30, 2023

(unaudited) $ Per Share $ Per Share

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 86,268,511 84,750,663 

Net income $ 27,676 $ 0.32 $ 18,076 $ 0.21 

Income tax expense 914 0.01 688 0.01

Other income (79) — (79) —

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities 976 0.01 (351) —

Other addbacks and one-time expenses, net 2,932 0.03 2,588 0.03

Adjusted EBT 32,419 0.38 20,922 0.25

Less: pro forma taxes 7,638 0.09 5,057 0.06

Adjusted net income $ 24,781 $ 0.29 $ 15,865 $ 0.19 

 Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the Company has updated its presentation and calculation of Adjusted
EBT, and corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost
amortization.

Six Months Ended June 30,

(unaudited) 2024 2023

Weighted average Class A common stock outstanding 19,440,680 15,336,366

Weighted average Class V voting stock outstanding 91,531,964 94,558,761

Elimination of earnouts at period end (25,500,000) (25,500,000)

Dilutive impact of restricted stock units 602,628 180,290

Dilutive impact of performance stock units 73,205 16,811

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 86,148,477 84,592,228

(a)

(a)

(a)
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(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Six Months Ended

June 30, 2024
Six Months Ended

June 30, 2023

(unaudited) $ Per Share $ Per Share

Weighted average diluted shares outstanding 86,148,477 84,592,228 

Net income $ 37,807 $ 0.44 $ 22,006 $ 0.26 

Income tax expense 1,318 0.02 834 0.01

Other income (159) — (272) —

Change in fair value of warrant liabilities (4,195) (0.05) (504) (0.01)

Other addbacks and one-time expenses, net 9,136 0.11 3,940 0.05

Adjusted EBT 43,907 0.51 26,004 0.31

Less: pro forma taxes 10,345 0.12 6,284 0.07

Adjusted net income $ 33,562 $ 0.39 $ 19,720 $ 0.23 

 Beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2024, for all periods presented, the Company has updated its presentation and calculation of Adjusted
EBT, and corresponding presentations and calculations of Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EPS, to no longer add back debt issuance cost
amortization.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

To date, the funds received from operating income and our ability to obtain lending commitments have provided the liquidity necessary for us to fund our
operations.

Maturities of our financing facilities are staggered over two years to help minimize refinance risk.

The following table presents our unrestricted cash and undrawn debt as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

June 30, December 31,

2024 2023

Unrestricted cash $ 46,622 $ 31,791 

Undrawn debt $ 223,226 $ 192,333 

As of June 30, 2024, OppFi had $46.6 million in unrestricted cash, an increase of $14.8 million from December 31, 2023. As of June 30, 2024, OppFi had
an additional $223.2 million of unused debt capacity under its financing facilities for future availability, representing a 43% overall undrawn capacity, an
increase from $192.3 million as of December 31, 2023. The increase in undrawn debt was driven primarily by using excess cash to pay down debt on our
revolving credit lines and term loan. Including total financing commitments of $525.0 million and cash on the balance sheet of $80.8 million, OppFi had
approximately $605.8 million in funding capacity as of June 30, 2024.

OppFi believes that its unrestricted cash, undrawn debt and funds from operating income will be sufficient to meet its liquidity needs for at least the next
12 months from the date of this Quarterly Report. The Company’s future capital requirements will depend on multiple factors, including its revenue
growth, aggregate receivables balance, interest expense, working capital requirements, cash provided by and used in operating, investing and financing
activities and capital expenditures.

To the extent OppFi’s unrestricted cash balances, funds from operating income and funds from undrawn debt are insufficient to satisfy its liquidity needs
in the future, the Company may need to raise additional capital through equity or debt financing and may not be able to do so on terms acceptable to the
Company, if at all. If the Company is unable to raise additional capital when needed, its results of operations and financial condition could be materially
and adversely impacted.

(a)

(a)

(a)
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CASH FLOWS

The following table presents cash provided by (used in) operating, investing and financing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023
(in thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30, Change

(In thousands, except % change) 2024 2023 $ %

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 151,732 $ 138,566 $ 13,166 9.5  %

Net cash used in investing activities (77,344) (103,199) 25,855 (25.1)

Net cash used in financing activities (67,494) (22,929) (44,565) 194.4 

Net increase in cash and restricted cash $ 6,894 $ 12,438 $ (5,544) (44.6)  %

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $151.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. This was an increase of $13.2 million when
compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $138.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. Cash provided by operating activities
increased mainly due to higher net income.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $77.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. This was a decrease of $25.9 million when compared to
net cash used in investing activities of $103.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, mainly due to lower finance receivables originated and
acquired and higher finance receivables repaid and recovered.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities was $67.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024. This was an increase of $44.6 million when compared to
net cash used in financing activities of $22.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023, primarily due to an increase in distributions to members of
OppFi-LLC, net payments of senior debt, repurchases of common stock, and dividends paid on common stock.
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FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS

Our corporate credit facilities consist of term loans and revolving loan facilities that we have drawn on to finance our operations and for other corporate
purposes. These borrowings are generally secured by all the assets of OppFi-LLC that have not otherwise been sold or pledged to secure our structured
finance facilities, such as assets belonging to certain of the special purpose entity subsidiaries of OppFi-LLC (“SPEs”). In addition, we, through our SPEs,
have entered into warehouse credit facilities to partially finance the purchase of participation rights in loans originated by our bank partners through our
platform, which credit facilities are secured by the loans or participation rights. For a detailed discussion on financing arrangements refer to Note 7 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The following is a summary of OppFi’s
outstanding borrowings as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, including borrowing capacity as of June 30, 2024 (in thousands):

Borrowing June 30,
December

31, Interest Rate as of Maturity

Purpose Borrower(s) Capacity 2024 2023 June 30, 2024 Date

Senior debt, net

Revolving line of credit
Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC
(Tranche B) $ 125,000 $ 62,500 $ 103,400 SOFR plus 6.75% June 2026

Revolving line of credit
Opportunity Funding SPE V, LLC
(Tranche C) 125,000 62,500 37,500 SOFR plus 7.50% July 2027

Revolving line of credit
Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC
(Castlelake) 150,000 85,871 93,871 SOFR plus 7.50% December 2026

Revolving line of credit Gray Rock SPV LLC 75,000 51,229 48,442 SOFR plus 7.45% October 2026

Total revolving lines of credit 475,000 262,100 283,213 

Term loan, net OppFi-LLC 50,000 39,674 49,454 SOFR plus 0.11% plus 10.00% March 2025

Total senior debt, net $ 525,000 $ 301,774 $ 332,667 

Note payable

Financed insurance
premium OppFi-LLC $ — $ — $1,449 9.70% June 2024

LIBOR Transition

In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced its intention to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation
of LIBOR after 2021. On December 31, 2021, ICE Benchmark Administration, the administrator of LIBOR, announced plans to cease publication for all
USD LIBOR tenors (except the one- and two-week tenors, which ceased on December 31, 2021) on June 30, 2023. The Federal Reserve Board and the
Federal Reserve Bank of New York have identified the SOFR as its preferred alternative to LIBOR in derivatives and other financial contracts. As of
June 30, 2024, all of our LIBOR-based credit facilities have been transitioned to the SOFR. The replacement of LIBOR did not have any material effect
on our liquidity or the financial terms of our credit facilities.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

There have been no material changes to the information on critical accounting estimates in our 2023 Annual Report.

ITEM 3.     QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

As a “smaller reporting company,” as defined by Item 10 of Regulation S-K, the Company is not required to provide the information required by this Item.

ITEM 4.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management has evaluated the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act) as of June 30, 2024 (“Evaluation Date”). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded
that, as of the Evaluation Date, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to the material weakness in its internal control
over financial reporting disclosed in Part II, Item 9A of our 2023 Annual Report.

Previously Identified Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Notwithstanding the material weakness in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting described below, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that the consolidated financial statements of the Company as included in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q present fairly, in all material respects, the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows as of and for the periods
presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States.

As discussed in Part II, Item 9A in  our 2023 Annual Report , management determined that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not
effective due to the existence of the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to information technology general controls
associated with the Company’s financially relevant information systems. Management determined that the Company’s user access controls designed to
ensure appropriate segregation of duties, adequate restriction of users and privileged access to the Company’s financially relevant information systems
were not operating effectively and the Company’s user access control designed to ensure appropriate segregation of duties was not designed effectively.
Management believes that compensating controls are in place and operating effectively to mitigate the risks associated with the identified material
weakness as it is being remediated (as described below).

Remediation Plan for Previously Identified Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is committed to remediating the material weakness described above as promptly as possible. Management believes that certain of the
controls in question are designed effectively and that these controls, when operating effectively, will provide appropriate remediation of part of the
material weakness. In particular, as part of its remediation plan, the Company is implementing comprehensive access control protocols in order to
implement restrictions on user and privileged access to the Company’s financially relevant information systems and will be providing internal control
training for personnel involved in remediating this material weakness. In addition, management continues to design and implement new controls to
ensure appropriate segregation of duties. Management intends to test the ongoing operating effectiveness of the controls in future periods. The material
weakness cannot be considered completely remediated until the applicable controls have operated for a sufficient period of time and management has
concluded, through testing, that these controls are designed and operating effectively. The Company can provide no assurance that its remediation
efforts described herein will be successful and that the Company will not have material weaknesses in the future.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than the planned changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting described in “Remediation Plan for Previously Identified
Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” above, there were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
(as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended June 30, 2024 that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See “Legal contingencies” of Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited) in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS

There have been no material changes from the Risk Factors previously disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A, of our 2023 Annual Report .

ITEM 2.     UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On April 9, 2024, the Company announced that the Board had authorized a program to repurchase (the “Repurchase Program”) up to $20.0 million in the
aggregate of shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock. Repurchases under the Repurchase Program may be made from time to time, on the
open market, in privately negotiated transactions, or by other methods, at the discretion of the management of the Company and in accordance with the
limitations set forth in Rule 10b-18 promulgated under the Exchange Act, and other applicable legal requirements, including restrictions in the Company’s
existing credit facilities. Repurchases may be made pursuant to any trading plan that may be adopted in accordance with SEC Rule 10b5-1, which would
permit Common Stock to be repurchased when the Company might otherwise be precluded from doing so under insider trading laws. The timing and
amount of the repurchases will depend on market conditions and other requirements. The Repurchase Program does not obligate the Company to
repurchase any dollar amount or number of shares and the Repurchase Program may be extended, modified, suspended, or discontinued at any time.
For each share of Common Stock that the Company repurchases under the Repurchase Program, OppFi-LLC, the Company’s direct subsidiary, will
redeem one Class A common unit of OppFi-LLC held by the Company, decreasing the percentage ownership of OppFi-LLC by the Company and
relatively increasing the ownership by the other members. The Repurchase Program will expire in April 2027.

The table below shows information regarding our monthly repurchases of our Class A Common Stock during the second quarter of 2024.

Period
Total Number of Shares

Repurchased
Average Price Paid

per Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as part of the

Repurchase Program

Approximate Dollar
Value of Shares that

May Yet Be
Purchased Under the
Repurchase Program

April 1 - April 30, 2024 — $ — — $ 20,000,000 

May 1 - May 31, 2024 370,974 3.21 370,974 18,802,877 

June 1 - June 30, 2024 398,741 3.33 398,741 17,466,820 

Total 769,715 $ 3.27 769,715 $ 17,466,820 

ITEM 3.     DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES  

None.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5.     OTHER INFORMATION  

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers

During the last fiscal quarter, none of our directors or officers (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) informed us of the adoption and
termination of a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” each as defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-K.
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ITEM 6.    EXHIBITS

Exhibit Number Description

10.1†+* Eleventh Amendment to Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Facility, dated May 30, 2024, by and among Opportunity
Financial, LLC, the other credit parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC.

10.2†+* Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated April 16, 2024, by and among Opportunity
Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE V LLC, OppWin, LLC, the other credit parties and guarantors party thereto, the
Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC.

10.3†+* Amendment No. 2 to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated April 24, 2024, by and among Opportunity Financial, LLC,
Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC, the other credit parties and guarantors thereto, UMB Bank, N.A., as administrative agent
and collateral agent, Randolph Receivables LLC, as Castlelake Representative, and the lenders party thereto.

10.4†+* Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated June 12, 2024, by and among
Opportunity Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE V LLC, OppWin, LLC, the other credit parties and guarantors party
thereto, the Lenders party thereto, and Midtown Madison Management LLC.

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

___________________________
† Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Regulation S-K Item (601)(b)(10).
+ Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The Registrant agrees to

furnish a copy of all omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.
* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Date: August 8, 2024 OppFi Inc.

By: /s/ Pamela D. Johnson

Pamela D. Johnson

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.1

ELEVENTH AMENDMENT TO
LOAN AGREEMENT

THIS ELEVENTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of May 30,
2024 (the “Effective Date”), by and among OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the
“Borrower”), the Lenders party hereto, and MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(the “Administrative Agent”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

A.    The Borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto (individually, a “Lender” and, collectively, the
“Lenders”), and Administrative Agent are parties to that certain Senior Secured Multi-Draw Term Loan Agreement dated
November 9, 2018, as amended to date (as may be further amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the
“Loan Agreement”);

B.    Borrower, Lenders and Administrative Agent desire to, pursuant to Section 11.02(b) of the Loan Agreement,
amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement, but only to the extent, in accordance with the terms, subject to the
conditions and in reliance upon the representations and warranties, in each case, set forth below, and Guarantors desire to
acknowledge and agree to such amendments; and

C.    The Administrative Agent and the Lenders are willing to amend the Loan Agreement subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the premises herein contained and other good and valuable consideration,
the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1.    Definitions. Capitalized terms that are used in this Agreement but are not defined herein shall have the
meanings set forth in the Loan Agreement, unless otherwise stated.

2.    Amendments to Loan Agreement. Effective as of the Effective Date, the Loan Agreement is hereby amended
(a) to delete the stricken text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following examples: stricken text and stricken
text) and (b) to add the double-underlined text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following examples: double-
underlined text and double-underlined text), in each case, as set forth in the marked copy of the Loan Agreement, along with
any included exhibits and schedules to the Loan Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A hereto and made a part hereof for
all purposes.



3.    Limitation of Amendments.

a.    The amendments set forth in Section 2, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited
precisely as written. This Agreement does not, and shall not be construed to, constitute a waiver of any past,
present or future violation of the Loan Agreement, the other Basic Documents or any other related document,
and shall not, directly or indirectly in any way whatsoever either: (i) impair, prejudice or otherwise adversely
affect Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s right at any time to exercise any right, privilege or remedy in
connection with the Loan Agreement, any other Basic Document or any other related document (all of which
rights are hereby expressly reserved by Administrative Agent and Lenders), (ii) except as specifically set forth
herein, amend or alter any provision of the Loan Agreement, any other Basic Document or any other related
document, (iii) constitute any course of dealing or other basis for altering any obligation of Borrower or any of
its Affiliates or any right, privilege or remedy of Administrative Agent or any Lender under the Loan Agreement,
any other Basic Document or any other related document or (iv) constitute any consent (deemed or express)
by Administrative Agent to any prior, existing or future violations of the Loan Agreement, any other Basic
Document or any other related document. There are no oral agreements among the parties hereto, and no
prior or future discussions or representations regarding the subject matter hereof shall constitute a waiver of
any past, present or future violation of the Loan Agreement, any other Basic Document or any other related
document.

b.    This Agreement shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Loan Agreement, and all terms,
conditions, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Agreement, and each other Basic Document are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall
remain in full force and effect.

4.    Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of Agreement. The effectiveness of this Agreement is subject to the
satisfaction of the following conditions precedent, unless specifically waived in writing by Administrative Agent:

a.    Administrative Agent shall have received this Agreement duly executed by the Borrower and Guarantors; and

b.    After giving effect to the terms of this Agreement, the representations and warranties contained herein and in
the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except
for such representations and warranties already qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all
respects) on and as of the Effective Date (except to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier time); and no
Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.



5.    Ratifications. The terms and provisions set forth in this Agreement shall modify and supersede all inconsistent
terms and provisions set forth in the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents and, except as expressly modified
and superseded by this Agreement, the terms and provisions of the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents are
ratified and confirmed as of the Effective Date and shall continue in full force and effect. The Borrower hereby agrees that all
Liens and security interests securing payment of the Obligations under the Basic Documents are hereby collectively
renewed, ratified and brought forward as security for the payment and performance of the Obligations. The Borrower and
Administrative Agent agree that the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents, as amended hereby, shall continue to
be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as such enforcement may be
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the
rights of creditors generally, and by general equity principles (regardless of whether such enforcement is considered in a
proceeding in equity or at law).

6.    Representations and Warranties with respect to Basic Documents. The Borrower hereby represents and
warrants to Administrative Agent that (a) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and any and all other
Basic Documents or other documents or instruments executed and/or delivered in connection herewith have been
authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of the Borrower and will not violate the Third Amended and Restated
Limited Liability Company Agreement of the Borrower; and (b) the Borrower is in compliance, in all material respects, with all
covenants and agreements contained in the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents, as amended hereby.

7.    Survival of Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties made by the Borrower in the
Loan Agreement and in the certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to the Loan Agreement
shall be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of this
Agreement, regardless of any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the
Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or incorrect representation or
warranty at the time any credit is extended, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as the principal of or any
accrued interest on any Advance or any fee or any other amount payable under the Loan Agreement is outstanding and
unpaid and so long as the Term Loan Commitments have not expired or terminated.

8.    Reference to Loan Agreement. Each of the Loan Agreement and the other Basic Documents, and any and all
other agreements, documents or instruments now or hereafter executed and delivered pursuant to the terms hereof or
pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, as amended hereby, are hereby amended so that any reference in the Loan
Agreement and such other Basic Documents to the Loan Agreement shall mean a reference to the Loan Agreement, as
amended hereby.

9.    Expenses of Administrative Agent. The Borrower agrees to pay all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket
costs and expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent and its



Affiliates in connection with the preparation and negotiation of this Agreement in accordance with Section 11.03(a) of the
Loan Agreement.

10.    Severability. Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall,
as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity,
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular
jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

11.    Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Administrative
Agent, Lenders, the Borrower, and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that the Borrower may not
assign or transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of Administrative
Agent.

12.    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different
counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single
contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by telecopy or other electronic means
shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

13.    No Waiver. Other than as specifically set forth in Section 2, nothing contained in this Agreement shall be
construed as an amendment or waiver by Administrative Agent or Lenders of any covenant or provision of the Loan
Agreement, the other Basic Documents, this Agreement, or of any other contract or instrument among the Borrower,
Lenders and Administrative Agent, and the failure of Lenders and Administrative Agent at any time or times hereafter to
require strict performance by Borrower of any provision thereof shall not waive, affect or diminish any right of Administrative
Agent to thereafter demand strict compliance therewith. Administrative Agent and Lenders hereby reserve all rights granted
to each of them under the Loan Agreement, the other Basic Documents, this Agreement and any other contract or
instrument among the Borrower and any one or more of Administrative Agent and Lenders.

14.    Headings. Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of
reference only, are not part of this Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in
interpreting, this Agreement.

15.    Applicable Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES (OTHER
THAN SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).

16.    Final Agreement. THE LOAN AGREEMENT, AS AMENDED HEREBY, AND THE OTHER BASIC
DOCUMENTS, CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE CONTRACT BETWEEN AND AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE
SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF AND SUPERSEDES ANY AND ALL PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS AND
UNDERSTANDINGS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF.



17.    Time. Time is of the essence of this Agreement.

[Page intentionally left blank; signature pages follow]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Agreement as of the date first above-written.

BORROWER:

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By:    /s/ Todd Schwartz    
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO



ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT:

MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

LENDERS:

ATALAYA SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND VII LP

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND (CAYMAN) VII LP

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory



ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:

GUARANTORS:

OPPORTUNITY MANAGER, LLC,
OPPWIN, LLC,
OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE II, LLC,
OPPFI MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC,
OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL CARD COMPANY, LLC,
OPPWIN CARD, LLC,
SALARYTAP, LLC,
OPPWIN SALARYTAP, LLC,
OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL LOANS, LLC,
OPPWIN LOANS, LLC

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz    
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO



EXHIBIT A

[See attached]

SENIOR SECURED MULTI-DRAW TERM LOAN FACILITY

dated as of

November 9, 2018

among

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,
The other borrowers party hereto,

as Borrowers

the Lenders Party Hereto

and

MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC,

as Administrative Agent

up to $50,000,000
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EXHIBIT H        Credit Policies    THIS SENIOR SECURED MULTI-DRAW TERM LOAN AGREEMENT, dated as of
November 9, 2018 (this “Agreement”), is by and among OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Company”), each other Person listed on the signature pages hereto as a borrower and each Person joined
hereto as a borrower from time to time (together with the Company collectively, jointly and severally, “Borrower”), the
GUARANTORS from time to time party hereto and party to any Guaranty, the LENDERS from time to time party hereto
(individually, a “Lender” and collectively, the “Lenders”), and MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company, as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”).

BACKGROUND

Borrower has requested that Lenders extend credit to it, on a senior secured multi-draw basis, subject to the
limitations set forth herein, in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding $50,000,000. The proceeds of the credit
extensions hereunder: (i) are to be used for the purposes permitted pursuant to Section 5.09, and (ii) shall be secured by the
Collateral, pursuant to the Security Documents. Lenders are prepared to extend such credit to Borrower upon the terms and
conditions hereof, and, accordingly, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01    Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

“Adjusted Term SOFR Rate” means (i) the Term SOFR Rate plus (ii) 0.11%.

“Administrative Agent” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Recitals.

“Administrative Agent Advance” has the meaning assigned to such term in Article X(m).



“Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Administrative Agent.

“Advance” means any borrowing under and advance by the Administrative Agent or any Lender under or in
connection with this Agreement including, but not limited to, any Advance under Section 2.02 and any Protective Advance.

“Advance Rate” means [***]%.

“Advance Request” means a request by the Borrower for an Advance in accordance with Section 2.03 and
substantially in the form of Exhibit D or such other form as shall be approved by the Administrative Agent.

“Affiliate” means with respect to any specified Person, any other Person controlling or controlled by or under common
control with such specified Person. For the purposes of this definition, “control”, when used with respect to any specified
Person, means the power to direct the management and policies of such Person, directly or indirectly, whether through the
ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise, and the terms “controlling” and “controlled” have meanings
correlative to the foregoing.

“Age” means, for any Receivable, a fraction rounded down to the largest integer that does not exceed the fraction, (x)
the numerator of which is the number of days elapsed from the Receivable’s origination date until the Determination Date
computed on the basis of a 360-day year; and (y) the denominator of which is 30.

“Agreement” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Recitals.

“Applicable Law” shall mean any and all federal, state, local and/or applicable foreign statutes, ordinances, rules,
regulations, court orders and decrees, administrative orders and decrees, and other legal requirements of any and every
type applicable to the Advances, the Basic Documents, the Receivables Documents, Borrower and its Subsidiaries, any
Guarantor or the Collateral or any portion thereof, including, but not limited to, in each case, as applicable, Credit Protection
Laws, credit disclosure laws and regulations, the Fair Labor Standards Act, and state and federal usury laws.

“Applicable Percentage” means, with respect to any Lender, the percentage of the aggregate Term Loan
Commitments represented by such Lender’s Term Loan Commitment. If the Term Loan Commitments have terminated or
expired, the Applicable Percentage shall be determined based upon the percentage of the total unpaid Advances owing to
such Lender.

“Approved Bank Partner States” means the list of states listed on Schedule III hereto or any other state approved in
writing by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion; provided, on the date that the Illinois Predatory Loan Prevention
Act (Illinois SB 1792) becomes effective, Illinois shall automatically and without any further action be removed from Schedule
III and shall no longer constitute an Approved Bank Partner State.



“Approved SPV Agent” means (a) Administrative Agent and its Affiliates, (b) Ares and its Affiliates, and (c) each
administrative agent or sole lender under an Approved SPV Facility.

“Approved SPV Facilities” means (a) the Ares Facility and the credit facility pursuant to the Atalaya SPV Credit
Agreement and (b) any future analogous asset-backed senior special purpose vehicle financing (“Future SPV Facility”)
undertaken by the Company or its Affiliates and approved by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided, however,
that any Future SPV Facility that is structured in a manner such that the Material Terms of such Future SPV Facility are, as
determined by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion, (i) as favorable as or (ii) more favorable than, the Ares
Facility to the Company shall be automatically deemed an Approved SPV Facility so long as the applicable lenders under
such Future SPV Facility have (i) solely to the extent a Credit Party is an obligor under such financing, entered into an
Intercreditor Agreement in form and substance substantially similar to the Ares Intercreditor, (ii) signed a direction letter (to
and for the benefit of Administrative Agent) stipulating that such lender will only deposit or otherwise permit monies or
amounts owed or distributed to the Company to be sent or transferred pursuant to the applicable transaction documents
(either servicing fees, residual cash from the applicable waterfall provision, or otherwise) to (a) in an absence of an Event of
Default, the Deposit Account or (b) during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Waterfall Account, unless otherwise
mutually directed by the Company and the Administrative Agent in writing, and (iii) the Administrative Agent has been
granted a second priority equity pledge with respect to the Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower party to such Future SPV
Facility; provided that such second priority equity pledge shall not be required to the extent Administrative Agent has been
granted a first priority equity pledge with respect to the Company.

“Approved States” means the list of states listed on Schedule III hereto or any other state approved in writing by
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion; provided, [***].

“Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers” means the Existing SPV Borrowers and any other Subsidiaries of the
Company which are special purpose vehicle borrowers under any Approved SPV Facility.

“Ares” means Ares Agent Services, L.P.

“Ares Facility” means, individually and collectively, (i) the credit facility pursuant to that certain Amended and
Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of January 31, 2020, among Opportunity Funding SPE III, LLC, Opportunity
Financial, LLC, OppWin, Ares and the lenders from time to time parties thereto, and (ii) the credit facility pursuant to that
certain Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of the date of the Atalaya SPV Credit Agreement, among Opportunity Funding
SPE VI, LLC, Opportunity Financial, LLC, OppWin, Ares and the lenders from time to time parties thereto, as each may be
amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Ares Intercreditor” means that certain Subordination Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and between Ares
and Administrative Agent, which agreement shall include



provisions detailing Ares’ agreement to disburse funds in accordance with an Ares Payment Direction Notice.

“Ares Payment Direction Notice” means written notice by Administrative Agent to Ares that an Event of Default has
occurred and is continuing and that all funds disbursed from the Ares Facility to Borrower shall only be disbursed into the
Waterfall Account.

“Assignment and Assumption” means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an assignee (with
the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 11.04), and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in the form
of Exhibit A or any other form approved by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower.

“Atalaya SPV Credit Agreement” means that certain Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated on or
about April 15July 19, 20192023, by and among the Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower party thereto, as a borrower, the
other credit parties party thereto, Administrative Agent, as the administrative agent for the lenders, and the lenders from time
to time parties thereto, as amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Authorized Officer” means, with respect to the Borrower, any Vice President or more senior officer of such Person
who is authorized to act for such Person and who is identified on the list of Authorized Officers delivered by such Person to
the Administrative Agent on the Closing Date (as such list may be modified or supplemented from time to time thereafter).

“Avoided Transfer” has the meaning assigned to such term in Article X(o).

“Backup Servicer” means a backup servicer under any Approved SPV Facility.

“Backup Servicing Agreement” means a backup servicing agreement executed in connection with any Approved SPV
Facility.

“Bank Partner” means FinWise, FEB, Capital Community or any other bank partner approved by Administrative Agent
in its Permitted Discretion (which approval shall be subject to external counsel and regulatory review).

“Bank Partner Program” means (a) the FinWise Program Agreement, (b) the FEB Program Agreement, (c) the Capital
Community Program Agreement and (d) any other bank loan program agreement between a Bank Partner and the
Company, as approved in writing by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion, as may be amended, supplemented,
restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Bank Partner Purchase and Sale Agreement” means (a) the FinWise Purchase and Sale Agreement and (b) any
other purchase and sale agreement between a Bank Partner and the Company, as approved in writing by Administrative
Agent in its Permitted Discretion, as may be amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Bank Partner Receivable” means a Receivable originated by a Bank Partner.



“Bank Partner Regulatory Trigger Event” means for any jurisdiction, the commencement by a Governmental Authority,
against any financial institution (including any Bank Partner), any Credit Party or any other company similar to a financial
institution or any Bank Partner, of a proceeding alleging in substance that the law of the borrower’s state governs applicable
licensing or interest rates with respect to loans made by a federally insured financial institution to borrowers in such
jurisdiction, which, in each case, the Administrative Agent determines, in its sole discretion, could reasonably be expected to
have a material adverse effect on Receivables originated pursuant to a Bank Partner Program; provided, that, in each case,
upon the favorable resolution of such proceeding (whether by judgment, withdrawal of such proceeding or settlement of
such proceeding), as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion and confirmed by written notice from the
Administrative Agent, such Bank Partner Regulatory Trigger Event for such jurisdiction shall cease to exist immediately upon
such determination by the Administrative Agent. It is understood and agreed that the jurisdiction of a Bank Partner
Regulatory Trigger Event is the entire United States if the applicable Governmental Authority is a federal authority.

“Bankruptcy Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code, as amended from time to time, and the Rules
thereunder, as amended from time to time.

“Bankruptcy Event” with respect to a Person, shall be deemed to have occurred if either:

(i)    a case or other proceeding shall be commenced, without the application or consent of such Person, in any
court seeking the liquidation, reorganization, debt arrangement, dissolution, winding up, or composition
or readjustment of debts of such Person under the Bankruptcy Code, the appointment of a trustee,
receiver, custodian, liquidator, sequestrator or the like for such Person or for all or substantially all of its
assets, or any similar action with respect to such Person under the Bankruptcy Code or any similar
Governmental Rules relating to bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization, and such case or proceeding
shall continue undismissed or unstayed, and in effect, for a period of sixty (60) consecutive days; or an
order for relief in respect of such Person shall be entered in an involuntary case under the Bankruptcy
Code or other similar laws now or hereafter in effect, or

(ii)    an order for relief in respect of such Person shall be entered in a voluntary case under the Bankruptcy
Code, or any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, or other similar Governmental Rules
now or hereafter in effect, or such Person shall consent to the appointment of or taking possession by a
receiver, liquidator, assignee for the benefit of creditors, trustee, custodian, sequestrator (or other
similar official) for such Person or for all or substantially all of its assets, or shall make any general
assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail to, or admit in writing its inability to, pay its debts
generally as they become due, or, if a



corporation or similar entity, its board of directors shall vote to implement any of the foregoing.

“Basic Documents” means, collectively, this Agreement, the Promissory Notes, the Security Documents, any
Guaranty, the Management Fee Subordination Agreement and the Intercreditor Agreements, in each case, as amended,
amended and restated, and in effect from time to time.

“BMO Indebtedness” means Indebtedness of the Borrower in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $[***] at
any time outstanding owing to BMO Harris Bank N.A. or its Affiliates, or any other lenders party to that certain Credit
Agreement, dated as of August 13, 2018, among the Borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto and BMO Harris
Bank N.A., as administrative agent, as it may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

“BMO Intercreditor” means that certain Subordination and Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of the Fifth Amendment
Effective Date, by and between BMO Harris Bank N.A. and Administrative Agent.

“Borrower” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Recitals.

“Borrowing Base” means as of any Determination Date, an amount equal to the sum of (a) the applicable Advance
Rate as of such date multiplied by the unpaid principal balance of Eligible Receivables owned by the Approved Subsidiary
SPV Borrowers, plus (b) the applicable Advance Rate as of such date multiplied by the unpaid principal balance of
unencumbered Eligible Receivables plus (c) the aggregate amount of cash held in the Facility Reserve Account (for the
avoidance of doubt, Borrower may, at its option, elect to deposit cash into the Facility Reserve Account at any time in order
to increase Borrowing Base availability; provided that, any amounts deposited may only be withdrawn by Borrower pursuant
to Section 2.07(b) of this Agreement), minus (d) the aggregate outstanding principal balances under any Approved SPV
Facilities, minus (e) the amount of accrued but unpaid expenses (including any servicing fees and other fees, amounts or
indemnity obligations (to the extent a claim for such amount has been asserted in accordance with the terms of any
Approved SPV Facility) due and payable by the Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers under any Approved SPV Facilities),
interest and fees due and payable by the Borrowers and/or the Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers pursuant to the Basic
Documents, the Receivables Documents and any Approved SPV Facilities as of the next respective payment date, in each
case, solely to the extent no reserve exists for these amounts in the Basic Documents, the Receivables Documents or the
Approved SPV Facilities, as applicable.

“Borrowing Base Certificate” means a Borrowing Base Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit G hereto.

“Business Combination Agreement” means that certain Business Combination Agreement, dated as of February 9,
2021, by and among FG New America Acquisition Corp., a Delaware corporation, the Company, OppFi Shares, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company



and Todd Schwartz, as the Members’ Representative, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time
to time.

“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York,
New York are authorized or required by Governmental Rules to remain closed.; provided, with respect to all notices,
determinations, fundings and payments in connection with the Term SOFR Rate, the term “Business Day” shall mean any
day which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its
members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in United States government securities.

“Capital Community” means Capital Community Bank.

“Capital Community Accounts” means the deposit or bank accounts held in the name of Borrower or OppWin at
Capital Community or any other depository institution, in each case, that has been pledged to and is under control of or
subject to an account control agreement in favor of Capital Community as security for the Company’s and OppWin’s
obligations to Capital Community under the Capital Community Program Agreement.

“Capital Community Program Agreement” means that certain Loan Participation Agreement, dated as of August 10,
2020, by and between Capital Community and OppWin, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time.

“Capital Lease Obligations” of any Person means the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under
any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which
obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP,
and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP; provided
that the adoption or issuance of any accounting standards after the Closing Date will not cause any lease that was not or
would not have been a capital lease under GAAP prior to such adoption or issuance to be deemed a capital lease.

“Cash” means money, currency or a credit balance in any demand or deposit account.

“Cash Management Bank” means Pacific Western Bank or any other bank or financial institution holding the Waterfall
Account reasonably acceptable to Administrative Agent, and, following the occurrence and during the continuation of an
Event of Default, any other such bank or financial institution as selected by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion.

“CFPB” means the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, and its successors and assigns.

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of any of the following, other than, in each case in connection with the
SPAC Transaction:



(a)    any transaction or series of related transactions resulting in the sale or issuance of securities
or any rights to securities of the Company by the Company or any holder or holders thereof
(other than transfers to any Person who is, as of the date hereof, an equity holder, or holder of
rights to equity, of or in the Company, or any of their respective Affiliates) representing in the
aggregate more than fifty percent (50%) of the issued and outstanding voting securities of the
Company (or more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting power), on a fully-diluted basis;

(b)    a merger, consolidation, reorganization, recapitalization or share exchange resulting in the
equity-holders of the Company immediately prior to such transaction or any of their Affiliates
ceasing to hold, in the aggregate, more than fifty percent (50%) of the equity securities,
calculated on a fully diluted basis, of the resulting corporation or entity entitled to vote in the
election of directors (or comparable persons) thereof; or

(c)    a sale, transfer or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company and
its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, except as contemplated by the Basic Documents, the
Receivables Documents or the Program Agreement.

“Charged-Off Receivable” means, with respect to any Determination Date, a Receivable with respect to which the
earlier of any of the following shall have occurred (without duplication): (a) a Scheduled Receivable Payment under such
Receivable is [***] or more Days Past Due, (b) the Servicer has otherwise determined, in accordance with the Servicing
Policy, that the related Receivable is uncollectible or should be charged-off, (c) the related Obligor is deceased, (d) Net
Liquidation Proceeds have been received that, in the Servicer’s good faith judgment, constitute the final amounts
recoverable in respect of such Receivable, (e) the Servicer, the Originator or OppWin has determined that the Obligor has
committed fraud in connection with the related contract or (f) the related Obligor is subject to a Bankruptcy Event.

“Closing Date” means the date on which the conditions specified in Section 4.01 are satisfied (or waived in
accordance with Section 11.02).

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

“Collateral” means, collectively, all “Collateral”, as and to the full extent such term is defined in each of the Security
Documents.

“Collection Period” means, (a) with respect to the initial Payment Date, the period beginning on the Closing Date and
ending on the last day of the calendar month after the month in which the Closing Date occurs, and (b) with respect to any
other Payment Date, the immediately preceding calendar month.



“Collections” means all Cash collections on the Receivables, including, without limitation, all Scheduled Receivable
Payments, all non-scheduled payments, all prepayments, all late fees, all NSF fees, all other fees, Net Insurance Proceeds,
all Net Liquidation Proceeds, investment earnings, residual proceeds, payments received under any personal guaranty with
respect to a Receivable, any amounts deposited by Borrower into the Facility Reserve Account, including to make a
Required Deficiency Deposit in accordance with Section 2.07(b), and all other payments received with respect to the
Receivables, but excluding (x) sales and property tax payments and (y) with respect to the Bank Partner Receivables, any
amounts owed to the Bank Partner on account of any participation interest retained by the Bank Partner.

“Company Operating Agreement” means that certain Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of
Opportunity Financial, LLC, dated as of December 4, 2015, as amended, supplemented, restated or otherwise modified from
time to time in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

“Consolidated Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratio” means, as of any date of determination, with respect to the
Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, (a)(i) all Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness described in clause
(h) of such definition) of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis divided by (b) Tangible Net Worth for the
immediately preceding twelve month period.

“Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” means, with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis during the calculation period, the quotient of (a)(i) EBITDA for such period, plus (ii) any non-cash loss
provision expenses in excess of the actual principal charge-offs during such period, minus (iii) capital expenditures during
such period and (b) the total amount of cash interest expense (including, without limitation, interest expense due under the
Agreement, the Approved SPV Facilities, and other Permitted Indebtedness).

“Control Agreements” means, individually and collectively, account control agreements between the respective
account holder, depository bank and Administrative Agent, granting Administrative Agent springing control or full dominion
over each Deposit Account (other than the Excluded Accounts), as applicable, in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to Administrative Agent, as each may be modified, amended or restated from time to time.

“Credit Extension Date” means any date on which an Advance is made to the Borrower hereunder.

“Credit Party” shall mean individually, each Borrower and each Guarantor and “Credit Parties” shall mean, collectively,
the Borrowers and Guarantors.

“Credit Policies” shall mean the credit criteria and policies regarding Receivables of Originator, as set forth on Exhibit
H, as such exhibit may be updated from time to time pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

“Credit Protection Laws” means all federal, state and local laws in respect of the business of extending credit to
borrowers, including without limitation, the Truth in Lending Act (and



Regulation M promulgated thereunder), Equal Credit Opportunity Act, Fair Credit Reporting Act, Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act, Gramm-Leach-Bliley Financial Privacy Act, Financial Institutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Act of
1989, as amended, all rules and regulations issued by the CFPB, Dodd–Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act, anti-discrimination and fair lending laws, laws relating to servicing procedures or maximum charges and rates of
interest, and other similar laws, each to the extent applicable, and all applicable regulations in respect of any of the
foregoing.

“Days Past Due” means, as of any Determination Date and with respect to any Receivable that is not marked as
current in the Loan Database, the number of calendar days elapsed since the contractual due date of the earliest Scheduled
Receivables Payment that has not been received from the related Obligor.

“Default” means any event or condition which constitutes an Event of Default or which, upon notice, lapse of time or
both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

“Defaulting Lender” means, subject to Section 2.04(e), any Lender that has failed to (a) fund its Pro Rata Share of any
Advance on the date such funding was required to be made in accordance with Section 2.04(a), or (b) pay to the
Administrative Agent, any other Lender, or their respective Affiliates, any other amount in excess of $[***] required to be paid
by it hereunder within fifteen (15) calendar days of the date when due. Any determination by the Administrative Agent that a
Lender is a Defaulting Lender under either or both of clauses (a) or (b) above shall be conclusive and binding absent
manifest error.

“Delinquent Receivable” means, with respect to any Determination Date, a Receivable with respect to which the
related Obligor is more than [***] Days Past Due with respect to more than [***]% of a Scheduled Receivable Payment and
which is not a Charged-Off Receivable.

“Deposit Account” means, individually and collectively, each of (a) the Operating Account, (b) the Waterfall Account,
(c) the Facility Reserve Account and (d) any other present or future deposit accounts of Borrower or any Guarantor.

“Designated Depository Institution” means Pacific Western Bank, or any other depository institution insured by the
Bank Insurance Fund, National Credit Union Administration or the Savings Association Insurance Fund of the FDIC,
approved in writing by the Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion.

“Determination Date” means any date of determination hereunder.

“Disqualified Institution” means a Person (i) and its Subsidiaries engaged principally and directly, through its own
operations or operations of any of its Affiliates, in (x) the business of originating receivables substantially similar to the
Receivables or (y) any other business that competes with a material business line, now existing or hereafter commenced, of
Borrower or its Subsidiaries or (ii) identified on Schedule IV hereto; provided, that no Affiliate of Administrative Agent shall be
a Disqualified Institution.



“Dollars” or “$” refers to lawful money of the United States of America.

    “EBITDA” shall mean for any period with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, the sum of
(a) net income (or loss) for such period (excluding (i) any extraordinary, non-recurring or other one-time gain or loss in an
amount not to exceed [***], of the trailing twelve month EBITDA of the Company and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated
basis, in the aggregate during any twelve (12) month period, attributable to restitutions, fines, settlements and/or similar
payments, and (ii) other extraordinary gains and losses determined by the Company and approved by Administrative Agent
in its Permitted Discretion), plus (b) all interest expense for such period, plus (c) all charges against income for such period
for federal, state and local taxes, plus (d) depreciation expenses for such period, plus (e) amortization expenses for such
period, plus (if a positive number, while if a negative number, such amounts shall be subtracted) (f) the ‘additional provision’
expense line item, plus or minus (if a positive change, such amounts shall be added, and if a negative change, such
amounts shall be subtracted) (g) the aggregate change in fair value of SPAC Warrants liability, plus (h) transaction costs
and expenses incurred in connection with the SPAC Transaction in an aggregate amount not to exceed $[***], plus (i) stock
or (or other Equity Interest) based compensation, plus (j) severance costs and expenses paid in cash solely to the extent
such payments were made (x) in the six calendar months most recently ended as of such date of determination of EBITDA,
and (y) on or prior to December 31, 2022, in connection with the departure of directors, executive officers and other
management of the Company; provided, the amount added back for any period pursuant to this clause (j) shall not exceed
$[***] in the aggregate for any applicable period.

“Eleventh Amendment Effective Date” means May 30, 2024.

“Eligible Assignee” means any Person that meets the following requirements: (i) such Person is not a Defaulting
Lender or any of its Affiliates, or any Person who, upon becoming a Lender hereunder would constitute a Defaulting Lender
or an Affiliate of a Defaulting Lender; (ii) such Person is not a natural Person (or a holding company, investment vehicle or
trust for, or owned and operated for the primary benefit of a natural Person); and (iii) such Person is not a Disqualified
Institution.

“Eligible Deposit Account” means a demand deposit account maintained with a Designated Depository Institution.

“Eligible Obligor” means, with respect to any Receivable, an Obligor that (a) is not subject to a Bankruptcy Event, (b)
has a valid social security number and holds a valid driver’s license or other acceptable form of identification issued by a
state or federal government, (c) is not an employee, or affiliated with any employee of any Originator or any of their
respective Affiliates, (d) is domiciled in the United States (as evidenced by proof of residency), (e) is a natural person, (f) is
not deceased and (g) has not committed fraud in connection with any the origination of the applicable Receivable.

“Eligible Receivable” means those Receivables that meet, as of any Determination Date, all of the following
requirements:



(a)    Such Receivable represents a legal, valid binding obligation of an Eligible Obligor;

(b)    Such Receivable is denominated in U.S. Dollars;

(c)    Such Receivable exists under a fully executed contract between the Originator and the Obligor, a copy of
which the Administrative Agent has view-access to on the Originator’s website or other data portal;

(d)    Such Receivable has been originated by the Originator, in accordance with the Credit Policies and was not
originated pursuant to a material change to the Credit Policies which was not reviewed and approved in writing
by the Administrative Agent;

(e)    Except with respect to a Bank Partner Receivable, no credit services organization participated in the
origination of such Receivable;

(f)    Such Receivable has been serviced by the applicable Servicer, in accordance with the Servicing Policy and
has not been serviced pursuant to a material change to the Servicing Policy which was not reviewed and
approved in writing by the Administrative Agent;

(g)    The related Obligor’s income has been verified and, if such income includes employment income, such
Obligor’s employment status was also verified at the time the contract relating to such Receivable was
executed, in each case, in accordance with the Credit Policies;

(h)    Such Receivable was not originated in connection with the refinancing of a previous loan to the related
Obligor, which such Obligor was unable to pay;

(i)    Except with respect to a Bank Partner Receivable, such Receivable is either (i) owned by Borrower and
Administrative Agent has, subject to any Permitted Liens, a perfected first-priority Lien over such Receivable or
(ii) is owned by an Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower, free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens)
and, to the extent Administrative Agent has not been granted a first priority pledge with respect to the
Company, the Equity Interests have been pledged to Administrative Agent as Collateral security for the
Obligations;

(j)    Such Receivable provides for an APR of not less than [***]% or (other than with respect to the Bank Partner
Receivables) not more than the maximum allowable APR in the applicable Obligor’s state of residence;

(k)    Such Receivable had an unpaid principal balance (including any Origination Fees) at the time of origination
of not greater than $[***];



(l)    Such Receivable is either (i) fully amortizing over its term, and payable in equal scheduled installments
without a bullet payment at its maturity or (ii) is related to a line of credit extended to an Obligor;

(m)    The original term to maturity of such Receivable is not greater than twenty four (24) months;

(n)    With respect to each Line of Credit Receivable, the minimum payment of such Receivable will amortize
the entire original unpaid principal balance of such Receivable in less than twenty four (24) months;

(o)    The term to maturity of such Receivables has not been extended by the applicable Servicer for more than
one hundred and eighty (180) days;

(p)    As of the Credit Extension Date on which such Receivable was first reflected in a Borrowing Base Certificate
furnished in connection with an Advance, the related Obligor was not past due with respect to any portion of a
Scheduled Receivable Payment;

(q)    The related Obligor (i) made the first Scheduled Receivable Payment when due or (ii) failed to make the first
Scheduled Receivable Payment when due, but subsequently made two Scheduled Receivable Payments on
or prior to the date on which the second Scheduled Receivable Payment was due;

(r)    Such Receivable is not a Charged-Off Receivable or a Delinquent Receivable;

(s)    Such Receivable was either (i) originated prior to August 24, 2016, or (ii) has an associated Opportunity
Financial Score;

(t)    Such Receivable was originated in an Approved State or, with respect to a Bank Partner Receivable, in an
Approved Bank Partner State;

(u)    No Regulatory Trigger Event has occurred and is continuing in the jurisdiction in which such Receivable was
originated or the jurisdiction in which the Obligor resides;

(v)    The terms, conditions and provisions of such Receivable (i) have not been amended, modified, restructured
or waived except in accordance with the Credit Policies and (ii) have not been the subject of a Material
Modification (other than an extension of the term to maturity as disclosed to the Administrative Agent);

(w)    Each document required to be delivered to the Servicer, as custodian, pursuant to the Servicing Agreement
has been delivered to the Servicer and all other steps necessary to maintain the Administrative Agent’s or
applicable Approved SPV Agent’s first priority perfected security interest in such Receivable have been taken;



(x)    Such Receivable is non-cancelable and unconditional, and is not subject to, nor has there been asserted,
any litigation or any right of rescission (except with respect to Receivables originated to Obligors in Nevada),
setoff, counterclaim or other defense of the related Obligor;

(y)    Such Receivable is not evidenced by a judgment and has not been reduced to judgment;

(z)    Such Receivable (i) was created, solicited, entered into and serviced in compliance with all applicable
requirements of law, including, without limitation, the relevant laws of each Approved State and each Approved
Bank Partner State and (ii) exists in compliance with all applicable requirements of law and pursuant to a
contract that complies with all applicable requirements of law. For the avoidance of doubt, when used in this
clause (z) “compliance with all applicable requirements of law” means such Receivable was created, solicited,
entered into, serviced and exists in conformity with each law, treaty, rule, regulation, guidance, guideline,
directive or determination of an arbitrator or a court or other Governmental Authority, in each case, applicable
to or binding upon any relevant Person or any of its property or to which such Person or any of its property is
subject, including, without limitation, where any applicable local, state or federal law provides for or could
reasonably be construed to provide for a less onerous or restrictive standard than others and whether or not
such opposing standards are being properly contested, challenged or otherwise litigated.

(aa)    Such Receivable was not originated under the laws of a native American sovereign nation;

(bb)    The contract and any other documents related to such Receivable do not prohibit the sale, transfer or
assignment of such Receivable;

(cc)    Such Receivable has not been selected for conveyance to Borrower in a manner adverse to Borrower, the
Approved SPV Agents, Administrative Agent or any Lender;

(dd)    Such Receivable represents the undisputed, bona fide transaction created by the lending of money by the
Originator in the ordinary course of business and completed in accordance with the terms and provisions
contained in the related contract;

(ee)    Such Receivable constitutes a “payment intangible” or “instrument” (each as defined in the UCC);

(ff)    There are no proceedings or investigations pending or threatened (in writing) before any Governmental
Authority having jurisdiction over the related Obligor or its properties: (i) asserting the invalidity of the related
Receivable, or (ii) seeking any determination or ruling that, if determined adversely to such Obligor,



could materially and adversely affect the validity or enforceability of the related Receivable;

(gg)    The unpaid principal balance of such Receivable is due and owing and has not been repaid in full or
otherwise discharged in whole or in part;

(hh)    With respect to any Receivable originated pursuant to a Bank Partner Program, no Bank Partner
Regulatory Trigger Event shall have occurred and be continuing in the jurisdiction in which such Bank Partner
Regulatory Trigger EventReceivable was originated or the jurisdiction in which the Obligor resides; and

(ii)    If such Receivable was randomly selected by the Backup Servicer to be verified in accordance with the
requirements of the applicable Backup Servicing Agreement, imaged copies of each Verified Document (as defined in the
applicable Backup Servicing Agreement) related to such Receivable and the related Receivables Report (as defined in the
applicable Backup Servicing Agreement) have been delivered to the Backup Servicer and the Backup Servicer as completed
its verification of such Verified Documents and such Receivable pursuant to the terms of the applicable Backup Servicing
Agreement.

For the avoidance of doubt, subject to prior approval of the Bank Partner Program by Administrative Agent (which
approval shall include a complete regulatory review), Eligible Receivables shall include participation interests in Receivables
purchased by Borrower or Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers from Bank Partner that are originated in conjunction with the
Bank Partner Program.

“Equity Interests” shall mean, with respect to any Person, its equity ownership interests, its common stock and any
other capital stock or other equity ownership units of such Person authorized from time to time, and any other shares,
options, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of or in such Person, whether voting or
nonvoting, including, without limitation, common stock, options, warrants, preferred stock, phantom stock, membership units
(common or preferred), stock appreciation rights, membership unit appreciation rights, convertible notes or debentures,
stock purchase rights, membership unit purchase rights and all securities convertible, exercisable or exchangeable, in whole
or in part, into any one or more of the foregoing.

“ERISA” shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and the regulations
thereunder.

“ERISA Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) which is
treated as a single employer with such Person under Section 414 of the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA.

“Event of Default” has the meaning assigned to such term in Article IX.



“ESG Issue” means a finding by a judge, jury, regulatory or law enforcement agency that any Credit Party has
materially violated any law or regulation relating to: protection of the environment; worker safety; fair wages and working
conditions; collective bargaining; unlawful discrimination; child or forced labor; bribery or corruption; consumer, patient or
tenant protection or privacy; fair lending or fair debt collection practices; product or drug safety; or taxation.

“Excluded Accounts” means (a) the FinWise Accounts, FEB Accounts and the Capital Community Accounts and (b)
any Deposit Accounts, securities accounts or similar accounts owned by a Credit Party that are (i) zero balance accounts,
(ii) payroll accounts, (iii) withholding and trust accounts, (iv) escrow accounts (to the extent maintained exclusively by the
Credit Parties and their Subsidiaries) for the purpose of establishing or maintaining escrow amounts for third parties, (v)
employee benefit accounts, (vi) 401(k) accounts, (vii) pension fund accounts, (viii) tax withholding accounts, and (ix) at all
times prior to the earlier of (1) the date on which such account is transferred to a Subsidiary of the Company, and (2)
November 30, 2021 (or such later date agreed to by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion), the Company’s account
numbered 4751639741 maintained with Wells Fargo Bank, National Association.

“Excluded Subsidiary” means (x) with respect to any Guaranty, any Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower, and (y) with
respect to any Pledge Agreement, solely to the extent that Administrative Agent has been granted a first priority pledge of
the Equity Interests of the Company, any Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower; provided, that any pledge of the Equity
Interests of any Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower that does not constitute an Excluded Subsidiary shall be a second
priority pledge.

“Excluded Taxes ” means, with respect to a Recipient, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however
denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of such Recipient being
organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, in the case of any Lender, its applicable lending office located
in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the
case of a Lender, U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of each such Lender
with respect to an applicable interest in an Advance or Term Loan Commitment pursuant to law in effect on the date on
which (i) such Lender acquires such interest in the Advance or Term Loan Commitment or (ii) such Lender changes its
lending office, except in each case to the extent that, pursuant to Section 2.11, amounts with respect to such Taxes were
payable either to such Lender’s assignor immediately before such Lender became a party hereto or to such Lender
immediately before it changed its lending office, (c) Taxes attributable to such Recipient’s failure to comply with Section
2.11(f), (h) and (i), (d) Taxes imposed or withheld as a result of such Recipient not being a United States Person within the
meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code and (e) any U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.

“Existing SPV Borrowers” means Opportunity Funding SPE III, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Opportunity
Funding SPE V, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and Opportunity Funding SPE VI, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company.



“Facility Reserve Account” means that certain deposit account in the name of the Company maintained at the Cash
Management Bank with the account number ending in 1219, or such other Deposit Account designated from time to time by
Administrative Agent in a written notice to Borrower.

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or
successor version that is substantively comparable), any current or future Treasury regulations or other official
interpretations thereof, any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code as of the date of this
Agreement (or any amended or successor version described above) and any agreements or arrangements between the
United States or the United States Treasury Department and a foreign government or one or more agencies thereof to
implement the foregoing and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or official practices adopted pursuant to such
published intergovernmental agreement, treaty or convention.

“FDIC” means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and any successor thereto.

“FEB” means First Electronic Bank.

“FEB Accounts” means the deposit or bank accounts held in the name of Borrower or OppWin at FEB or any other
depository institution, in each case, that has been pledged to and is under control of or subject to an account control
agreement in favor of FEB as security for the Company’s and OppWin’s obligations to FEB under the FEB Program
Agreement.

“FEB Program Agreement” means that certain Program Marketing and Servicing Agreement, dated as of November
1, 2019, by and between FEB and the Company, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time.

“Federal Funds Effective Rate” means, for any day, the weighted average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next
1/100 of 1%) of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged
by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or,
if such rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next
1/100 of 1%) of the quotations for such day for such transactions received by the Administrative Agent from three Federal
funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it.

“Fifth Amendment Advance” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.022.01(b).

“Fifth Amendment Original Issue Discount” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.02(d)(ii).

“Fifth Amendment Effective Date” means March 23, 2021.

“Fifth Amendment Funding Date” means March 30, 2021.



“Financial Covenants” means the covenants set forth in Article VII.

“FinWise” means FinWise Bank.

“FinWise Accounts” means the deposit or bank accounts held in the name of Borrower or OppWin at FinWise or any
other depository institution, in each case, that has been pledged to and is under control of or subject to an account control
agreement in favor of FinWise as security for the Company’s and OppWin’s obligations to FinWise under the FinWise
Documents.

“FinWise Documents” means (a) the FinWise Program Agreement, and (b) the FinWise Purchase and Sale
Agreement, and the other documents related thereto.

“FinWise Program Agreement” means that certain Loan Program Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, by and
between FinWise and the Company, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“FinWise Purchase and Sale Agreement” means that certain Loan Receivable Sale Agreement, dated as of October
31, 2017, among FinWise, the Company and OppWin, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time.

“First Offer Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.15(a).

“Floor” means, initially (as of the Eleventh Amendment Effective Date), two percent (2.00%) per annum.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

“GLB Act” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.17.

“Governmental Actions” means any and all consents, approvals, permits, orders, authorizations, waivers, exceptions,
variances, exemptions or licenses of, or registrations, declarations or filings with, any Governmental Authority required under
any Governmental Rules.

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States of America, or of any other nation, or any
political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central
bank or other entity of the foregoing exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or
functions of or pertaining to government.

“Governmental Rules” means any and all laws, statutes, codes, rules, regulations, ordinances, orders, writs, decrees
and injunctions, of any Governmental Authority and any and all legally binding conditions, standards, prohibitions,
requirements and judgments of any Governmental Authority.



“Grant” means mortgage, pledge, bargain, sell, warrant, alienate, remise, release, convey, assign, transfer, create
and grant a lien upon and a security interest in and right of set-off against, deposit, set over and confirm pursuant to the
Security Documents. A Grant of the Collateral or of any other agreement or instrument shall include all rights, powers and
options (but none of the obligations) of the granting party thereunder, including the immediate and continuing right to claim
for, collect, receive and give receipt for principal and interest payments in respect of the Collateral and all other moneys
payable thereunder, to give and receive notices and other communications, to make waivers or other agreements, to
exercise all rights and options, to bring a Proceeding in the name of the granting party or otherwise, and generally to do and
receive anything that the granting party is or may be entitled to do or receive thereunder or with respect thereto.

“Guarantee” of or by any Person (the “guarantor”) means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor
guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the
“primary obligor”) in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or
indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other
obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the payment thereof, (b) to
purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or other
obligation of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or
liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation, or (d) as an
account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such Indebtedness or obligation;
provided, that, the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of
business.

“Guarantor” means each Subsidiary of the Company other than Excluded Subsidiaries that are not Borrowers.

“Guaranty” shall mean any senior secured guaranty of the Obligations executed by a Guarantor from time to time in
favor of Administrative Agent for its benefit and for the ratable benefit of Lenders, in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to Administrative Agent.

“Haircut Capital” means as to any future Receivables purchased by an Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower pursuant
to an Approved SPV Facility, the difference between (x) the amount advanced by the lenders under such Approved SPV
Facility with respect to such Receivables and (y) the sum of (i) the total purchase price paid by the applicable Originator to
purchase such Receivable at or after origination, and (ii) any origination costs and expenses in connection therewith.

“Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (b)
all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such
Person (other than trade payables incurred in the ordinary course of business) upon which interest charges are customarily
paid, (d) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to property acquired
by such Person, (e) all obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred



purchase price of property or services (excluding accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business which are not
more than sixty (60) days past due), (f) all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness
has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person,
whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed (in which case non-recourse Indebtedness, for the
purpose of this clause (f), shall be limited to the fair market value of the property subject to such Lien), (g) all Guarantees by
such Person of Indebtedness of others, (h) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (i) all obligations, contingent or
otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty, and (j) all obligations,
contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers’ acceptances. The Indebtedness of any Person shall include
the Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership in which such Person is a general partner) to the extent such
Person is liable therefor as a result of such Person’s ownership interest in or other relationship with such entity, except to
the extent the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor.

“Indemnified Party” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.03(c).

“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made
by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower under a Basic Document and (b) to the extent not otherwise described in
(a), Other Taxes.

“Indemnifying Party” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.03(c).

“Indemnitee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.03(b).

“Independent Auditors” shall mean RSM US LLP or any other nationally-recognized accounting firm that is mutually
agreeable to Administrative Agent and Borrower.

“Intellectual Property Security Agreement” means any intellectual property security agreement, executed by Borrower
and/or Guarantor in favor of the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders, as amended or modified from time to
time in accordance with the terms thereof and this Agreement.

“Intercreditor Agreement” means (a) the Ares Intercreditor, (b) the BMO Intercreditor, and (c) any other intercreditor
agreement executed by and among Administrative Agent and any other Persons.

“Interest Rate” means the LIBORAdjusted Term SOFR Rate plus ten percent (10.00%).

“Key Man Trigger Event” shall occur at any time when [***] are no longer employed by the Company; provided that to
the extent [***] holds the title of “director” the employment requirement of this definition with respect to [***] only shall be
satisfied; provided, further that, following the departure of any of the Persons in this definition, the Company will have ninety
(90) calendar days to appoint a new officer to the Company that is approved by Administrative Agent in its Permitted
Discretion (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld) before a Key Man Trigger Event shall have been deemed to
occur.



“Lenders” means the Persons listed on Schedule I and any other Person that shall have become a party hereto
pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption, other than any such Person that ceases to be a Lender hereunder pursuant to
an Assignment and Assumption.

“LIBOR Rate” means the rate per annum rounded upwards, if necessary, to the nearest 1/1000 of one percent
(1.00%) (3 decimal places) equal to the rate of interest which is identified and normally published by Bloomberg Professional
Service page USD-LIBOR-ICE (or any equivalent page used by Bloomberg Professional Service from time to time or, if
Bloomberg Professional Service no longer reports the rate referred to in the foregoing, another nationally-recognized rate
reporting source acceptable to Administrative Agent) as the offered rate for loans in Dollars for a one (1) month period. The
rate referred to above will be determined as of approximately 11:00 a.m. (London, England time) two (2) Business Days prior
to the first day of each calendar month. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the LIBOR Rate be less than two
percent (2.00%) at any time.

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance,
charge or security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale
agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect
as any of the foregoing) relating to such asset, and (c) in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a
third party with respect to such securities.

“Line of Credit Receivable” means each Receivable arising from a line of credit extended to an Obligor.

“Liquidity” means, as of any date of determination, (i) unrestricted cash and cash equivalents deposited in Deposit
Accounts which are subject to a Control Agreement, plus (ii) an amount equal to [***]% of the unpaid principal balance of
unencumbered Eligible Receivables owned by Borrower or a Guarantor, plus (iii) solely to the extent such date occurs
during the period from and including March 1, 2022 through July 31, 2022, the aggregate amount of committed funds
available to be drawn, and for which all conditions precedent to such draw will be satisfied upon the delivery of a draw
request, by an Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower under an Approved SPV Facility.

“Loan Database” means the databases, platforms and systems maintained by the Servicer with respect to the
Receivables, which provides, on a loan-by-loan basis, up-to-date information regarding all activities with respect to the
Receivables, including but not limited to originations, payments, charge-offs and recoveries.

“Lockout Period COC Additional Interest Amount” means (a) $10,500,000.00, minus (b) the sum of the amounts of
interest paid by Borrower pursuant to Section 2.09(a) from the Fifth Amendment Funding Date through the payoff date.

“Management Fee Agreement” means that certain Management Fee Agreement, dated as of August 13, 2020, by and
between Borrower and SCG.



“Management Fee Subordination Agreement” means that certain Management Fee Subordination Agreement among
Administrative Agent, Borrower and SCG, with respect to the management fees payable by Borrowers to SCG, pursuant to
the Management Fee Agreement and as in Section 6.01(n), in form and substance satisfactory to Administrative Agent, as
the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Material Adverse Effect” means (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect upon, the business,
assets, operations or financial condition of Borrower and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (b) a material impairment of the
ability of the Borrower or any of the Guarantors to perform any of their respective material obligations under this Agreement
or any of the other Basic Documents to which it is a party, or (c) a material adverse effect upon the rights of, or benefits
available to, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders under this Agreement or any of the other Basic Documents.

“Material Modification” means, with respect to the Receivables, any modification of a contract that would (a) forgive
any scheduled repayment, (b) reduce the interest rate, (c) reduce the unpaid principal balance of the Receivable, or (d) be
materially adverse to Administrative Agent and the Lenders.

“Material Term” means, with respect to any agreement evidencing Indebtedness, any terms or provisions governing
or setting forth the mechanics with respect to the following (including, without limitation, any applicable definitions, exhibits
and schedules):

1.    (a) the aggregate principal loan or commitment amount with respect to such Indebtedness;

2.    (b) the applicable interest or the fees with respect to such Indebtedness;

3 .    (c) the applicable payment schedule (including principal, interest and/or fees) with respect to such
Indebtedness;

4.    (d) the collateral provided as security for any such Indebtedness;

5 .    (e) any additional credit support (including, without limitation, any guaranty or indemnity agreement)
provided by the applicable debtor or its Affiliates with respect to any such Indebtedness;

6.    (f) any provisions related to the priority of payments or lien priority with respect to such Indebtedness; or

7 .    (g) the definition of “advance rate”, “borrowing base” or any similar definition with respect to such
Indebtedness.

“Maturity Date” means the four year anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date.

“Maximum Loan Amount” shall mean a principal amount equal to $50,000,000.



“Minimum Tangible Net Worth” shall mean, as of any date of determination, an amount equal to the sum of (i) $[***]
and (ii) the greater of (x) zero and (y) the product of (a) [***] and (b) the difference between (A) the cumulative amount of
pre-tax income generated by the Company on a consolidated basis since December 31, 2020 and (B) the cumulative
amount of (1) Tax Distributions made since December 31, 2020, plus (2) cash Taxes paid directly by the Company since
December 31, 2020.

“Monthly Covenant Report” means a monthly collateral and performance report substantially in the form of Exhibit F
hereto.

“Monthly Vintage Pool” means, each pool of Receivables originated by an Originator during any calendar month;
provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, any Receivable that is subsequently sold or repurchased, shall remain in the
applicable Monthly Vintage Pool(s) notwithstanding such sale or repurchase.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., or any successor thereto.

“Net Insurance Proceeds” means an amount equal to: (a) any Cash payments or proceeds received by the Borrower
or the Servicer in respect of any covered loss under any policy of insurance specified in Section 5.07(b), minus (b) any
actual and reasonable costs and expenses incurred or to be incurred by the Borrower or the Servicer in connection with the
adjustment or settlement of any claims of the Borrower or the Servicer in respect thereof.

“Net Liquidation Proceeds” means, all amounts received in connection with a Receivable after such Receivable was
first identified as a Charged-Off Receivable, minus the reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Servicer in
connection with the collection of such Receivable, including reasonable collection agency fees and the reasonable cost of
legal counsel in connection with the enforcement of such Receivable; provided, however, that the “Net Liquation Proceeds”
with respect to any Receivable shall not be less than zero.

“Non-Call Period” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.07.

“Non-Defaulting Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.04(b).

“NPI” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.17.

“Obligations” means all present and future indebtedness, loans, advances, costs, debts, liabilities and other liabilities
and obligations (of any kind or nature, howsoever created, arising or evidenced, whether direct or indirect, absolute or
contingent, or due or to become due) of the Borrower to the Lenders or the Administrative Agent arising under this
Agreement, or under any other Basic Document including, without limitation, all liability for principal of and interest on the
Advances, additional interest, fees incurred pursuant to Section 2.08, fees incurred pursuant to Section 5.04, fees payable in
connection with an extension of the Term Loan Termination Date, expense reimbursements, indemnifications and other
amounts due or to become due by the Borrower to the Lenders or the Administrative Agent under this Agreement, the
Promissory Notes and/or any other Basic Document, including all expenses of Lenders or the Administrative



Agent payable pursuant to Section 11.03 and all obligations of Borrower to Administrative Agent or Lenders to perform acts
or refrain from taking any action in connection with the Basic Documents, and shall include, with respect to each of the
foregoing, interest, fees and other obligations that accrue after maturity, or after the filing of any petition in bankruptcy, or the
commencement of any insolvency, reorganization or like proceeding relating to the Borrower or any Guarantor, whether or
not a claim for post-filing or post-petition interest, fees, or other amounts is allowed in such proceeding, whether or not
evidenced by any note, guaranty or other instrument, whether or not for the payment of money, whether arising by reason of
an extension of credit, opening of a letter of credit, loan, equipment lease, guarantee, or in any other manner, whether
arising out of overdrafts or deposit or other accounts or electronic funds transfers (whether through automated clearing
houses or otherwise) or out of the Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s non-receipt of or inability to collect funds or
otherwise not being made whole in connection with any depository transfer, check or other similar arrangements, whether
direct or indirect (including those acquired by assignment or participation), joint or several, due or to become due, now
existing or hereafter arising, regardless of how such indebtedness or liabilities arise or by what agreement or instrument
they may be evidenced.

“Obligor” means, with respect to any Receivable, the person or persons obligated to make payments with respect to
such Receivable, including any guarantor thereof but excluding any merchant.

“OFAC” shall mean the U.S. Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Asset Control.

“Officer’s Certificate” means a certificate signed by any Authorized Officer of the Borrower or Guarantor.

“OpCo Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratio” means, as of any Determination Date, the quotient of (x) the outstanding
principal amounts of Advances as of such date divided by (y) Tangible Net Worth as of such date.

“Operating Account” means that certain deposit account in the name of Borrower maintained at Bank of America, N.A.
with the account number ending in 2806, or such other deposit account designated from time to time by Borrower in a written
notice to Administrative Agent.

“Opportunity Financial Score” means the internal credit score assigned to an Obligor by the Company in accordance
with the Credit Policies.

“OppWin” means OppWin, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

“Original Issue Discount” shall have the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.02(d).

“Origination Fees” means a prepaid finance charge that is either paid by the Obligor at the time of origination,
withheld from the proceeds included in the unpaid principal balance of a Receivable or paid by the Obligor over the term of
the Receivable in accordance with the contract.



“Originator” means the Company, Bank Partner or any other originator approved by Administrative Agent in its
Permitted Discretion (which approval shall be subject to external counsel and regulatory review).

“Other Connection Taxes” means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or former
connection between such Recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from such
Recipient having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under,
received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Basic
Document, or sold or assigned an interest in any Advance or Basic Document).

“Other Taxes ” means any and all present or future stamp or documentary Taxes arising from any payment made
under this Agreement or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, any Basic Document,
except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment.

“Participant” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.04(c).

“Participant Register” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.04(c).

“Payment Date” means (i) prior to the Second Amendment Effective Date, the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each
calendar month (or, if any such day is not a Business Day, the next succeeding Business Day), the first of which shall be the
first such day after the Closing Date, (ii) from and after the Second Amendment Effective Date, the third (3rd) Business Day
of each calendar month and (iii) the Term Loan Termination Date.

“Perfection Certificate” means the Perfection Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit I to the Security
Agreement.

“Permitted Discretion” means a determination or judgment made in good faith in the exercise of commercially
reasonable (from the perspective of a secured lender) credit or business judgment.

“Permitted Full Recourse SPV Facility” means each Approved SPV Facility that (a) has recourse to the Borrower, (b)
which is provided by a bank or other financial institution and (c) has an advance rate no greater than eighty-five percent
(85%); provided, however, that any Approved SPV Facility that only has indemnity related recourse shall not qualify as a
Permitted Full Recourse SPV Facility hereunder (regardless of whether such indemnity guaranty contains any full recourse
triggers).

“Permitted Indebtedness” means:

(i)    the Obligations;

(ii)    any Indebtedness existing as of the date hereof and listed on Schedule 1.01 hereof;



(iii)    Indebtedness of OppWin solely to the extent required to comply with its obligations under the FinWise
Documents;

(iv)    Indebtedness in respect of the Approved SPV Facilities and Purchase and Sale Agreements;

(v)    [Reserved];

(vi)    [Reserved];

(vii)    Indebtedness which represents extensions, renewals, refinancings or replacements (such Indebtedness
being so extended, renewed, refinanced or replaced being referred to herein as the “Refinance
Indebtedness”) of any of the Indebtedness described in clauses (i) through (vi) above (such Indebtedness,
the “Original Indebtedness”), provided that (x) such extension, renewal, refinancing or replacement shall not
increase the principal amount of the Original Indebtedness, and (y) if such Original Indebtedness was
subordinated to the Obligations, then such Refinance Indebtedness must be subject to subordination terms
and conditions that are at least as favorable to the Administrative Agent and Lenders as those that were
applicable to the Original Indebtedness;

(viii)    purchase money Indebtedness and Capital Lease Obligations of the Borrower in an aggregate principal
amount not to exceed $[***] in the aggregate at any one time outstanding;

(ix)    obligations of the BorrowerCredit Parties arising out of interest rate, foreign currency, and commodity
hedging agreements entered into with financial institutions in connection with bona fide hedging activities in
the ordinary course of business and not for speculative purposes;

(x)     guarantees of Indebtedness under Permitted Full Recourse SPV Facilities;

(xi)    endorsement of items for deposit or collection of commercial paper received in the ordinary course of
business;

(xii)    Indebtedness in respect of (i) workers’ compensation claims, unemployment insurance and other types
of social security and employee health and disability benefits, or casualty-liability insurance, payment
obligations in connection with self-insurance or similar requirements, and (ii) tenders, completion
guarantees, statutory obligations, surety, environmental or appeal bonds, bids, leases, government
contracts, contracts (other than for borrowed money), performance bonds or other obligations of a like
nature;

(x i i i )    to the extent constituting Indebtedness, Indebtedness arising from agreements of the BorrowerCredit
Parties providing for the indemnification,



adjustment of purchase price, earn-out, royalty, milestone or similar obligations, in each case assumed with
the acquisition or disposition of any business or Person permitted hereunder;

(xiv)    Indebtedness incurred by the Borrowerany Credit Party consisting of the financing of insurance
premiums in the ordinary course of business in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $[***] at any
time;

(xv)    Indebtedness incurred in the ordinary course of business in respect of netting services, overdraft
protections, employee credit card programs and other similar services in connection with cash
management and deposit accounts, Indebtedness in connection with drafts payable for payroll and other
ordinary course expense items, and Indebtedness owed to depository banks for returned items incurred in
the ordinary course of business;

(xvi)    to the extent constituting Indebtedness, Indebtedness representing any taxes, assessments or
governmental charges to the extent such taxes are being contested in good faith and adequate reserves
have been provided therefor in conformity with GAAP; and

(xvii)    unsecured indebtedness of the BorrowerCredit Parties not otherwise permitted by this Section in an
aggregate principal amount not to exceed $[***] at any one time outstanding.

“Permitted Investments” means each of the following:

(i)    direct general obligations of the United States or the obligations of any agency or instrumentality of
the United States fully and unconditionally guaranteed, the timely payment or the guarantee of which constitutes a full
faith and credit obligation of the United States;

(ii)    federal funds, certificates of deposit, time and demand deposits, and bankers’ acceptances (having
original maturities of not more than 365 days) issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money market deposit
accounts issued or offered by, any domestic office of any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United
States of America or any State thereof, provided, that, (a) such federal funds, certificates of deposit, time deposits
and banker’s acceptances are held in a securities account (as defined in the Uniform Commercial Code) through
which the Administrative Agent can perfect a security interest therein and (b) the short-term debt obligations of such
bank are rated “A 1” or better by S&P and “P-1” or better by Moody’s;

(iii)    commercial paper (having original maturities of not more than 365 days) rated “A1” or better by
S&P and “P1” or better by Moody’s;



(iv)    investments in money market funds rated “AAAM” or “AAAM G” by S&P and “Aaa” or “P1” by
Moody’s (which may be managed by the Administrative Agent or its Affiliates); and

(v)    investments approved in writing by the Administrative Agent;

provided, that, (A) no instrument described above is permitted to evidence either the right to receive (1) only interest with
respect to obligations underlying such instrument or (2) both principal and interest payments derived from obligations
underlying such instrument and the interest and principal payments with respect to such instrument provided a yield to
maturity at par greater than 120% of the yield to maturity at par of the underlying obligations; (B) no instrument described
above may be purchased at a price greater than par if such instrument may be prepaid or called at a price less than its
purchase price prior to stated maturity; and (C) in no event shall Permitted Investments include any obligation that is not
denominated in Dollars.

Each of the Permitted Investments may be purchased by or through the Administrative Agent or through an Affiliate of the
Administrative Agent.

“Permitted Lien” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Security Agreement.

“Person” means any person or entity, including any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint
venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, governmental entity or other entity of any
nature, whether or not a legal entity.

“Pledge Agreement” shall mean, individually and collectively, any pledge agreements executed on or subsequent to
the Closing Date by any Person to secure the Obligations.

“Portfolio Documents” means with respect to each Receivable, each contract or other agreement or document
executed and delivered by the related Obligor (including, without limitation, any future receivable sales agreement or other
similar documents) to or for the benefit of Originator or any subsequent transferee thereof, including renewals, extensions,
modifications and amendments thereof.

“Prepayment Additional Interest” shall mean additional interest payable to Administrative Agent pursuant to Section
2.08 upon any Prepayment Date in an amount equal to, if such Prepayment Date occurs (a) after the expiration of the Non-
Call Period but on or prior to the twenty-four month anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, [***] of the then
applicable prepaid Advances, (b) after the twenty-four month anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date but on or
prior to the thirty month anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, [***] of the then applicable prepaid Advances, (c)
after the thirty month anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date but on or prior to the thirty-three month anniversary
of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, [***] of the then applicable prepaid Advances, and (d) after the thirty-three month
anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, zero.



“Prepayment Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.07(a)(i).

“Proceeding” means any ESG Issue or any other suit in equity, action at law or other judicial or administrative
proceeding.

“Program Agreement” means that certain Program Agreement dated as of August 1, 2017, by and among Opportunity
Financial, LLC, Opportunity Funding SPE II, LLC, and Administrative Agent, as amended on the Closing Date, as may be
further amended, restated, supplemented or modified from time to time.

“Promissory Note” and “Promissory Notes” have the meanings assigned to such term in Section 2.06(f).

“Protective Advance” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.02(c).

“Pro Rata Share” of any amount means, with respect to any Lender, a fraction (expressed as a percentage) (a) at any
time before the expiration of the Term Loan Draw Period, the numerator of which is the Term Loan Commitment of such
Lender and the denominator of which is the aggregate amount of the Term Loan Commitments of all the Lenders, and (b) at
any time on and after the expiration of the Term Loan Draw Period, the numerator of which is the aggregate unpaid principal
amount of the Advances made by such Lender and the denominator of which is the aggregate unpaid principal amount of all
Advances at such time. For purposes of determining Pro Rata Share, a Defaulting Lender’s Term Loan Commitment shall be
deemed to equal only the portion of such Term Loan Commitment actually funded by it.

“Purchase and Sale Agreement” means the Bank Partner Purchase and Sale Agreement and the Program
Agreement.

“Qualified Change of Control” means a change of control of ultimate beneficial ownership of at least 50.1% of the
voting Equity Interests of the Company.

“Receivables” means unsecured consumer installment loans and lines of credit.

“Receivables Documents” means, collectively, the Servicing Agreement, the Backup Servicing Agreement and the
Purchase and Sale Agreement, in each case, as amended, amended and restated, and in effect from time to time.

“Recipient” means (i) the Administrative Agent or (ii) any Lender, as applicable.

“Register” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.04(c).

“Regulatory Trigger Event” means (a) the commencement by any Governmental Authority of any formal inquiry or
investigation (which for the avoidance of doubt excludes any routine inquiry or investigation), legal action or proceeding,
against any Credit Party, any third party then engaged by any Servicer as a sub-servicer or any Originator, challenging such
Person’s authority to originate, hold, own, service, pledge or enforce any Receivable with respect to the residents of any
jurisdiction, or otherwise alleging any noncompliance by any Credit Party,



any third party then engaged by any Servicer as a sub-servicer or any Originator with such jurisdiction’s applicable laws
related to originating, holding, pledging, servicing or enforcing such Receivable or otherwise related to such Receivable,
which inquiry, investigation, legal action or proceeding (i) is not released or terminated in a manner acceptable to the
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion within [***] calendar days of the earlier of any Credit Party’s knowledge or receipt
of written notice thereof and (ii) could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, as determined by the
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, or (b) the issuance or entering of any stay, order, judgment, cease and desist
order, injunction, temporary restraining order, or other judicial or non-judicial sanction, order or ruling against any Credit
Party, any third party then engaged by any Servicer as a sub-servicer or any Originator related in any way to the originating,
holding, pledging, servicing or enforcing of any Receivable or rendering the Purchase and Sale Agreement unenforceable in
such jurisdiction, the effect of which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, as determined by the
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; provided, that, in each case, upon the favorable resolution of such inquiry,
investigation, action or proceeding (whether by judgment, withdrawal of such action or proceeding or settlement of such
action or proceeding), as determined by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion and confirmed by written notice from
the Administrative Agent, such Regulatory Trigger Event for such jurisdiction shall cease to exist immediately upon such
determination by the Administrative Agent. It is understood and agreed that the jurisdiction of a Regulatory Trigger Event is
the entire United States if the applicable Governmental Authority is a federal authority.

“Related Parties” means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person’s Affiliates and their respective directors,
officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and such Person’s Affiliates.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto.

“Replacement Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.04(c).

“Replacement Notice” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.04(c).

“Required Deficiency Deposit” shall have the meaning assigned to it in Section 2.07(b).

“Required Lenders” means, at any time, the Administrative Agent, and Lenders holding aggregate Pro Rata Shares of
Advances representing more than 51% of the total Advances outstanding hereunder at such time; provided that, for any
Determination Date on which there are no Advances then outstanding hereunder, “ Required Lenders” shall mean the
Administrative Agent, and Lenders holding aggregate Pro Rata Shares of unused Term Loan Commitments representing
more than 51% of the total unused Term Loan Commitments at such time; and provided, further, that the Pro Rata Share of
Advances and unused Term Loan Commitments held by any Defaulting Lender shall be disregarded in determining
Required Lenders at any time.



“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, a division of The McGraw Hill Companies, Inc., or any successor
thereto.

“SCG” means TCS GROUP, L.L.C. d/b/a Schwartz Capital Group, an Illinois limited liability company.

“Scheduled Receivable Payment” means, for any Collection Period and for any Receivable, the amount indicated in
the contract relating to such Receivable as required to be paid by the Obligor in such Collection Period. If after the Closing
Date the Obligor’s obligation under such Receivable with respect to a Collection Period has been modified so as to differ
from the amount specified in such Receivable as a result of (a) a Bankruptcy Event as to which the Obligor is a debtor, (b)
the application of the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, or (c) modifications or extensions of the Receivable permitted by the
Portfolio Documents, the Scheduled Receivable Payment with respect to such Collection Period shall refer to the Obligor’s
payment obligation with respect to such Collection Period as so modified and such modification shall be reflected in the
Loan Database pursuant to the terms of the applicable Servicing Agreement.

“Second Amendment Effective Date” means May 31, 2019.

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.

“Security Agreement” means, individually and collectively, any security agreements executed on or subsequent to the
Closing Date by any Person to secure the Obligations.

“Security Documents” means, collectively, the Security Agreement, each Pledge Agreement, each Guaranty, the
Intellectual Property Security Agreement, each Control Agreement, all Uniform Commercial Code financing statements filed
with respect to any Collateral, and all other assignments, pledge agreements, security agreements, control agreements and
other instruments executed and delivered on or after the date hereof by any Credit Party pursuant to the Security Agreement
or otherwise providing or relating to any collateral security for any of the Secured Obligations under and as defined in the
Security Agreement.

“Servicer” means a servicer under any Approved SPV Facility.

“Servicing Agreement” means a servicing agreement executed in connection with any Approved SPV Facility.

“Servicing Policy” means servicing, collections and payment plan policies of the Servicer, as such policies may be
amended from time to time in compliance with a Servicing Agreement.



“SOFR” means, with respect to any Business Day, a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight financing rate for
such Business Day published by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator’s Website on the immediately
succeeding Business Day.

“SOFR Administrator” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured
overnight financing rate).

“SOFR Administrator’s Website” means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently at
http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR
Administrator from time to time.

“SPAC Transaction ” means the transactions contemplated by and in connection with the Business Combination
Agreement.

“SPAC Warrants” means warrants to purchase shares of the Company that were issued solely in connection with the
SPAC Transaction.

“Specified Regulatory Change” means a legal or regulatory change, the effect of which is to materially and adversely
impair the ability of any Credit Party or Bank Partner to originate, own, hold, pledge, service, collect or enforce the pledged
Receivables or similar receivables.

“Specified Vintage Pool” means each Vintage Pool with respect to which each Monthly Vintage Pool in such Vintage
Pool is at least one (1) calendar month old (as measured from the last day of such Monthly Vintage Pool); provided,
however, no Vintage Pool with respect to which, both (a) each Monthly Vintage Pool in such Vintage Pool is more than
twelve (12) calendar months old (as measured from the last day of such Monthly Vintage Pool) and (b) the aggregate
current UPB of all Receivables in such Vintage Pool is less than [***] of the aggregate original UPB of all Receivables (as
measured at the time of origination of such Receivables) in such Vintage Pool, shall be a Specified Vintage Pool.

“State” means any one of the states of the United States of America or the District of Columbia.

“Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person (the “parent”) at any date, any other corporation, limited liability
company, partnership, association or other entity (a) of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than
50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the
general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the
parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of the parent, or (b) that is, as of such date, otherwise controlled, by
the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiaries of the parent. Anything
herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the term “Subsidiary” shall not include any Person that constitutes an investment held
by the Borrower in the ordinary course of business and that is not, under GAAP, consolidated on the financial statements of
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries. Unless otherwise specified, “Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary of the Borrower.



“Tangible Net Worth” means, without duplication, with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated
basis, determined in accordance with GAAP, an amount equal to the difference between (i) the sum of the aggregate value
of (x) member’s equity plus (y) SPAC Warrants liability and (ii) the intangible assets of the Company and its consolidated
Subsidiaries.

“Tax Distributions” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.01(g).

“Taxes” means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, charges or withholdings,
including, without limitation, all penalties, interest, additions to tax, expenses, costs and fees, imposed by any Governmental
Authority.

“TCS Debt” means all Indebtedness owed by the Company to TCS Global Holdings LP and its Affiliates existing as of
the Fifth Amendment Funding Date.

“Term” means, the period from the Closing Date and ending on the Term Loan Termination Date.

“Term Loan Commitment” or “Term Loan Commitments” means (a) as to any Lender, the aggregate commitment of
such Lender to make Advances, expressed as an amount representing the maximum aggregate principal amount of such
Lender’s credit exposure hereunder, as set forth on Schedule I, as the same may be reduced or increased from time to time
pursuant to assignments or participations by or to such Lender pursuant to Section 11.04, and (b) as to all Lenders, the
aggregate Term Loan Commitments of all Lenders to make Advances in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed the
Maximum Loan Amount; provided, that, in no event shall the aggregate Term Loan Commitments exceed $50,000,000.

“Term Loan Draw Period” means the period commencing on the Closing Date and ending on the Fifth Amendment
Funding Date.

“Term Loan Termination Date ” means the earlierearliest to occur of (a) the Maturity Date, (b) the date on which the
Term Loan Commitments are terminated and the Advances then outstanding have been declared due and payable in whole
pursuant to Article IX and (c) subject to Section 2.07, the date on which the Obligations (other than contingent
indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving rise thereto has been asserted) have been paid in full in
immediately available funds or such earlier date set forth in Section 12.01.

“Term SOFR Rate” means, as of the applicable date of determination, for an interest period of one (1) month, the
forward-looking term rate based on SOFR that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body;
provided, if such rate is less than the applicable Floor, such rate shall be deemed to be such Floor for this Agreement.

“Third Party Claim” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.03(c).

“Transactions” means the execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of this Agreement and the other
Basic Documents to which it is a party, the making of Advances



hereunder, and the use by the Borrower of the proceeds of the Advances in accordance with the terms hereof.

“Transferee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 11.04(b).

“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of New York.

“Uncured Defaulting Lender” means a Lender that is a Defaulting Lender for a period of forty-five (45) consecutive
calendar days or more.

“Vintage Pool” means a group of three Monthly Vintage Pools in a common calendar quarter.

“Warrant Agreement” means a Warrant Agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit E-1 or Exhibit-2 attached
hereto.

“Warrants” means warrants in respect of the Equity Interests of Borrower, acquired by Administrative Agent or any of
its Affiliates from time to time on or after the Closing Date in accordance with the terms of the Warrant Agreement.

“Waterfall Account” means that certain deposit account in the name of the Company maintained at Cash
Management Bank with account number ending in 1201 and any replacement accounts thereof, or, following the occurrence
and during the continuation of an Event of Default, such other deposit account designated from time to time by
Administrative Agent in a written notice to Borrower.

Section 1.02    Terms Generally. The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of
the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and
neuter forms. The words “include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without
limitation”. The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”. Unless the context
requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be
construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any
reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and assigns, (c) the words “herein”,
“hereof” and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to
any particular provision hereof, (d) all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to
refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement, and (e) the words “asset” and “property”
shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and intangible assets and
properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights.

Section 1.03    Accounting Terms; GAAP. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting
or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with



GAAP, as in effect from time to time. If, after the date of this Agreement, there shall occur any change in GAAP from those
used in the preparation of the financial statements referred to in Section 5.11 and such change shall result in a change in
the method of calculation of any financial covenant, standard or term found in this Agreement, either the Borrower or the
Required Lenders may by notice to the Lenders and the Borrower, respectively, require that the Lenders and the Borrower
negotiate in good faith to amend such covenants, standards, and terms so as equitably to reflect such change in accounting
principles, with the desired result being that the criteria for evaluating the financial condition of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries shall be the same as if such change had not been made. No delay by the Borrower or the Required Lenders in
requiring such negotiation shall limit their right to so require such a negotiation at any time after such a change in accounting
principles. Until any such covenant, standard, or term is amended in accordance with this Section, financial covenants shall
be computed and determined in accordance with GAAP in effect prior to such change in accounting principles.

ARTICLE II
THE CREDITS

Section 2.01    Term Loan Commitments. (a) During the Term Loan Draw Period, Lenders made, from time to time,
Advances (each a “Draw Period Advance” and, collectively, the “Draw Period Advances”) to Borrower, which Draw Period
Advances remain outstanding as of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date in the aggregate principal amount of $15,000,000.
Notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary effective as of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, (i) no additional
Advances (other than, for the avoidance of doubt, the Fifth Amendment Advance, Protective Advances and/or
Administrative Agent Advances) shall be made or requested, (ii) the existing Draw Period Advances shall be repaid as
provided in Section 2.06, and (iii) once paid pursuant to the preceding clause (ii) above, no portion of such existing Draw
Period Advances may be re-borrowed.

(b) Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, including, without limitation satisfaction or waiver in writing by
Administrative Agent of all conditions set forth in Article IV hereof, each Lender severally agrees to make an Advance in an
amount equal to the undrawn portion of such Lender’s respective Term Loan Commitment to Borrower (i.e. such Lender’s
Term Loan Commitment after giving effect to its Draw Period Advances) in an aggregate amount equal to $35,000,000 on
the Fifth Amendment Funding Date (collectively, the “ Fifth Amendment Advance”). After giving effect to the Fifth
Amendment Advance, the aggregate principal amount of Advances outstanding hereunder shall be $50,000,000. Each
Lender’s portion of the Fifth Amendment Advance shall be made by deposit into such deposit accounts identified by the
Borrower in the related borrowing request; provided, that under no circumstances shall the aggregate outstanding amount of
all Advances made as of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date exceed the aggregate Term Loan Commitments. For the
avoidance of doubt, after the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, Borrower shall have no ability to request further Advances
hereunder. Once repaid, no portion of the Advances may be re-borrowed.

Section 2.02    Advances, Etc.



(a)    Obligations of Lenders. Each Advance shall be made by the Lenders ratably, in accordance with their respective
Term Loan Commitments; provided, that, such Advances shall be made ratably by the Lenders in accordance with their
respective Term Loan Commitments for such month, unless any Lender shall be a Defaulting Lender with respect to the
applicable Advance, in which case the Non-Defaulting Lenders shall fund Advances solely to the extent expressly required
by Section 2.04(b). The failure of any Lender to make any Advance required to be made by it shall not relieve any other
Lender of its obligations hereunder.

(b)    Type of Advances. Advances shall be denominated in Dollars.

( c )    Protective Advances. The Borrower hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent, either directly, or through one
or more of its Affiliates, from time to time in Administrative Agent’s Permitted Discretion to make additional Advances (each
a “Protective Advance”) to the Borrower, or any other Person for the benefit of the Borrower, in respect of all or any
Advances that such Administrative Agent deems necessary or desirable, in each case, in Administrative Agent’s Permitted
Discretion (i) to pay any amount chargeable to the Borrower pursuant to the terms of this Agreement that is not paid by the
Borrower on the date such payment is due in accordance with this Agreement, and (ii) following the occurrence and during
the continuation of a Default, (x) to preserve or protect the Collateral, or any portion thereof or (y) to enhance the likelihood
of repayment of the obligations of the Borrower under this Agreement. Any Protective Advances, together with interest
thereon, as provided herein, shall be repaid and allocated to the Administrative Agent.

( d )    Original Issue Discount. (i) The funded amount of each Draw Period Advance shall be reduced, prior to
disbursement, by an original issue discount in the amount of [***], which original issue discount shall be retained by the
Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders (the “Original Issue Discount”), and shall be deemed to be fully
earned and nonrefundable on the date of each Draw Period Advance, provided, that notwithstanding such deduction of
Original Issue Discount from the funded amount of each Draw Period Advance, Borrower shall be obligated to pay the full
amount of such Advance, together with interest accruing on the full amount of each Draw Period Advance, in each case,
without giving effect to such deduction of Original Issue Discount, on the dates and times provided for payments of principal
and interest hereunder.

(ii) The funded amount of the Fifth Amendment Advance shall be reduced, prior to disbursement, by an original issue
discount in the amount of $1,450,000.00, which original issue discount shall be retained by the Administrative Agent, for the
ratable benefit of the Lenders (the “Fifth Amendment Original Issue Discount”), and shall be deemed to be fully earned and
nonrefundable on the date of such Advance, provided, that notwithstanding such deduction of Fifth Amendment Original
Issue Discount from the funded amount of such Advance, Borrower shall be obligated to pay the full amount of such
Advance, together with interest accruing on the full amount of such Advance, in each case, without giving effect to such
deduction of Original Issue Discount, on the dates and times provided for payments of principal and interest hereunder.

( e )    Advances. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all Advances hereunder and all other amounts or
Obligations from time to time owing to the Lenders or the



Administrative Agent hereunder or under the other Basic Documents shall constitute one general obligation of the Borrower
and are secured by the Administrative Agent’s Lien on all Collateral as set forth more specifically in the Security Agreement.

Section 2.03    Requests for Advances.

( a )    Notice by the Borrower. To request an Advance, the Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent of such
request in writing via an Advance Request in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto not later than 1:00 p.m., New York time,
at least two (2) Business Days before the date of the proposed Advance. Each such Advance Request shall be irrevocable.

(b)    Content of Advance Requests. Each Advance Request shall comply with Section 2.02 and specify the following
information:

(i)    the amount of the requested Advance;

(ii)    the date of such Advance, which shall be a Business Day;

(iii)    a certification that the use of proceeds of such Advance complies with Section 5.09 of this Agreement;
and

(iv)    a reaffirmation of the representations and warranties contained herein.

( c )    Notice by Administrative Agent to Lenders. Upon receipt of an Advance Request by Administrative Agent,
Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of the amount of such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of
such Advance; provided, that if Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower in writing of any inaccuracies or
misrepresentations in such Advance Request or the related Borrowing Base Certificate, Administrative Agent shall only
advise each Lender of the details of such Advance Request after the receipt of an updated Advance Request or Borrowing
Base Certificate correcting any such inaccuracy or misrepresentation.

Section 2.04    Funding of Advances.

(a )    Funding Borrower. So long as the conditions set forth in Sections 4.02 and 4.03, as applicable, are satisfied or
waived by Administrative Agent, each Lender shall make its respective Pro Rata Share of such Advance to be made by it
hereunder on the proposed date thereof by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the Operating Account by close of
business, on the day such Advance is requested pursuant to the Advance Request, whereupon, such funds may be
withdrawn from time to time by the Borrower from the Operating Account to be used by the Borrower in accordance with
Section 5.09.

( b )    Funding of Defaulting Lenders. If any Lender shall become a Defaulting Lender, the other Lenders (each, a
“Non-Defaulting Lender”) shall fund such Defaulting Lender’s Pro Rata Share of such Advance, in accordance with each
Non-Defaulting Lender’s Pro Rata Share, in each case, in accordance with Section 2.04(a), to the extent such funding would
not cause such Non-Defaulting Lender to exceed its Term Loan Commitment. In such event, and provided



funds shall have been advanced in accordance with Section 2.04(a), such Defaulting Lender agrees immediately to pay to
each Non-Defaulting Lender the amount so funded by such Non-Defaulting Lender, with interest thereon, for each day from
and including the date such amount was funded by such Non-Defaulting Lender to, but excluding, the date of payment to
each such Non-Defaulting Lender, at the rate per annum equal to the Federal Funds Effective Rate plus two percent (2%).
If, at a later date, such Defaulting Lender pays the amount of its failed Pro Rata Share of the applicable Advance to the Non-
Defaulting Lenders, together with interest as provided above, then such amount attributable to the principal of the applicable
Advance shall constitute such Defaulting Lender’s funding of its Pro Rata Share of the applicable Advance. Each Lender’s
funded portion of any Advance is intended to be equal at all times to such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of such Advance and
the foregoing shall not relieve any Lender of its obligations hereunder. The failure of any Lender to fund its Pro Rata Share
of any Advance shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligation to fund its Pro Rata Share of such Advance. Conversely,
no Lender shall be responsible for the failure of another Lender to fund such other Lender’s Pro Rata Share of an Advance
except in the circumstances expressly set forth in this Section 2.04(b).

(c)    Uncured Defaulting Lender Commitment Assignment. A Non-Defaulting Lender who is not then an Affiliate of an
Uncured Defaulting Lender shall have the right, but not the obligation, to acquire and assume its Pro Rata Share of an
Uncured Defaulting Lender’s then remaining Term Loan Commitment. Immediately upon receiving written notice from such
Non-Defaulting Lender that it desires to acquire its Pro Rata Share of such Uncured Defaulting Lender’s then remaining
Term Loan Commitment, the Uncured Defaulting Lender shall assign, in accordance with this Agreement, all or part, as the
case may be, of its Term Loan Commitment and other rights and obligations under this Agreement and all other Basic
Documents to such Non-Defaulting Lender (the “Replacement Lender”).

If no Non-Defaulting Lender elects to acquire and assume its Pro Rata Share of such Uncured Defaulting Lender’s
then remaining Term Loan Commitment as set forth in the immediately preceding paragraph within thirty (30) calendar days
of such Defaulting Lender becoming an Uncured Defaulting Lender, then the Borrower may, by notice (a “ Replacement
Notice”) in writing to the Administrative Agent and the Uncured Defaulting Lender, (i) request such Uncured Defaulting
Lender to cooperate with the Borrower in obtaining a Replacement Lender for such Uncured Defaulting Lender; or (ii)
propose a Replacement Lender. If a Replacement Lender shall be accepted by the Administrative Agent who, at the time of
determination, is neither an Uncured Defaulting Lender nor an Affiliate of an Uncured Defaulting Lender, then such Uncured
Defaulting Lender shall assign its then remaining Term Loan Commitment and other rights and obligations related to
unfunded Term Loan Commitments under this Agreement and all other Basic Documents to such Replacement Lender.

In either case, following the consummation of the assignment and assumption of the Uncured Defaulting Lender’s
remaining Term Loan Commitment pursuant to one of the two immediately preceding paragraphs in this Section 2.04(c), any
remaining Term Loan Commitment of such Uncured Defaulting Lender shall not terminate, but shall “be reduced
proportionately to reflect any such assignments and assumptions, and such Uncured Defaulting



Lender shall continue to be a “Lender” hereunder with its Term Loan Commitment and Pro Rata Share eliminated to reflect
such assignments and assumptions. Upon the effective date of such assignment(s) and assumption(s) such Replacement
Lender shall, if not already a Lender, become a “Lender” for all purposes under this Agreement and the other Basic
Documents. The assignment and assumption contemplated by this paragraph shall modify the ownership of obligations
related to unfunded Term Loan Commitments only and shall not modify the Uncured Defaulting Lender’s rights and
obligations, including, without limitation, all indemnity obligations hereunder, with respect to Advances previously funded.

( d )    Defaulting Lender Adjustments. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, if any
Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then, until such time as such Lender is no longer a Defaulting Lender, to the extent
permitted by applicable Governmental Rules:

( i )    Waivers and Amendments. Such Defaulting Lender’s right to approve or disapprove any amendment,
waiver or consent with respect to this Agreement shall be restricted as set forth in the definition of
Required Lenders.

( i i )    Defaulting Lender Waterfall. Any Collections, fees, interest, or other amounts received by the
Administrative Agent for the account of such Defaulting Lender (whether voluntary or mandatory, at
maturity, pursuant to Article IX or otherwise), shall be applied at such time or times as may be
determined by the Administrative Agent as follows: first, to the payment of any amounts owing by such
Defaulting Lender to the Administrative Agent hereunder; second, (so long as no Default or Event of
Default then exists), to the funding of any Advance in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has
failed to fund its Pro Rata Share thereof as required by this Agreement, as determined by the
Administrative Agent; third, if so determined by the Administrative Agent, to be held in the Waterfall
Account and released in order to satisfy such Defaulting Lender’s potential future funding obligations
with respect to Advances under this Agreement; fourth, to the payment of any amounts owing to the
Lenders as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by any Lender against
such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations under this
Agreement; fifth, so long as no Default or Event of Default then exists, to the payment of any amounts
owing to Borrower as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by Borrower
against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations under
this Agreement; and sixth, to such Defaulting Lender to the extent such Defaulting Lender is entitled to
such amounts pursuant to clause (d)(iii) below or as otherwise directed by a court of competent
jurisdiction.



(iii)    Certain Fees. Each Defaulting Lender shall be entitled to receive its Pro Rata Share of fees, Prepayment
Additional Interest and other applicable amounts hereunder only with respect to (A) Advances, with
respect to which, such Lender is a not a Defaulting Lender and (B) any period during which such Lender
is not a Defaulting Lender, and only to the extent accruing hereunder during such period.

( e )    Defaulting Lender Cure. If the Administrative Agent agrees in writing that a Lender is no longer a Defaulting
Lender, the Administrative Agent will so notify the parties hereto; provided, that no adjustments will be made retroactively
with respect to fees, Prepayment Additional Interest, or original interest discount accrued, or payments made by or on behalf
of the Borrower while that Lender was a Defaulting Lender; and provided, further, that except to the extent otherwise
expressly agreed by the affected parties, no change hereunder from Defaulting Lender to Lender will constitute a waiver or
release of any claim of any party hereunder arising from that Lender’s having been a Defaulting Lender.

Section 2.05    Termination of the Term Loan Commitments.

(a)    Scheduled Termination. The Term Loan Commitments shall terminate on the Term Loan Termination Date.

( b )    No Voluntary Termination by the Borrower. The Borrower may not terminate this Agreement or reduce or
terminate any portion of the Term Loan Commitments prior to the Term Loan Termination Date without the prior written
consent of the Administrative Agent and each Lender whose Term Loan Commitment would be reduced or terminated
except as provided in Section 2.07.

Section 2.06    Repayment of Advances; Evidence of Debt.

( a )    Repayment. If not previously paid in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Borrower hereby
unconditionally promises to pay the outstanding principal amount of all Advances (and any applicable amounts consolidated
into and comprising such Advances), together with interest as provided herein, to the Administrative Agent, for the accounts
of the Lenders, on the Term Loan Termination Date. Any and all other amounts or Obligations owing hereunder, if not
otherwise specified herein, shall be due and payable in full in cash on the Term Loan Termination Date.

(b)    Reserved.

(c)    Releases. Upon payment in full of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no
claim has been asserted) by the Borrower and the termination of all Term Loan Commitments pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement, all Liens granted to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders pursuant to the Basic Documents or the
Receivables Documents to secure the Obligations shall be automatically terminated and released, and Administrative Agent
and the Lenders shall, at the sole expense of the Borrower, authorize the filing of any termination statements, lien releases,
discharges of security interests, and other



similar discharge or release documents (and if applicable in recordable form) as are reasonably required and requested to
evidence release, as of record, of the Liens and all notices of security interests and liens previously filed with respect to the
applicable Obligations hereunder.

(d )    Maintenance of Records by Administrative Agent. Administrative Agent shall maintain records, in which it shall
record: (i) the amount of each Advance made hereunder, (ii) the amount of principal or interest due and payable or to
become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder, and (iii) the amount of any sum received by
Administrative Agent hereunder for accounts of the Lenders and each Lender’s Pro Rata Share thereof.

( e )    Effect of Entries. The entries made in the records maintained pursuant to Section 2.06(d) shall be prima facie
evidence of the existence and amounts of the Obligations recorded therein; provided, that, the failure of Administrative
Agent to maintain such records, or any error therein, shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the Borrower to repay
the Advances and other Obligations in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

( f )    Promissory Notes. All Advances made pursuant to this Agreement, together with interest thereon at the rates
specified herein, shall, if requested by a Lender, be further evidenced by those certain promissory notes, in an aggregate
maximum principal amount equal to the amount of the Term Loan Commitment, as then in effect, each made by the
Borrower payable to the order of the applicable Lender, in the maximum amount of such Lender’s Term Loan Commitment,
and delivered by Borrower to such Lender (each, a “Promissory Note” and collectively, the “Promissory Notes”).

Section 2.07    Prepayment of Advances.

(a)    Optional Prepayments.

(i)    Subject to Section 2.08, Borrower may voluntarily prepay, in whole onlyor in part, the principal balance of
the outstanding Advances plus accrued and unpaid interest at any time after (but not before) the
eighteen-month anniversary of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date (such period running from the Fifth
Amendment Funding Date until the eighteen-month anniversary thereof, the “Non-Call Period”), so long
as Borrower shall have identified such prepayment date (the “Prepayment Date”), given Administrative
Agent prior written notice in advance of such proposed Prepayment Date in compliance with Section
2.07(d) below (or such other notice as the Administrative Agent may agree to in its sole discretion), and
paid the Prepayment Additional Interest on or before such Prepayment Date; provided any prepayment
in part shall be in minimum amounts of $10,000,000 and increments of $10,000,000 thereof (or such
other amount as the Administrative Agent may agree to in its sole discretion) . Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Borrower may voluntarily prepay, in whole, the principal balances of the Advances during the
Non-Call Period in connection with a Qualified Change of Control so long as the Lockout Period COC
Additional Interest Amount has been paid.



(ii)    In the event of any resignation of the Administrative Agent pursuant to Article X(g) or any assignment by
any Lender pursuant to Section 11.04(b), so long as such successor Administrative Agent or assignee
Lender is not an Affiliate of the resigning Administrative Agent or assigning Lender (other than a
Defaulting Lender or an Affiliate thereof), and so long as no Event of Default is then continuing,
Borrower shall have the right, whether during the Non-Call Period or otherwise, to voluntarily (A)
prepay, without any premium or penalty, the principal balance of the outstanding Advances in an
amount equal to (x) in the event of any resignation of the Administrative Agent pursuant to Article X(g),
the entire outstanding principal balance of the Advances hereunder or (y) in the event of an assignment
pursuant to Section 11.04(b), the amount being assigned plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid
interest, and (B) repurchase the Warrants or, in the event that the Warrant has been exercised in whole
or in part, the Shares (as defined in the Warrant Agreement) issued upon the exercise thereof, in the
same proportion as the principal amount so prepaid bears to the Maximum Loan Amount for a
repurchase price equal to the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Warrant Agreement) of the Shares
underlying such repurchased Warrants or the Fair Market Value of the Shares, as applicable.

( b )    Mandatory Prepayments. In no event shall the sum of the aggregate outstanding principal balance of the
Advances exceed the Borrowing Base. If at any time and for any reason, the outstanding unpaid principal balance of the
Advances exceeds the Borrowing Base (including due to any Eligible Receivables thereafter failing to meet the eligibility
criteria and becoming ineligible Receivables), then Borrower shall without the necessity of any notice or demand, whether or
not a Default or Event of Default has occurred or is continuing, deposit an amount equal to the difference between the then
aggregate outstanding principal balance of the Advances and the Borrowing Base (a “Required Deficiency Deposit”) into the
Facility Reserve Account in an amount equal to such excess, together with any accrued but unpaid interest thereon. Any
such amounts deposited into the Facility Reserve Account by Borrower may be returned to Borrower by Administrative
Agent upon Borrower’s request so long as (i) the pro forma Borrowing Base after giving effect to such return would not result
in a Required Deficiency Deposit, as evidenced by delivery to Administrative Agent of an updated Borrowing Base Certificate
and (ii) (x) no monetary or material non-monetary Default in relation to the Events of Default specified in Article IX(a), (b),
(d), (g), (h), (i), (q) or (s) and (y) no Event of Default are in effect at the time of such request.

(c)    Reserved.

(d)    Notices, Etc. The Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent by telephone (confirmed by telecopy or email) of
any prepayment hereunder, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York time, at least five (5) Business Days before the Prepayment
Date. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the Prepayment Date and the principal amount of the
Advances to be prepaid on such date and, on such date, such amounts shall become due. Promptly following



receipt of any such notice, the Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof.

Section 2.08    Prepayment Additional Interest; Certain Fees.

( a )    Prepayment Additional Interest. Any prepayment of the Advances, shall be accompanied by the applicable
Prepayment Additional Interest. The Borrower acknowledges and agrees that the Prepayment Additional Interest is a
reasonable projection of the Lenders’ actual damages in the event of the early payment of the Advances and is not a
penalty. For the avoidance of doubt, Prepayment Additional Interest shall be paid upon any automatic or other acceleration
of the Term Loan Termination Date, including, without limitation, any automatic or contractual acceleration upon the
commencement of a case or proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code by, or with respect to, Borrower, or resulting from any
other Bankruptcy Event, and, for the avoidance of doubt in connection with any Prepayment Date occurring after the Non-
Call Period.

( b )    Administrative Agency Fee. The Borrower agrees to pay the Administrative Agent, for its own account, a non-
refundable, fully-earned administrative agency fee in the amount of $[***], per fiscal quarter, payable on the Closing Date
and quarterly, in advance, thereafter on each Payment Date of the first calendar month of a fiscal quarter, while any
Obligations are outstanding.

( c )    Payment of Additional Interest and Fees. All Prepayment Additional Interest and fees payable hereunder shall
be cumulative and shall be owed independent of the other amounts owing pursuant to this Agreement and paid on the dates
due, in Dollars and in immediately available funds, to the Administrative Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders and
Administrative Agent entitled thereto. Prepayment Additional Interest and fees paid, once incurred, shall not be refundable,
reversible or subject to set-off or counterclaim under any circumstances.

Section 2.09    Interest.

(a)    Advances. The outstanding principal amount of all Advances shall bear interest at a rate per annum equal to the
Interest Rate from the date the same are funded to the Borrower (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall be the date any
such amount is funded to the Borrower pursuant to an Advance).

(b)    Default Interest. Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of
Default, (i) the outstanding principal amount of all Advances and (ii) any accrued, but unpaid, interest and fees and any
other Obligations that are not timely paid (including post-petition interest in any proceeding under the Bankruptcy Code or
other applicable bankruptcy laws, whether or not a claim for post-filing or post-petition interest or other amounts is allowed in
such proceeding) shall bear interest, after as well as before judgment, at a rate per annum equal to the Interest Rate plus
three percent (3.00%) from the date of the occurrence of the Event of Default until the date no Event of Default is continuing.



(c)    Payment of Interest. Accrued interest on the outstanding Obligations relating to each Advance shall be payable
in arrears on (i) each Payment Date, with respect to all interest that has accrued and is unpaid as of the end of the calendar
month immediately preceding such Payment Date, and (ii) on the Term Loan Termination Date, with respect to all accrued
and unpaid interest. For the avoidance of doubt, on the first Payment Date following the Second Amendment Effective Date,
the interest accrual period shall consist of the period from the prior Payment Date until the end of the calendar month
immediately preceding such Payment Date.

(d)    [Reserved].

(e )    Computation. All interest and, pursuant to Section 2.08(c), fees hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a
year of 360 days, and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed.

Section 2.10    [Reserved].

Section 2.11    Taxes.

(a)    Any and all payments by or on account of any obligations of Borrower to a Recipient under any Basic Document
shall be made free and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for, Taxes, imposed by any Governmental Authority,
except as required by Applicable Law. If any Applicable Law (as determined in the good faith discretion of an applicable
withholding agent) requires the deduction or withholding of any Tax from any such payment by a withholding agent, then the
applicable withholding agent shall be entitled to make such deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount
deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with Applicable Law.

(b)    In addition, Borrower shall pay to the relevant Governmental Authority any Other Taxes, or at the option of the
Administrative Agent, timely reimburse it for the payment of any Other Taxes.

(c)    Borrower shall indemnify and hold harmless each Lender and Administrative Agent for the full amount of any
and all Indemnified Taxes (including any Indemnified Taxes imposed by any jurisdiction on amounts payable under this
Section 2.11) paid or payable by such Lender or Administrative Agent and any reasonable expense (other than any
penalties, interest, additions, and expenses that accrue both after the 180th day after the receipt by Administrative Agent or
such Lender of written notice of the assertion of such Indemnified Taxes and before the date that Administrative Agent or
such Lender provides Borrower with a certificate relating thereto pursuant to Section 2.11(n)) arising therefrom or with
respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally asserted by the relevant Governmental
Authority. Payments under this indemnification shall be made within 10 days from the date any Lender or Administrative
Agent makes written demand therefor.

(d)    Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Administrative Agent, within 10 days after demand therefor, for (i) any
Indemnified Taxes attributable to such Lender (but only to the extent that the Borrower has not already indemnified the
Administrative Agent for such



Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligation of the Borrower to do so), (ii) any Taxes attributable to such Lender’s
failure to comply with the provisions of Section 11.04(c) relating to the maintenance of a Participant Register and (iii) any
Excluded Taxes attributable to such Lender, in each case, that are payable or paid by the Administrative Agent in
connection with any Basic Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or
not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the
amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by the Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest
error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to
such Lender under any Basic Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lender from any other
source against any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this paragraph (d).

(e)    If Borrower shall be required by Applicable Law to deduct or withhold any Indemnified Taxes from or in respect
of any sum payable hereunder to any Lender or Administrative Agent, then the sum payable shall be increased to the extent
necessary so that after making all required deductions or withholdings (including deductions or withholdings applicable to
additional sums payable under this Section 2.11(e)), such Lender or Administrative Agent, as the case may be, receives an
amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions or withholdings been made. As soon as practicable
after any payment by Borrower to any Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.11, Borrower shall furnish to
Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such
payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent.

(f)    Each Lender (or Transferee) that is not a citizen or resident of the United States of America, a corporation,
partnership or other entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States (or any jurisdiction thereof), or any
estate or trust that is subject to federal income taxation regardless of the source of its income or is otherwise a “foreign
person” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.1441-1(c) (a “Non-U.S. Lender”) shall deliver to Borrower and
Administrative Agent two (2) executed copies of each applicable U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN, Form W-
8BEN-E, Form W-8IMY and/or Form W-8ECI, or any subsequent versions thereof or successors thereto, properly completed
and duly executed by such Non-U.S. Lender claiming complete exemption from United States federal withholding tax on all
payments by Borrower under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents. Such forms shall be delivered by each Non-
U.S. Lender on or before the date it becomes a party to this Agreement, and from time to time thereafter upon the
reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent. In addition, each Non-U.S. Lender shall deliver such forms
promptly upon the expiration, obsolescence or invalidity of any form previously delivered by such Non-U.S. Lender. In
addition to properly completing and duly executing Forms W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E or W-8IMY (or any subsequent versions
thereof or successor thereto), if such Non-U.S. Lender is claiming an exemption from withholding of United States Federal
income tax under Section 871(h) or 881(c) of the Code, such Lender hereby represents and warrants that (A) it is not a
“bank” within the meaning of Section 881(c) of the Code, (B) it is not subject to regulatory or other legal requirements as a
bank in any jurisdiction, (C) it has not been treated as a bank for



purposes of any tax, securities law or other filing or submission made to any governmental securities law or other legal
requirements, (D) it is not a “10 percent shareholder” within the meaning of Section 871(h)(3)(B) of the Code of Borrower,
(E) it is not a controlled foreign corporation receiving interest from a related person within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)
(C) of the Code and (F) none of the interest arising from this Agreement constitutes contingent interest within the meaning of
Section 871(h)(4) or Section 881(c)(4) of the Code and such Non-U.S. Lender agrees that it shall provide Administrative
Agent, and Administrative Agent shall provide to Borrower with prompt notice at any time after becoming a Lender hereunder
that it can no longer make the foregoing representations and warranties. Each Lender who makes an assignment pursuant
to Section 11.04 where the assignment and assumption agreement is not delivered to Borrower shall indemnify and agree to
hold Administrative Agent, Borrower and the other Lenders harmless from and against any United States federal withholding
tax, interest and penalties that would not have been imposed but for (i) the failure of the Affiliate that received such
assignment under Section 11.04 to comply with this Section 2.11(f) or (ii) the failure of such Lender to withhold and pay such
tax at the proper rate in the event such Affiliate does not comply with this Section 2.11(f) (or complies with Section 2.11(f)
but delivers forms indicating it is entitled to a reduced rate of such tax).

(g)    Borrower will not be required to pay any additional amounts in respect of United States federal income tax
pursuant to this Section 2.11 to any Lender or Administrative Agent or to indemnify any Lender or Administrative Agent
pursuant to Section 2.11(c) to the extent that (i) the obligation to pay such additional amounts would not have arisen but for
a failure by such Lender to comply with its obligations under this Section 2.11 for any reason; (ii) with respect to a Lender,
the obligation to withhold amounts with respect to United Stated federal income tax existed on the date such Lender became
a party to this Agreement or, with respect to payments to a lending office newly designated by a Lender (a “New Lending
Office”), the date such Lender designated such New Lending Office with respect to the applicable Advance or Term Loan
Commitment; provided, however, that this clause (ii) shall not apply to the extent the additional amounts any Lender (or
Transferee) through a New Lending Office, would be entitled to receive (without regard to this clause (ii)) do not exceed the
additional amounts that the Person making the transfer, or Lender (or Transferor) making the designation of such New
Lending Office, would have been entitled to receive in the absence of such transfer or designation; (iii) the Internal Revenue
Service has determined (which determination shall be final and non-appealable) that such Lender or Administrative Agent is
treated as a “conduit entity” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.881-3 or any successor provision;
provided, however, nothing contained in this clause (iii) shall preclude the payment of additional amounts or indemnity
payments by Borrower to the person for whom the “conduit entity” is acting; or (iv) such Lender is claiming an exemption
from withholding of United States Federal income tax under Sections 871(h) or 881(c) of the Code but is unable at any time
to make the representations and warranties set forth in clauses (A) – (F) of Section 2.11(f).

(h)    Any Lender that is a United States Person within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code (a “U.S.
Lender”) shall deliver to Borrower and Administrative Agent (i) a properly prepared and duly executed U.S. Internal Revenue
Service Form W-9, or any subsequent versions thereof or successors thereto, certifying that such Lender is entitled to



receive any and all payments under this Agreement and each other Basic Document free and clear from withholding of
United States federal income taxes and (ii) such other reasonable documentation as will enable Borrower and/or
Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or information reporting
requirements.

(i)    Each Lender agrees to provide Borrower and the Administrative Agent, upon the reasonable request of
Borrower, such other forms or documents as may be reasonably required under Applicable Law in order to establish an
exemption from or eligibility for a reduction in the rate or imposition of Taxes, provided that a Non-U.S. Lender shall not be
required to deliver any form pursuant to this Section 2.11(i) (other than such documentation set forth in Section 2.11(f), (h)
and (i)) if, in the Lender’s reasonable judgment, such completion, execution or submission would subject such Lender to any
material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.

(j)    If a payment made to a Lender under any Basic Document would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax
imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including
those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower
or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by Applicable Law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)
(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent
as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to
determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct
and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this paragraph (j), “FATCA” shall include any amendments made to
FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

(k)    If Borrower is required to pay additional amounts to or for the account of any Lender or Administrative Agent
pursuant to this Section 2.11, then such Lender or Administrative Agent shall use its reasonable efforts (consistent with legal
and regulatory restrictions) to file any certificate or document reasonably requested by Borrower or to designate a lending
office from a different jurisdiction (if such a lending office exists), if requested by the Borrower, so as to eliminate or reduce
any such additional payments by Borrower which may accrue in the future if such filing or changes in the reasonable
judgment of such Lender or Administrative Agent, would not require such Lender to disclose information such Lender
reasonably deems confidential and is not otherwise materially disadvantageous to such Lender or Administrative Agent.

(l)    If Administrative Agent or a Lender, in its reasonable judgment, receives a refund of any Taxes as to which it has
been indemnified by Borrower or with respect to which Borrower has paid additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.11, it
shall promptly pay to Borrower an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, and
additional amounts paid, by Borrower under this Section 2.11 with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund) and any
interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such



refund, provided, that Borrower, upon the request of Administrative Agent or such Lender, shall repay the amount paid over
to Borrower (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) to Administrative
Agent or such Lender in the event Administrative Agent or such Lender is required to repay the applicable refund to such
Governmental Authority.

(m)    Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if Administrative Agent is required by law to deduct or withhold
any Excluded Taxes or Other Taxes or any other Taxes from or in respect of any sum payable to any Lender by Borrower or
Administrative Agent, the Administrative Agent shall not be required to make any gross-up payment to or in respect of such
Lender, except to the extent that a corresponding gross-up payment is actually received by Administrative Agent from
Borrower.

(n)    Any Lender claiming reimbursement or compensation pursuant to this Section 2.11 shall deliver to Borrower
(with a copy to Administrative Agent) a certificate setting forth in reasonable detail the amount payable to such Lender
hereunder and such certificate shall be conclusive and binding on Borrower in the absence of manifest error.

(o)    Each Lender and Transferee agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered pursuant to this
Section 2.11 expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly
notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.

(p)    Each Person that shall become a Participant pursuant to Section 11.04 shall, on or before the date of the
effectiveness of the related transfer, be required to provide all of the forms, certifications and statements required pursuant
to Sections 2.11(f), (h) and (i), and shall make the representations and warranties set forth in clauses (A) – (F) of Section
2.11(f), provided that the obligations of such Participant pursuant to Sections 2.11(f), (h) and (i) shall be determined as if
such Participant were a Lender except that such Participant shall furnish all such required forms, certifications and
statements to the Lender from which the related participation shall have been purchased.

(q)    Defined Terms. For purposes of this Section, the term “Applicable Law” includes FATCA.

(r)    Each party’s obligations in this Section 2.11 shall survive the resignation or replacement of the Administrative
Agent or the payment of all other Obligations.

Section 2.12    Payments Generally; Application of Payments; Sharing of Set-offs.

( a )    Payments by the Borrower. The Borrower shall make each payment required to be made by it hereunder
(whether under Section 2.11, or otherwise) or under any other Basic Document (except to the extent otherwise provided
therein) prior to 2:00 p.m., New York time, on the date when due, in immediately available funds, without set-off or
counterclaim. Any amounts received after such time on any date shall be deemed to have been received on the next
succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon. All such payments shall



be made to the Administrative Agent or as expressly provided in the relevant Basic Document and payments pursuant to
Section 2.11 and Section 11.03, which shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto. The Administrative Agent shall
distribute any such payments received by it for account of any other Person to the appropriate recipient promptly following
receipt thereof. If any payment hereunder shall be due on a day that is not a Business Day, the date for payment shall be
extended to the next succeeding Business Day and, in the case of any payment accruing interest, interest thereon shall be
payable for the period of such extension. All amounts owing under this Agreement or under any other Basic Document
(except to the extent otherwise provided therein) are payable in Dollars.

( b )    Application of Payments. All payments (other than pursuant to Section 2.07(a) and interest payments under
Section 2.09(c)) hereunder shall be applied to the Obligations in such order as Administrative Agent may determine in its
Permitted Discretion.

( c )    Pro Rata Treatment. Except to the extent otherwise provided herein: (i) all payments hereunder, including
without limitation, the Prepayment Additional Interest and fees required pursuant to Section 2.08 (other than the
Administrative Agency Fee under Section 2.08(b)) shall be made for the ratable account of the Lenders based on their
respective Pro Rata Share of the Advances giving rise thereto, (ii) each termination or reduction of the amount of the Term
Loan Commitments shall be applied to the respective Term Loan Commitments of the Lenders, pro rata, according to the
amounts of their respective Term Loan Commitments, (iii) each Advance shall be allocated pro rata among the Lenders
according to the amounts of their respective Term Loan Commitments at the time of such Advance, and (iv) each payment
or prepayment of principal (and any associated Prepayment Additional Interest pursuant to Section 2.08(a)), or payment of
interest shall be made for account of the Lenders pro rata in accordance with each such Lender’s Pro Rata Share of the
unpaid principal amount of the Advances.

( d )    Sharing of Payments by Lenders. If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of set-off or counterclaim or
otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or interest on or fees with respect to any of the Advances resulting
in such Lender receiving payment of a greater proportion of its Pro Rata Share of Advances and accrued interest thereon
then due to such Lender, then the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at face value)
participations in the Advances funded by other Lenders to the extent necessary so that the benefit of all such payments shall
be shared by the Lenders; provided, that, (i) if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment
giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such
recovery, without interest, and (ii) the provisions of this Section 2.12(d) shall not be construed to apply to any payment made
by the Borrower pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement or any payment obtained by a
Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in any of its Advances to any assignee or participant,
other than to the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof (as to which the provisions of this Section 2.12(d) shall apply). The
Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable Governmental Rules,
that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against the Borrower rights
of set-off and



counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount
of such participation.

ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 3.01    Representations and Warranties of the Credit Parties. Except as set forth in the Disclosure Schedule
attached hereto as Schedule 3.01, each Credit Party hereby makes the following representations and warranties to the
Administrative Agent and each Lender, as of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, and the Lenders shall be deemed to have
relied on such representations and warranties in making the Fifth Amendment Advance on the Fifth Amendment Funding
Date:

(a)    Organization and Qualification. It has been duly organized and is validly existing and in good standing under its
jurisdiction of organization, with requisite power and authority to own its properties and to transact the business in which it is
now engaged, including to enter into and perform its obligations under each Basic Document and each Receivables
Document to which it is a party, and, except where the failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect, is duly qualified to do business and is in good standing (or is exempt from such requirements) in each State
of the United States where the nature of its business requires it to be so qualified.

( b )    No Conflict. The execution, delivery and performance by it of its obligations under each Basic Document and
each Receivables Document to which it is a party and the consummation of the transactions therein contemplated will not
conflict with or result in a breach of any of the terms or provisions of, or constitute a default under, or result in the creation or
imposition of any Lien (other than any Lien created by the Basic Documents) upon any of the property or assets of the
Borrower pursuant to the terms of, any of its organizational documents or any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan
agreement or other agreement or instrument to which it or of its Subsidiaries is bound or to which any of its property or
assets is subject, nor will such action result in any violation of the provisions of any Governmental Rule applicable to it or
any of its properties, in each case, where such conflict, breach, default, Lien or violation, individually or in the aggregate,
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

( c )    Authorization and Enforceability. Each of the Basic Documents and Receivables Documents to which the
Borrower is a party has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrower and (assuming due authorization,
execution and delivery by each other party thereto) is a valid and legally binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable
against the Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, receivership, moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by
general equity principles (regardless of whether such enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

(d)    No Violation. It is not in violation of its organizational documents or in default under any agreement, indenture or
instrument, which violation or default, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material
Adverse Effect.



(e )    Compliance with Law. It (i) is in compliance with all Applicable Laws, and (ii) is not in violation of any order of
any Governmental Authority or other board or tribunal, except, in the case of both (i) and (ii), where noncompliance or
violation could not reasonably be expected to be, have or result in a Material Adverse Effect. Except as could not
reasonably be expected to be, have or result in a Material Adverse Effect, neither Borrower nor any of its respective ERISA
Affiliates has established or maintains or contributes (or has an obligation to contribute) to, or otherwise has any liability with
respect to, any “employee benefit plan” that is covered by Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code.  There are no ESG
Issues pending, individually or in the aggregate, that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(f)    Governmental Action. No Governmental Action is required for (i) the execution, delivery and performance by any
Credit Party, or compliance by such Credit Party with, any of the Basic Documents to which it is a party or (ii) the
consummation of the transactions required of the Borrower by any Basic Document to which it is a party except such as
shall have been obtained before the date hereof, other than the filing or recording of financing statements, instruments of
assignment and other similar documents necessary in connection with the perfection of the security interest created under
the Basic Documents.

(g)    Licenses. It possesses the licenses, certificates, authorities or permits issued by its respective state, federal or
foreign regulatory agencies or bodies necessary to conduct the business now operated by it except where the failure to
obtain or maintain the same could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect, and has not received any written notice of proceedings relating to the revocation or modification of any such
license, certificate, authority or permit, which revocation or modification, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

( h )    Litigation. As of the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, there are no actions or proceedings against, or
investigations of, any Credit Party currently pending with regard to which any such Credit Party has received service of
process and no action or proceeding against, or investigation of, the any such Credit Party is, to the knowledge of such
Credit Party, threatened (in writing) or otherwise pending before any Governmental Authority, which , in each case, if
adversely determined, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(i)    Labor. No Credit Party has been involved in any labor dispute, strike, walkout or union organization which could
reasonably be expected to be, have or result in a Material Adverse Effect.

( j )    Investment Company Act. No Credit Party is required to register as an “investment company” as such term is
defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

(k)    No Insolvency Proceeding. No order for relief under the Bankruptcy Code (or any similar insolvency proceeding)
has been entered with respect to any Credit Party.



( l )    Title. It has good and valid title to, and it is the sole owner of, the Collateral and the Administrative Agent has a
perfected Lien in the Collateral (or, with respect to any Collateral consisting of Equity Interests in Approved Subsidiary SPV
Borrowers, second-priority Lien in such Collateral), free and clear of any other Lien other than any Permitted Lien.

(m)    Intellectual Property. No Credit Party owns, licenses, utilizes, or is a party to, any patents, patent applications,
registered trademarks, trademark applications, registered service marks, service mark applications, registered copyrights,
domain name registrations, copyright applications, trade secrets, trade names, software (other than mass marketed,
commercially available software) or licenses of intellectual property or other registrations or applications for registration of
intellectual property. No Credit Party is in breach of or default under the provisions of any license agreement, domain name
registration or other agreement related to intellectual property, which breach or default would reasonably be expected to be,
have or result in a Material Adverse Effect.

( n )    Disclosure. None of the Basic Documents to which any Credit Party is a party, nor any certificate, statement,
report or other document prepared by any Credit Party and furnished or to be furnished by it pursuant to any of the Basic
Documents to which it is a party or in connection with the transactions contemplated thereby, contains any untrue statement
of material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the material statements contained herein or therein, in
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not materially misleading; provided that the Administrative Agent
and the Lenders acknowledge that as to any projections furnished to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, each Credit
Party only represents that the same were prepared on the basis of information and estimates such Credit Party believed to
be reasonable at the time.

( o )    Affiliated Agreements. No Credit Party is a party to any contracts or agreements with any of its Affiliates on
terms and conditions which are less favorable to such Credit Party than would be usual and customary in similar contracts or
agreements between Persons that are not Affiliates, except as disclosed to Administrative Agent in writing and as expressly
permitted in Section 6.01(n).

( p )    Brokers. No broker’s or finder’s fee, commission or compensation will be payable in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any of the other Basic Documents.

(q)    Chief Executive Offices. The principal place of business and chief executive offices of Borrower is located at 130
East Randolph Street, Suite 3300, Chicago, Illinois 60601, or such other address as shall be designated by the Borrower in
a written notice to the Administrative Agent.

(r)    Tax Returns; Taxes. Each Credit Party has timely filed or caused to be timely filed all federal and material state,
local and, if applicable, foreign tax returns which are required to be filed by such Credit Party, and has paid or caused to be
paid all taxes due and owing by it, other than any taxes or assessments, (i) the validity of which are being contested in good
faith by appropriate proceedings timely instituted and diligently pursued and with respect to which such



Credit Party has set aside adequate reserves on its books in accordance with GAAP or (ii) the failure of which to pay could
not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

( s )    Insurance. As of the Fifth Amendment EffectiveFunding Date, Borrower has in full force and effect such
insurance policies as are listed on Schedule 3.01.

( t)    Financial Statements. All financial statements and financial information relating to Credit Parties that have been
or may hereafter be delivered to Administrative Agent by any such Credit Party (a) are consistent in all material respects with
the books of account and records of the Credit Parties, (b) have been prepared in accordance with GAAP, on a consistent
basis throughout the indicated periods, except that the unaudited financial statements contain no footnotes or year-end
adjustments, and (c) present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial condition, assets and liabilities and
results of operations of Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis at the dates and for the relevant periods
indicated in accordance with GAAP on a basis consistently applied. No Credit Party has any material obligations or liabilities
of any kind required to be disclosed therein that are not disclosed in such financial statements, and since the date of the
most recent financial statements submitted to Administrative Agent pursuant to this Agreement, there has not occurred any
Material Adverse Effect or, to Borrower’s knowledge, any other event or condition that could reasonably be expected to be,
have or result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(u)    Anti-Terrorism; OFAC.

(i)    No Credit Party is and no Person controlling or controlled by any Credit Party, nor any Person having a
beneficial interest in any Credit Party, nor any Person for whom any Credit Party is acting as agent or
nominee in connection with this transaction (“Transaction Persons”) (1) is a Person whose property or
interest in property is blocked or subject to blocking pursuant to Section 1 of Executive Order 13224 of
September 23, 2001 Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten
to Commit, or Support Terrorism (66 Fed. Reg. 49079 (2001)), (2) engages in any dealings or transactions
prohibited by Section 2 of such executive order, or is otherwise associated with any such Person in any
manner violative of Section 2 of such executive order, or (3) is a Person on the list of Specially Designated
Nationals and Blocked Persons or. No Credit Party is in violation of the limitations or prohibitions under any
other OFAC regulation or executive order.

(ii)    Borrower shall not use, and shall ensure that its Subsidiaries and Affiliates, and their respective Related
Parties do not use, any part of the proceeds of the Advances, directly or indirectly, for any payments to any
governmental official or employee, political party, official of a political party, candidate for political office, or
anyone else acting in an official capacity, in order to obtain, retain or direct business or obtain any improper
advantage, in violation of the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended.



(iii)    Borrower acknowledges by executing this Agreement that Lender has notified Borrower, that, pursuant to
the requirements of the Patriot Act, Administrative Agent is required to obtain, verify and record such
information as may be necessary to identify Borrower (including, without limitation, the name and address
of Borrower) in accordance with the Patriot Act.

( v )    Use of Proceeds. Borrower shall not use the proceeds of any Advance made hereunder (i) for a purpose that
violates or would be inconsistent with Regulations T, U or X promulgated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve
System from time to time or (ii) to acquire any security in any transaction in violation of Section 13 or 14 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

Section 3.02    Reserved.

Section 3.03    Financial Condition. Each Credit Party represents and warrants, that on the Fifth Amendment Funding
Date:

(a)    it is not subject to a Bankruptcy Event and has no reason to believe that its insolvency is imminent; and

(b)    (i) the value of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ assets (on a consolidated basis), will exceed the debts and
liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, of the Company and its Subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis), (ii) itthe
Company and its Subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis) (x) will be able to pay itstheir debts and liabilities, subordinated,
contingent or otherwise, as such debts and liabilities mature, (iiiy) it will not have unreasonably small capital with which to
conduct the business in which it isthey are engaged as such business is now conducted and is proposed to be conducted
following the Fifth Amendment Funding Date and, (ivz) it will not be rendered insolvent by the execution and delivery of any
of the Basic Documents to which it isthey are a party or the assumption of any of its obligations thereunder.

ARTICLE IV
CONDITIONS

Section 4.01    Closing Date. The obligations of the Lenders to make Advances hereunder shall not become effective
until the date on which the Administrative Agent shall have received each of the following documents, each of which shall be
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent (and to the extent specified below, to each Lender) in form and
substance (or such condition shall have been waived in accordance with Section 11.02):

( a )    Documents. A duly executed counterpart of each of the Basic Documents (including, without limitation a
Guaranty and a Pledge Agreement for each Subsidiary of Borrower that is not an Excluded Subsidiary), and each and every
document or certification required to be delivered by any Credit Party in connection with the execution of any of the Basic
Documents, and all Schedules and Exhibits thereto (including, without limitation, a list of Receivables to be attached hereto
as Schedule II) and each such document shall be in full force and effect.



(b )    Performance by the Borrower. An Officer’s Certificate from Borrower, dated the Closing Date, certifying (i) that
all the terms, covenants, agreements and conditions of this Agreement and each of the other Basic Documents to be
complied with and performed by the Borrower on or before the Closing Date, including compliance with the Financial
Covenants, have been complied with and performed in all material respects, and (ii) that each of the representations and
warranties of the Borrower made in this Agreement and each of the other Basic Documents are true and correct in all
material respects as of the Closing Date (except to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier or later time).

( c )    Organization Documents. Copies of the Borrower’s articles of formation and operating agreement (or
comparable organizational documents) and any amendments thereto, copies of the certificate of good standing from the
officer of the secretary of state of the jurisdiction of organization of the Borrower, and copies of resolutions of the Borrower’s
governing body authorizing the transactions contemplated by each of the Basic Documents to which the Borrower is a party,
all certified by an Authorized Officer of the Borrower.

( d )    Opinions of Counsel. Counsel to the Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent customary
favorable opinions with respect to corporate authority, enforceability, perfection and other customary matters (as reasonably
requested by the Administrative Agent in its discretion) dated as of the Closing Date.

(e)    Diligence. Administrative Agent shall have completed examinations, the results of which shall be satisfactory in
form and substance to Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion, of Borrower, including, without limitation, (i) an
examination of background checks with respect to the managers, officers and owners of Borrower and (ii) an examination of
the Collateral, and Borrower shall have demonstrated to Administrative Agent’s satisfaction, in its sole discretion, that (x) no
operations of Borrower are the subject of any governmental investigation, evaluation or any remedial action which would be
reasonably expected to result in it being unable to perform its obligations in connection with these transactions, and
(y) Borrower has no liabilities or obligations (whether contingent or otherwise), other than the Obligations, that are deemed
material by Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion; it being understood and agreed that this condition shall be deemed
satisfied upon the execution of this Agreement by the Administrative Agent.

( f )    Collateral Access Agreements . With respect to the chief executive office of the Borrower, use commercially
reasonable efforts to obtain an agreement executed in favor of Administrative Agent by each Person who owns or occupies
any such premises subordinating any Lien that such Person may ever have with respect to any of the Collateral and
authorizing the Administrative Agent from time to time to enter upon the premises and to inspect, remove or sell the
Collateral from such premises.

(g)    Insurance. Copies of the Borrower’s liability and property insurance certificates, together with any endorsements
required pursuant to Section 5.07(a).



(h)    Approvals and Consents. Copies of all material Governmental Actions of all Governmental Authorities required
with respect to the transactions contemplated by the Basic Documents and Receivables Documents and the documents
related thereto.

( i )    Deposit Accounts. Borrower shall have opened the Waterfall Account and Facility Reserve Account with Cash
Management Bank and Administrative Agent shall have received duly executed Control Agreements with the Cash
Management Bank or other applicable banks in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent granting
Administrative Agent springing control over the Operating Account and full dominion over the Waterfall Account and Facility
Reserve Account; provided that, to the extent the Control Agreement with respect to the Operating Account cannot be
obtained as of the Closing Date, Borrower shall deliver such Control Agreement within thirty (30) days of the Closing Date.

(j)    Lien Searches. All in form and substance satisfactory to Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, Administrative
Agent shall have received (i) a report of UCC financing statement, bankruptcy, tax and judgment lien searches performed
with respect to Borrower in each jurisdiction determined by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion, and such report shall
show no Liens on the Collateral (other than Permitted Liens), (ii) each document (including, without limitation, any UCC
financing statement) required by any Basic Document or under law or requested by Administrative Agent to be filed,
registered or recorded to create, in favor of Administrative Agent, for the benefit of itself and the other Lenders, a perfected
security interest upon the Collateral, and (iii) evidence of each such filing, registration or recordation and of the payment by
Borrower of any necessary fee, tax or expense relating thereto.

(k)    Pledged Equity Interests. Receipt by Administrative Agent of (i) any certificates representing the membership or
Equity Interests pledged pursuant to any Pledge Agreement (other than any Equity Interests in Approved Subsidiary SPV
Borrowers), together with an undated stock power or assignment separate from certificate for each membership interest or
shares, as applicable, executed in blank by an authorized officer of the pledgor thereof and (ii) each promissory note (if any)
pledged to Administrative Agent pursuant to any Pledge Agreement endorsed in blank (or accompanied by an executed
transfer form in blank) by the pledgor thereof.

( l )    Programmatic Documents. The Closing Date amendment to the Program Agreement in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to Administrative Agent and each other document required to be executed in connection therewith.

(m)    Intercreditor Agreements. Receipt by Administrative Agent of the Ares Intercreditor.

(n)    Perfection Certificates. A Perfection Certificate with respect to the Borrower and, if applicable, each Guarantor,
dated the Closing Date, and duly executed by the Borrower as contemplated by the Security Agreement.

(o)    Compliance With Laws. Administrative Agent shall be reasonably satisfied that Borrower is in compliance in all
material respects with all Applicable Laws.



The obligation of each Lender to make its initial extension of credit hereunder is also subject to the payment by the
Borrower of such fees as the Borrower shall have agreed to pay to any Lender or the Administrative Agent in connection
herewith, including the reasonable fees and expenses of regulatory counsel and one primary outside counsel to the
Administrative Agent, in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other
Basic Documents and the extensions of credit hereunder, to the extent invoiced at least two (2) Business Days prior to the
Closing Date.

Section 4.02    Each Credit Extension Date. The obligation of each Lender to make its Pro Rata Share of any
Advance on any Credit Extension Date, including with respect to any Advance to be made on the Closing Date and with
respect to the Fifth Amendment Advance on the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, is additionally subject to the satisfaction of
the following conditions:

(a)    each of the representations and warranties of the Credit Parties made in this Agreement and each of the other
Basic Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except for such representations and warranties already
qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of such Credit Extension Date (except to the
extent they expressly relate to an earlier time);

(b)    at the time of and immediately after giving effect to such Advance no Default or Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing;

(c)    the Administrative Agent shall have received (i) an Advance Request in accordance with Section 2.03, which
request shall include a Credit Extension Date and show that after giving effect to the requested Advance, it will not exceed
the Maximum Loan Amount, (ii) a Borrowing Base Certificate for such Advance with all necessary supporting documentation
executed by an Authorized Officer of Borrower, (iii) a Receivables Report from the Backup Servicer with regards to the
Receivables to be pledged pursuant to such Advance, and (iv) solely to the extent necessary to correct any inaccuracy or
misrepresentation in any Advance Request or Borrowing Base Certificate, such additional information as may be reasonably
requested by the Administrative Agent in writing;

(d)    a Bankruptcy Event shall not have occurred with respect to the Borrower;

(e)    such proposed Credit Extension Date shall be during the Term Loan Draw Period and the Term Loan
Termination Date shall not have occurred;

(f)    the Borrower shall have taken any action reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent or the Lenders
required to maintain the ownership interest of the Borrower in the Collateral and the first-priority, perfected security interest
of the Administrative Agent in the Collateral (or, with respect to Collateral consisting of Equity Interests in the Approved
Subsidiary SPV Borrowers, second priority interest in such Collateral); and

(g)    the Borrower shall have issued to Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the applicable Lenders, pursuant to the
terms of the Warrant Agreement, the Warrants.



Each Advance Request shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by the Borrower on the date
thereof and on the date of the funding of the related Advance, as to the matters specified in the foregoing clauses (a)
through (g). The Administrative Agent shall determine, in its sole discretion, whether each of the above conditions have been
satisfied.

Section 4.03    Fifth Amendment Funding Date. The obligation of each Lender to make its Pro Rata Share of the Fifth
Amendment Advance on the Fifth Amendment Funding Date, is additionally subject to the satisfaction of the following
condition:

(a)    Borrower shall have paid (or caused to be paid) to Administrative Agent, on behalf of itself and Lenders, the
Fifth Amendment Original Issue Discount and all other reasonable and documented fees, costs and expenses due and
owing to Administrative Agent, Lenders and any of their Affiliates as of Fifth Amendment Funding Date under this
Agreement. All fees, costs, expenses and other amounts payable under this Section 4.03(a) shall be non-refundable and
fully earned upon Administrative Agent’s receipt of such fees, costs, expenses or amounts.

ARTICLE V
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Until the Term Loan Commitments have expired or been terminated and the principal of and interest on the Advances
and other Obligations payable hereunder shall have been paid in full in cash, each Credit Party covenants and agrees with
the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that:

Section 5.01    Annual Statement as to Compliance. The Company will deliver to the Administrative Agent and each
Lender, within one hundred twenty (120) days after the end of each fiscal year of the Company (commencing with the first
fiscal year ending after the date hereof), an Officer’s Certificate stating, as to the Authorized Officer signing such Officer’s
Certificate, that:

(a)    a review of the activities of the Credit Parties, as applicable, during such year and of its performance under this
Agreement and each of the other Basic Documents has been made under such Authorized Officer’s supervision; and

(b)    to the best of such Authorized Officer’s knowledge, based on such review, the Credit Parties, have complied in
all material respects with all conditions and covenants applicable to such Persons under this Agreement and the other Basic
Documents throughout such year and that no Default has occurred and is continuing, or, if there has been a Default,
specifying each such Default known to such Authorized Officer and the nature and status thereof.

Section 5.02    Notices of Certain Events; Information. The Credit Parties will furnish to the Administrative Agent and
each Lender prompt written notice of the following:

(a)    Defaults. As soon as possible and in any event within two (2) Business Days after any Authorized Officer of any
Credit Party obtains, or reasonably should have obtained,



knowledge of the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default hereunder, or any event that has resulted in or is
reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect, or any default or event of default by any Credit Party or Approved
Subsidiary SPV Borrower under any Approved SPV Facility.

( b )    Litigation. Promptly upon any Authorized Officer of any Credit Party obtaining actual knowledge of (i) the
institution of, or threat (in writing) of, any Proceeding against a Credit Party or the Bank Partner (in the case of the Bank
Partner, solely with respect to the Receivables, the origination of the Receivables or the sale of the Receivables to OppWin)
not previously disclosed in writing by the Borrower to the Administrative Agent that, if adversely determined, is reasonably
likely to result in liability of any Credit Party in an aggregate amount in excess of $[***], (ii) any material development in any
Proceeding against any Credit Party (other than Borrower) that, if adversely determined, is reasonably likely to result in a
judgment in an amount in excess of $[***], or seeks to enjoin or otherwise prevent the consummation of, or to recover any
damages or obtain relief as a result of, the transactions contemplated hereby, written notice thereof together with such other
information as may be reasonably available to the Credit Parties to enable the Administrative Agent and its counsel to
evaluate such matters or (iii) any material development in any Proceeding against the Bank Partner that, if adversely
determined, is reasonably likely to result in a Material Adverse Effect, written notice thereof together with such other
information as may be reasonably available to the Credit Parties to enable the Administrative Agent and its counsel to
reasonably evaluate such matters.

( c )    Changes in Address. Promptly and in any event within five (5) Business Days after the occurrence thereof,
written notice of a change in address of the chief executive office or place of organization of any Credit Party.

(d)    Material Notices. Promptly and in any event within five (5) Business Days following the delivery of any material
notices, other than material notices that have already been provided to Administrative Agent in writing, to an Approved SPV
Agent by an Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower.

(e)    Other Information. Such information (including financial information), documents, records or reports with respect
to the Collateral as the Administrative Agent, on behalf of any Lender, may from time to time reasonably request and which
are reasonably available to the Credit Parties.

Section 5.03    Existence, Licenses, Etc.

( a )    Existence, Rights and Franchises, Etc. Subject to Section 5.03(b), each Credit Party will keep in full effect its
existence, rights and franchises under the laws of the State of its organization (unless it becomes or any successor
hereunder becomes organized under the laws of any other State or of the United States of America, in which case such
Person will keep in full effect its existence, rights and franchises under the laws of such other jurisdiction) and will obtain and
preserve its qualification to do business in each jurisdiction in which such qualification is or shall be necessary to protect the
validity and enforceability of this Agreement and the other Basic Documents to which it is a party and the Collateral, except
where the failure



to do so could not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect; for the
avoidance of doubt, (x) each Credit Party may merge or consolidate with and into, or be dissolved or liquidated into, any
other Credit Party or any Subsidiary of any Credit Party, so long as (i) in the case of any such merger, consolidation,
dissolution or liquidation involving the Borrower, the Borrower is the surviving or continuing entity of any such merger,
consolidation, dissolution or liquidation and (ii) if such transaction involves a Credit Party, a Credit Party shall be the
surviving or continuing entity of any such merger, consolidation, dissolution or liquidation and, (y) the Credit Parties may
consummate the SPAC Transaction. Each Credit Party shall comply in all material respects with the covenants contained in
its operating agreement.

( b )    Licenses. Each Credit Party shall at all times possess all material licenses, certificates, authorities or permits
issued by the appropriate state, federal or foreign regulatory agencies or bodies necessary to conduct the business now
operated by such Credit Party or as contemplated by the other Basic Documents, except where the failure to do so could not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.04    Access to Information.

(a)    The Company shall, during regular business hours, upon reasonable prior written notice, permit the
Administrative Agent, or its agents or representatives to (i) examine all books, records and other documents (including
computer tapes and disks) in the possession or under the control of the Company or its Subsidiaries relating to the
Collateral, the Basic Documents or the Receivables Documents, as may be reasonably requested by the Administrative
Agent, and (ii) visit the offices and property of the Company or its Subsidiaries for the purpose of examining such materials
described in clause (i) above; provided, however, that prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Administrative
Agent, its agents and representatives shall, collectively, only be permitted to perform such examinations and visits set forth
in clauses (i) and (ii) up to two (2) times in any consecutive twelve-month period.

(b)    The Credit Parties agrees to pay any and all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs, fees and
expenses actually incurred by the Administrative Agent, its agents and representatives in connection with such
examinations, inspections, physical counts and other valuations in accordance with Section 11.03 of this Agreement.

(c)    The Company agrees to provide Administrative Agent with copies of board meeting minutes and materials in
accordance with Section 6(b) of that certain Preferred Share Warrant executed between the Company and Administrative
Agent on the Closing Date, at all times (i) during the term of this Agreement or (ii) so long as Administrative Agent either
owns Equity Interests in the Company or holds outstanding Warrants to purchase Equity Interests of the Company.

Section 5.05    Ownership and Security Interests; Further Assurances. Each Credit Party will take all action necessary
to maintain the (i) respective ownership interests of such Credit Party or its Subsidiaries in the Collateral and (ii)
Administrative Agent’s security interest in the Collateral and the other items pledged to the Administrative Agent pursuant to
the Security



Documents, except to the extent that, (x) in the reasonable business judgement of such Person, such property is no longer
necessary for the proper conduct of business of such Person and (y) the disposition of any such property is permitted
pursuant to Section 6.01(a).

Section 5.06    Reserved.

Section 5.07    Performance of Obligations.

( a )    Insurance. Borrower shall keep all of its insurable properties and assets adequately insured in all material
respects against losses, damages and hazards as are customarily insured against by businesses of similar size engaging in
similar activities or lines of business or owning similar assets or properties and at least the minimum amount required by this
Agreement or applicable law; all such insurance policies and coverage levels shall (a) be in such amounts as are insured by
Persons similarly situated and operating like properties, (b) name Administrative Agent, for the benefit of itself and the other
Lenders, as a loss payee or additional insured thereunder, as applicable, and (c) expressly provide that such insurance
policies cannot be terminated without thirty (30) calendar days’ prior written notice to Administrative Agent.

(b)    Reserved.

( c )    Amendments to Material Agreements. The Credit Parties shall not, and shall not permit any Subsidiary of the
Credit Parties, without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, to make (i) any amendment or modification, that
would be materially adverse to Administrative Agent and/or the Lenders or modifies any Material Term, to the (x)
Indebtedness pursuant to the Ares Facility, or (y) any other Indebtedness under an Approved SPV Facility, (ii) any
amendment or modification to any Bank Partner Program which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse
Effect or (iii) any amendment or modification to the Company Operating Agreement that would be materially adverse to
Administrative Agent and the Lenders.

( d )    Amendments of Collateral Documents; Waivers. Each Credit Party agrees (i) that it will not, without the prior
written consent of the Administrative Agent, amend, modify, waive, supplement, terminate or surrender, or agree to any
amendment, modification, supplement, termination, waiver or surrender of, the terms of any Collateral in a manner
materially adverse to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders; and (ii) that no such amendment shall increase or reduce in
any manner the amount of, or accelerate or delay the timing of, distributions that are required to be made for the benefit of
the Lenders. If any such amendment, modification, supplement or waiver shall so be consented to by the Administrative
Agent, each Credit Party agrees, promptly following a request by the Administrative Agent to do so, to deliver executed
copies of such amendment, modification, supplement or waiver and to take such other actions as may be required pursuant
to Section 5.10.

Section 5.08    Treatment of Advances as Debt for All Purposes. Borrower shall treat the Advances as indebtedness
for all purposes.



Section 5.09    Use of Proceeds. On and after the Fifth Amendment Effective Date, the Borrower shall use the
proceeds of the Advances solely to (a) repay in full the remaining TCS Debt, including accrued but unpaid interest thereon,
(b) repay in full the BMO Indebtedness, including accrued but unpaid interest thereon, (c) repay in full the outstanding letters
of credit listed on Schedule 5.09 hereof totaling $[***] in the aggregate, (d) to fund Haircut Capital and (e) to fund working
capital, expenses in connection with the transactions contemplated by the Basic Documents or for other general corporate
purposes.

Section 5.10    Further Assurances. The Credit Parties will take such action from time to time as shall be requested by
the Administrative Agent to effectuate the purposes and objectives of this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, each such Person, will from time to time execute and deliver all such supplements and amendments hereto and
all such financing statements, continuation statements, instruments of further assurance and other instruments, and will take
such other action necessary or advisable to:

(a)    provide further assurance with respect to the Grant of all or any portion of the Collateral;

(b)    maintain or preserve the lien and security interest (and the priority thereof) of this Agreement or carry out more
effectively the purposes hereof;

(c)    perfect, publish notice of or protect the validity of any Grant made or to be made by the Security Documents;

(d)    enforce any rights with respect to the Collateral; and

(e)    preserve and defend title to the Collateral and the rights of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders in such
Collateral against the claims of all Persons and parties.

Section 5.11    Financial Statements and Projections of the Company. The Borrower shall furnish or cause to be
furnished to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders the following financial information:

(a)    as soon as available and in any event within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the end of each fiscal
year of the Company, audited consolidated and consolidating balance sheets and statements of income, cash flows and
changes in shareholders’ equity as of the end of and for such fiscal year audited by Independent Auditors;

(b)    as soon as available and in any event within thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal month of the Company,
unaudited consolidated and consolidating balance sheet and statement of income as of the end of and for the portion of
such fiscal year then ended;

(c)    as soon as available and no later than thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal year, the Company shall
deliver, or cause to be delivered, to the Administrative Agent, the projected budget of the Company and its Subsidiaries; and



(d)    at all times prior to the consummation of the SPAC Transaction, as soon as available and in any event within
fifteen (15) days following the filing thereof, the Company shall provide to Administrative Agent copies of each U.S. federal
income tax return or information return or report filed by the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries.

Each of the financial statements referred to in clauses (a) and (b) above shall have been prepared in accordance with
GAAP (subject to year-end adjustments in the case of interim statements) and shall be accompanied by a certification
substantially in the form of Exhibit F pursuant to which (i) such financial statements shall be certified by an Authorized Officer
of the Company and (ii) the Company shall set forth a calculation of its compliance with the Financial Covenants. The
consolidating financial statements referred to in clause (a) above shall be accompanied by a statement of the Independent
Auditors for the Company to the effect that such consolidating statements have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied to the audits of the corresponding consolidated financial statements and are fairly stated in all material respects in
relation to such consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The Borrower shall promptly furnish or cause to be
furnished to the Administrative Agent any other financial information regarding Borrower reasonably requested by the
Administrative Agent.

Section 5.12    [Reserved].

Section 5.13    Borrowing Base Certificate. (i) On or prior to the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each calendar month
(or, if any such day is not a Business Day, the next succeeding Business Day), (ii) concurrently with the delivery of a
borrowing base certificate to any lender under an Approved SPV Facility, and (iii) upon the occurrence and during the
continuation of an Event of Default, at any other time, promptly upon request by Administrative Agent, Borrower shall submit
an up to date Borrowing Base Certificate along with necessary supporting documentation to Administrative Agent.

Section 5.14    Monthly Covenant Report. On or prior to the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each calendar month (or,
if any such day is not a Business Day, the next succeeding Business Day), Borrower will provide to Administrative Agent,
with respect to the immediately preceding month, (i) the Monthly Covenant Report and (ii) any servicer certificates delivered
pursuant to the Approved SPV Facilities.

Section 5.15    Compliance with Organization Documents and Laws. Each Credit Party hereby covenants and agrees
that until this Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms, it will comply in all respects with (i) the provisions of its
organizational documents in effect from time to time and (ii) all Applicable Laws.

Section 5.16    True Books. Borrower shall (a) keep true, complete and accurate (in accordance with GAAP, except
for the omission of footnotes and year-end adjustments in interim financial statements) books of record and account in
accordance with commercially reasonable business practices in which true and correct entries are made of all of its dealings
and transactions in all material respects; and (b) set up and maintain on its books such reserves as may be required by
GAAP with respect to doubtful accounts and all taxes, assessments, charges, levies and claims and with respect to its
business.



Section 5.17    Payment of Taxes. Borrower shall pay all Taxes imposed upon it or any of its properties or assets or in
respect of any of its income, businesses or franchises before any penalty or fine accrues thereon, and all claims (including
claims for labor, services, materials and supplies) for sums that have become due and payable and that by law have or may
become a Lien upon any of its properties or assets, prior to the time when any penalty or fine shall be incurred with respect
thereto except where the failure to do so could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a
Material Adverse Effect; provided, that no such Tax or claim need be paid if the validity of such Tax or claim is being
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings timely instituted and diligently pursued and with respect to which
Borrower has set aside adequate reserves on its books in accordance with GAAP.

ARTICLE VI
NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Section 6.01    Negative Covenants of the Credit Parties. Until the Term Loan Commitments have expired or
terminated and the principal of and interest on each Advance and all fees and other Obligations (other than contingent
indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving rise thereto has been asserted) payable hereunder have been paid
in full in cash, each Credit Party covenants and agrees with the Lenders and the Administrative Agent that it will not, without
the prior written consent of Administrative Agent:

(a)    except as expressly permitted by the Basic Documents, sell, transfer, exchange or otherwise dispose of any of
its properties or assets, including those included in any part of the Collateral, unless directed to do so by the Administrative
Agent on behalf of the Lenders as permitted herein; provided, however, that this Section shall not apply to nor operate to
prevent:

(i)    the sale or lease of inventory in the ordinary course of business;

(ii)    the sale of delinquent notes or accounts receivable in the ordinary course of business for purposes of
collection only (and not for the purpose of any bulk sale or securitization transaction);

(iii)    the sale of Receivables to any Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower in the ordinary course of the
Borrower’s business;

(iv)    the sale of Receivables or participation interests therein pursuant to the transactions contemplated by
the Program Agreement;

(v)    the sale, transfer or other disposition of any tangible personal property that, in the reasonable business
judgment of such Credit Party, has become obsolete or worn out, and which is disposed of in the
ordinary course of business;

(vi)    dispositions resulting from any casualty or other insured damage to, or any taking under power of
eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding of, any property or asset of any Credit Party;



(vii)    terminations of leases by the any Credit Party in the ordinary course of business that do not interfere in
any material respect with the business of the any such Credit Party;

(viii)    any sale, transfer, assignment, disposition, abandonment or lapse of intellectual property that is no
longer commercially practicable, usable or desirable in the conduct of business, in the ordinary course
of business; and

(ix)    the sale, transfer or other disposition of any Property of any Credit Party (including any sale or transfer of
Property as part of a sale and leaseback transaction) aggregating not more than $[***] during any fiscal
year of the Credit Parties.

(b)    [reserved];

(c)     Engage in an business or activity other than its business as presently conducted (and reasonable extensions
thereof and any business or businesses ancillary or complementary thereto, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the
financing of credit card receivables and salary deduction loans) except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, the other
Basic Documents and the Receivables Documents, other than in connection with, or relating to, the Advances pursuant to
this Agreement;

(d)    dissolve or liquidate in whole or in part or merge or consolidate with any other Person except as provided in
Section 5.03(a);

(e)    permit the validity or effectiveness of any Bank Partner Program to be impaired or permit any Person to be
released from any covenants or obligations under any Bank Partner Program, except (i) as may expressly be permitted
hereby or thereby or (ii) as could not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse
Effect;

(f)    except as provided in the Basic Documents, permit any Lien to be created on or extend to or otherwise arise
upon or burden the Collateral or any part thereof or any interest therein or the proceeds thereof, except for Permitted Liens;

(g)    (A) Pay any dividend or make any distribution (by reduction of capital or otherwise), including, without limitation
any dividend or distribution for the payment of management fees permitted under clause (n) below, whether in cash,
property, securities or a combination thereof, to any owner of a beneficial interest in such Credit Party with respect to any
ownership or Equity Interest or security in or of such Credit Party, (B) redeem, purchase, retire or otherwise acquire for
value any such ownership or Equity Interest or security, or (C) set aside or otherwise segregate any amounts for any such
purpose, unless in the case of each of the foregoing, (i) no Event of Default then exists or would result therefrom, and (ii)
such distribution would not cause the Tangible Net Worth as calculated after giving effect to such dividend, distribution,
redemption, repurchase, retirement or payment to be less than the Minimum Tangible Net Worth, provided that:



(i)    to the extent no Event of Default then exists or would result therefrom, each Credit Party may: (x) pay
dividends or make distributions to its equity holders solely for the purpose of repurchasing Equity
Interests of departing employees or independent contractors or to satisfy withholding tax obligations; (y)
make cash payments in connection with an “Exchange” (as defined in the Company A&R LLCA (as
defined in the Business Combination Agreement)); and (z) make distributions as contemplated by the
Tax Receivable Agreement (as defined in the Business Combination Agreement); and

(ii)    each Credit Party may (x) pay dividends or make distributions during any fiscal year in amounts
necessary to allow each of its members or its beneficial owner to make payments in respect of its
federal income tax liability (and, if applicable, state income tax liability) attributable to its allocable share
of the Borrower’s taxable income (determined in accordance with the Code) (including estimated tax
payments determined in good faith by the Borrower which are required to be made by its members with
respect thereto) so long as the Borrower is treated as a partnership or other pass through entity
(including a disregarded entity) for federal income tax purposes (collectively, “Tax Distributions ”);
provided that, at all times prior to the consummation of the SPAC Transaction, no later than five (5)
Business Days prior to making any Tax Distribution, the Borrower, as the case may be, shall have
delivered to Administrative Agent a certificate duly executed and completed by a financial officer of the
Borrower stating the amount of the Tax Distribution and containing a schedule, in reasonable detail,
setting forth the calculation thereof; and (zy) make distributions of Cash, Equity Interests, or other
property contributed to the Company in connection and in furtherance of the consummation of the
SPAC Transaction, in each case with respect to this clause (zy), within fifteen (15) calendar days) of the
consummation of the SPAC Transaction.

For the avoidance of doubt, the foregoing shall not restrict Credit Parties from making expenditures related to capital,
working capital, marketing and other general corporate purposes.

(h)    except as otherwise permitted under the terms hereof, enter into, assume or otherwise be bound or obligated
under any agreement creating or evidencing Indebtedness, other than Permitted Indebtedness;

(i)    [reserved];

(j)    form any Subsidiary after the Closing Date unless, within thirty (30) days after such Subsidiary is formed, (x) such
Subsidiary (other than any Excluded Subsidiary) at Administrative Agent’s discretion, becomes a Guarantor with respect to
the Obligations and executes a Guaranty in favor of Administrative Agent, (y) such Person pledges to Administrative Agent
all of the Equity Interests of such Subsidiary (which in the case of any Approved



Subsidiary SPV Borrower, may be junior in priority to the applicable Approved SPV Agent) pursuant to a Pledge Agreement
in order to secure the Obligations and (z) Administrative Agent shall have received all documents, including without
limitation, legal opinions and appraisals it may reasonably require to establish compliance with each of the foregoing
conditions in connection therewith;

(k)    No Credit Party shall, and no Credit Party shall permit any of its Subsidiaries to, (a) be or become a Person
whose property or interests in property are blocked or subject to blocking pursuant to Section 1 of Executive Order 13224 of
September 23, 2001 Blocking Property and Prohibiting Transactions With Persons Who Commit, Threaten to Commit or
Support Terrorism (66 Fed. Reg. 49079 (2001)), (b) engage in any dealings or transactions prohibited by Section 2 of such
executive order, or otherwise be associated with any such Person in any manner violative of Section 2 of such executive
order, or (c) otherwise become a Person on the list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons in violation of
the limitations or prohibitions under any other OFAC regulation or executive order;

(l)    permit the FinWise Accounts to (i) have funds in excess of the amounts required under the FinWise Documents
or (ii) be used for any purpose other than to secure the Company’s and OppWin’s obligations under the FinWise Documents;

(m)    [reserved];

(n)    enter into or consummate any transaction of any kind with any of its Affiliates other than (i) the transactions
contemplated hereby and by the other Basic Documents, (ii) to the extent not otherwise prohibited under this Agreement,
other transactions upon fair and reasonable terms materially no less favorable to such Credit Party than would be obtained
in a comparable arms-length transaction with a Person not an Affiliate, (iii) transactions set forth on Schedule 6.01(n), (iv)
such Credit Party’s obligations under the Approved SPV Facilities and the Purchase and Sale Agreements to which it is a
party, (v) such Credit Party’s investment in Subsidiaries, (vi) transactions permitted pursuant to Sections 6.01(a)(iii) and
Section 6.01(g) and (vii) subject to the terms and conditions of the Management Fee Subordination Agreement, the payment
of management fees, indemnity obligations and expenses as contemplated by the Management Fee Agreement so long as
no Event of Default then exists or would result therefrom and the OpCo Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratio as calculated both
before and after giving effect to such payment would not be greater than [***];

(o)    permit any changes in the registered capital or any variation of rights, privileges or preferences of any Equity
Interests of any Credit Party which would materially and adversely affect the rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent
under this Agreement;

(p)    permit any Credit Party to make or authorize any changes or modifications to the Credit Policies or the Servicing
Policy in a manner adverse to the interests of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders under the Basic Documents without
the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent. The Credit Parties shall provide the Administrative Agent with at least
ten (10) Business Days’ prior written notice of any other changes or modifications to the Credit Policies or the Servicing
Policy that do not require the consent of the Administrative Agent; and



(q)    permit any sale, transfer or other disposition of fifty percent (50%) or more of the assets of the Company and its
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, except as permitted by the Basic Documents or by operation of the Receivables
Documents or the Program Agreement.

ARTICLE VII
FINANCIAL COVENANTS

Section 7.01    Maximum Consolidated Debt to Tangible Net Worth. As of the last day of each calendar month,
Borrower shall not permit the Consolidated Debt to Tangible Net Worth Ratio for the immediately preceding three calendar
months to be greater than [***].

Section 7.02    Minimum Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. As of the last day of each calendar month,
Borrower shall not permit the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for the immediately preceding six calendar
months to be less than [***]; provided, that, Borrower shall not permit the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio for the
immediately preceding six calendar months to be less than the ratio next to the corresponding calendar month in the table
set forth below as of the last day of such calendar month if Liquidity on such day is greater than or equal to (i) $[***] if such
day occurs on or prior to July 31, 2022, and (ii) $[***], if such day occurs after July 31, 2022.

Calendar Month Minimum Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio

July 2022 [***]

August 2022 [***]

September 2022 [***]

October 2022 [***]

November 2022 [***]

December 2022 [***]

January 2023 [***]

February 2023 [***]

March 2023 [***]

April 2023 [***]

May 2023, and each calendar month thereafter [***]



Section 7.03    Minimum Liquidity. As of the last day of each calendar month, Borrower shall not permit Liquidity to be
(i) less than $[***] if such day occurs on or prior to July 31, 2022, and (ii) less than $[***], if such day occurs after July 31,
2022.

ARTICLE VIII
CASH MANAGEMENT

Section 8.01    Reserved.

Section 8.02    Location of Waterfall Account. The Waterfall Account shall be maintained with Cash Management
Bank (or any other bank approved by Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion) and subject to a Control Agreement in
“blocked” form, granting Administrative Agent sole control over funds on deposit in the Waterfall Account. If at any time the
Waterfall Account ceases to be an Eligible Deposit Account, then the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, as applicable,
shall, within ten (10) Business Days (A) establish a new Waterfall Account with a Designated Depository Institution or
another depository institution selected by the Administrative Agent (and acceptable to the Required Lenders) as an Eligible
Deposit Account, (B) terminate the Waterfall Account that no longer constitutes an Eligible Deposit Account, and (C) transfer
any cash and investments from such ineligible Waterfall Account to such new Waterfall Account. The Administrative Agent
will inform the Borrower in writing of any such transfer to a new Waterfall Account.

Section 8.03    Cash Management.

(a)    At all times during the Term, Borrower shall maintain all cash in Deposit Accounts which are subject to a Control
Agreement.

(b)    Borrower shall cause all amounts in any Deposit Account of Borrower, maintained with BMO Harris Bank N.A.,
within thirty (30) days of the opening thereof, to be swept daily to either (i) the applicable collection account with respect to
an Approved SPV Facility or (ii) a Deposit Account over which Administrative Agent has a Control Agreement.

(c)    Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, Borrower shall maintain all cash in the
Waterfall Account and shall cause each Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower to deposit, or cause to be deposited (without
duplication), into the Waterfall Account all distributions to the Borrower from any such Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrower;
and

(d)    Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, if Borrower receives any such amounts
directly or in any manner other than via a deposit to the Waterfall Account, the Borrower shall deposit, or cause to be
deposited, to the Waterfall Account all such amounts received within two (2) Business Days after receipt thereof.

Section 8.04    Payments Upon Event of Default.



(a)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, following the occurrence and during the continuance of an
Event of Default, and upon receipt of written notice from Administrative Agent, all amounts received by the Borrowers from
Approved Subsidiary SPV Borrowers in accordance with the provisions of the respective Approved SPV Facilities governing
priority of payments with respect to Collections, shall be directly deposited into the Waterfall Account to be applied to the
Obligations in such order as determined by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; and

(b)    Following the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, the Administrative Agent shall have
the immediate right to direct and to apply all amounts, including without limitation, all funds in the Waterfall Account,
proceeds of Collateral, prepayments, and other amounts received by the Administrative Agent of every description otherwise
payable to the Borrower, to the Obligations in such order and in such manner as the Administrative Agent shall elect in its
sole discretion; provided, so long as no Event of Default then exists, Administrative Agent shall permit Borrower to use
available funds in the Waterfall Account, to the extent thereof, to make Tax Distributions pursuant to Section 6.01(g).

Section 8.05    No Set-Off. Borrower absolutely and unconditionally promises to pay, when due and payable pursuant
hereto, principal, interest and all other amounts and Obligations payable, hereunder or under any other Basic Document,
without any right of rescission and without any deduction whatsoever, including any deduction for set-off, recoupment or
counterclaim, notwithstanding any damage to, defects in or destruction of the Collateral or any other event, including
obsolescence of any property or improvements. Except as expressly provided for herein, Borrower hereby irrevocably
waives set-off, recoupment, demand, presentment, protest, and all notices and demands of any description, and the
pleading of any statute of limitations as a defense to any demand under this Agreement and any other Basic Document, all
to the extent permitted by Governmental Rules. Each Advance shall be due and payable in full, if not earlier in accordance
with this Agreement, on the Term Loan Termination Date.

Notwithstanding that the outstanding Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim
giving rise thereto has been asserted) owing to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders hereunder and the other Basic
Documents have been paid in full, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall continue to maintain the Waterfall
Account hereunder until this Agreement has been terminated in accordance with its terms.

Section 8.06    Waterfall Account; Waterfall Account Property.

( a )    Control of Waterfall Account. The Waterfall Account has been pledged by the Borrower to the Administrative
Agent under the Security Agreement and shall be subject to the Lien granted pursuant to the Security Agreement. The
Administrative Agent shall possess all right, title and interest in and to all funds on deposit from time to time in the Waterfall
Account and in all proceeds thereof (including all income thereon) and all such funds, investments, proceeds and income
shall be part of the Collateral.



( b )    Certain Waterfall Account Matters. Funds held in the Waterfall Account may be invested (to the extent
practicable and consistent with any requirements of the Code) in Permitted Investments by or at the direction of the
Borrower; provided that, at all times, the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Lenders, shall have a first-priority
perfected security interest in all funds and Permitted Investments in the Waterfall Account. In any case, funds in the
Waterfall Account must be available for withdrawal without penalty, and any Permitted Investments must mature or
otherwise be available for withdrawal, one (1) Business Day prior to the next Payment Date and shall not (subject to Section
8.02) be sold or disposed of prior to its maturity. All interest and any other investment earnings on amounts or investments
held in the Waterfall Account shall be retained by the Borrower.

(c)    If any losses are realized in connection with any investment in the Waterfall Account pursuant to this Agreement,
then the Borrower shall deposit the amount of such losses (to the extent not offset by income from other investments in the
Waterfall Account) into such Waterfall Account promptly upon receipt of written notice from the Administrative Agent
describing the realization of such loss.

(d)    Administrative Agent Not Liable. The Administrative Agent shall not in any way be held liable by reason of any
insufficiency in any Waterfall Account held by the Administrative Agent resulting from any investment loss on any Permitted
Investment included therein.

ARTICLE IX
EVENTS OF DEFAULT

If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) shall occur and be continuing (whatever the reason for such Event
of Default and whether it shall be voluntary or involuntary or be effected by operation of Governmental Rules or pursuant to
any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or regulation of any administrative or governmental body):

(a)    failure by Borrower to make payment of any interest on any Advance or any fees required to be made pursuant
to any Basic Document when due and payable pursuant to the Basic Documents, which failure is not fully cured within two
(2) Business Days; or

(b)    failure by Borrower to make payment of any installment of the principal, including any Required Deficiency
Deposit, required to be made pursuant to this Agreement of any Advance, which failure is not fully cured within two (2)
Business Days; or

(c)    default in the observance or performance of any covenant or agreement of Borrower under any Basic Document
(or any disavowal or repudiation of any such Basic Document) to which it is a party (other than a covenant or agreement, a
default in the observance or performance of which is elsewhere in this Article specifically dealt with), or any representation
or warranty of Borrower made in any Basic Document to which it is a party or in any certificate or other writing delivered
pursuant thereto or in connection therewith proving to have been incorrect in any material respect as of the time when the
same shall have been made, and the circumstance or condition in respect of which such misrepresentation or warranty was



incorrect or that gave rise to such covenant or agreement breach shall not have been eliminated or otherwise cured to the
satisfaction of the Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion, for a period of fifteen (15) days (provided that, the grace
period for defaults that could not reasonably be cured within fifteen (15) days shall be thirty (30) days) after the earlier of (i)
the date written notice has been given to Borrower, as applicable, by the Administrative Agent or any Lender specifying such
default or incorrect representation or warranty and stating that such notice is a notice of Default hereunder and (ii) the date
Borrower has knowledge of such default or inaccurate representation and warranty requiring it to be remedied; or

(d)    (i) the failure by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to make payments when due on Indebtedness in excess
of $[***], or (ii) the occurrence of any event which causes or may reasonably be expected to cause a default in the
observance or performance of any covenant or agreement of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries made in, or the
acceleration, upon default by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of, (x) the Receivables Documents or (y) any
repurchase agreement, loan and security agreement, any agreement executed in connection with an Approved SPV Facility
or other similar credit facility agreement entered into by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, only if the
applicable agreement evidences Indebtedness in excess of $[***]; or

(e)    the occurrence of a Material Adverse Effect; or

(f)    [reserved]; or

(g)    the filing of a decree or order for relief by a court having jurisdiction over Borrower or with respect to all or
substantially all of the Collateral in an involuntary case under any applicable federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other
similar Governmental Rules now or hereafter in effect, or the appointing of a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian,
trustee, sequestrator or similar official of Borrower, or for all or substantially all of the Collateral, or the ordering of the
winding-up or liquidation of the affairs of Borrower, and such decree or order shall remain unstayed and in effect for a period
of sixty (60) consecutive days; or

(h)    the commencement by Borrower pursuant to a voluntary case under the Bankruptcy Code or under any
applicable federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar Governmental Rules now or hereafter in effect, or the
consent by Borrower to the entry of an order for relief in an involuntary case under any such Governmental Rules, or the
consent by Borrower to the appointment or taking possession by a receiver, liquidator, assignee, custodian, trustee,
sequestrator or similar official of Borrower or for any substantial part of the Collateral, or the making by Borrower of any
general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or the failure by Borrower generally to pay its respective debts as such debts
become due, or the taking of any action by Borrower in furtherance of any of the foregoing; or

(i)    the insolvency of Borrower; or

(j)    solely to the extent that Receivables originated under a Bank Partner Program is greater than [***] of the total
Receivables originated by the Company and its Subsidiaries during the trailing twelve (12) month period, the failure by the
Company to maintain in full force and



effect such Bank Partner Program, unless, within sixty (60) days following termination of the such Bank Partner Program,
the Company or another Borrower enters into (i) another Bank Partner Program, (ii) is already party to such a program at the
time of termination of such Bank Partner Program, or (iii) a replacement origination channel arrangement which is
reasonably expected to generate an equivalent number of originations as the terminated Bank Partner Program, as
determined by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion; or

(k)    any adverse regulatory, civil or criminal judgement is rendered in favor of or by a Governmental Authority
against the Borrower, and results in a Material Adverse Effect on the financial condition of Borrower; or

(l)    any money judgment, writ or warrant of attachment or similar process involving Borrower or any other Credit
Party, in the aggregate at any time an amount in excess of $[***] with respect to all Credit Parties, to the extent not
adequately covered by insurance as to which a solvent and unaffiliated insurance company has not denied coverage, shall
be entered or filed against such Credit Party or any of their respective assets and (A) shall remain, or any Lien in connection
with any of the foregoing shall remain, undischarged, unvacated, unbonded or unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days (or in
any event later than five (5) days prior to the date of any proposed sale thereunder in connection with any enforcement
proceedings commenced by a creditor upon such judgment, writ, warrant of attachment or similar process), or (B) a decree
or order is entered for the appointment of a receiver, liquidator, sequestrator, trustee, or custodian assignee for the benefit of
creditors (or other officer having similar powers) over such assets; or

(m)    any formal enforcement order or criminal complaint relating to financial crimes or major felonies is brought by a
Governmental Authority against Borrower, which has not been dismissed or satisfied or of which the Borrower has not been
found not guilty within sixty (60) days of the filing of such order or complaint, provided, however, that no Event of Default
under this clause (m) shall be deemed to be continuing if at any time the Borrower is found not guilty under such order or
complaint; or

(n)    a Key Man Trigger Event shall occur; or

(o)    [reserved]; or

(p)    a Change of Control shall occur; or

(q)    default in the observance or performance of any Financial Covenant; or

(r)    default in observance or performance of Article VIII; or

(s)    the failure by Borrower to repay on any Payment Date to Administrative Agent the full amount of any Protective
Advance outstanding on such date, together with interest thereon, as provided in this Agreement, which failure is not
remedied by payment within ten (10) Business Days of the date such payment was due; or



(t)    the occurrence and continuation of an event of default under the Program Agreement or any other documents
executed in connection therewith, which default shall not have been cured or waived within any applicable grace period; or

(u)    [reserved]; or

(v)    the occurrence of a Specified Regulatory Change; or

(w)    the occurrence of an event of default by a Servicer pursuant to the applicable Servicing Agreement which
results in the removal of the Servicer; or

(x)    at any time after the execution and delivery thereof, (i) this Agreement or any Security Document ceases to be in
full force and effect (other than by reason of a release of Collateral in accordance with the terms thereof or the satisfaction in
full of the Obligations in accordance with the terms hereof) or shall be declared null and void or the enforceability thereof
shall be impaired in any material respect, or the Administrative Agent shall not have or shall cease to have a valid and
perfected Lien in any material portion of the Collateral purported to be covered by the Security Documents with the priority
required by the relevant Security Document, in each case for any reason other than the failure of the Administrative Agent to
take any action within its control, or (ii) any of the Basic Documents, for any reason, other than the satisfaction in full of all
Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim, demand or notice has been made), shall
cease to be in full force and effect (other than in accordance with its terms) or shall be declared to be null and void or a party
thereto, as the case may be, shall repudiate its obligations thereunder or shall contest the validity or enforceability of any
such Basic Document in writing; or

(y)    the auditor’s opinion accompanying the audited financial statements of any Credit Party delivered hereunder is
qualified in any manner and the Administrative Agent has notified the Credit Parties in writing that such qualification
constitutes an Event of Default; or

(z)    a material exception in any audit conducted pursuant to Section 5.11 which is not cured within ten (10) Business
Days of the earlier to occur of an Authorized Officer of the applicable Credit Party having knowledge thereof or an
Authorized Officer of the applicable Credit Party receiving written notice thereof from the Administrative Agent; or

(aa)    a final, decree or order is entered by an administrative body (including, without limitation, an administrative
order of the CFPB) or by a court of competent jurisdiction, whether or not such decree or order is appealable or is being
appealed, in connection with a CFPB proceeding brought against any Credit Party or one or more of its Subsidiaries (i) for
the payment of “restitution,” “disgorgement or compensation for unjust enrichment,” “refund of moneys or return of real
property” and/or “payment of damages or other monetary relief,” or any similar characterization (other than for civil monetary
penalties), (ii) for the payment of civil monetary penalties, or (iii) pursuant to which a Credit Party or one or more of its
Subsidiaries consent or agree to remedies, whether conduct or monetary-based, in connection with allegations by such
administrative body, in such decree or order, resulting from (or relate to remediation of) unfair, deceptive or abusive acts or
practices by such Credit Party or any such Subsidiary,



whether or not such Credit Party or such Subsidiary admits that such acts or practices were, in fact, unfair, deceptive or
abusive; which, in the case of either (i), (ii), or (iii) above, results in a Material Adverse Effect; or

(bb)    the occurrence of any Regulatory Trigger Event;

then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (g), (h) or (i) of
this Article), and at any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the Administrative Agent may, and at the
request of the Required Lenders shall, by notice to the Borrower, take either or both of the following actions, at the same or
different times: (i) terminate the Term Loan Commitments, and thereupon the Term Loan Commitments shall terminate
immediately, and (ii) declare the unpaid principal amount of each Advance then outstanding to be due and payable in whole
(or in part, in which case any principal not so declared to be due and payable may thereafter be declared to be due and
payable so long as such Event of Default is continuing, which Event of Default, for the avoidance of doubt, shall
automatically be deemed to be continuing upon the expiry of any applicable cure period expressly provided for hereunder (if
any), and the making by Administrative Agent of a notice to Borrower hereunder with respect to the occurrence of such
Event of Default), and thereupon the principal of each unpaid Advance so declared to be due and payable, together with
accrued interest thereon and all fees and other Obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and
payable immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by
the Borrower; and in case of any event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (g), (h) or (i) of this Article, the Term
Loan Commitments shall automatically terminate and the principal of the then outstanding Obligations, together with
accrued interest thereon and all fees and other Obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become
due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the
Borrower. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article IX (other than upon an event with respect to the
Borrower described in clause (g), (h) or (i) of this Article IX, or at any time the Administrative Agent or the Lenders are
stayed or otherwise prevented by applicable Governmental Rules from giving notice hereunder), Borrower shall have the
right to cure any Event of Default at any time prior to a notice thereof (which notice accelerates the Advances) becoming
effective pursuant to Section 11.01.

ARTICLE X
THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT

(a)    Each Lender hereby designates and appoints Midtown Madison Management LLC as the administrative agent
under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents, and each Lender hereby irrevocably authorizes Midtown Madison
Management LLC, as Administrative Agent for such Lender, to take such action or to refrain from taking such action on its
behalf under the provisions of this Agreement and the other Basic Documents and to exercise such powers and perform
such duties as are delegated to Administrative Agent by the terms of this Agreement and the other Basic Documents,
together with such other powers as are reasonably incidental thereto. Administrative Agent agrees to act as such on the
conditions contained in this



Article X. The provisions of this Article X are solely for the benefit of Administrative Agent and Lenders, and neither Borrower
nor its Affiliates shall have any rights as third-party beneficiaries of any of the provisions of this Article X other than as
provided in this Article X. Administrative Agent may perform any of its duties hereunder, or under the Basic Documents, by
or through its agents, employees or sub-agents.

(b)    In performing its functions and duties under this Agreement, Administrative Agent is acting solely on behalf of
Lenders, and its duties are administrative in nature, and does not assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed, any
obligation toward or relationship of agency or trust with or for Lenders, other than as expressly set forth herein and in the
other Basic Documents, or Borrower or its Affiliates. Administrative Agent shall have no duties, obligations or responsibilities
except those expressly set forth in this Agreement or in the other Basic Documents. Administrative Agent shall not have by
reason of this Agreement or any other Basic Document a fiduciary relationship in respect of any Lender. Each Lender shall
make its own independent investigation of the financial condition and affairs of Borrower and Guarantors in connection with
the extension of credit hereunder and shall make its own appraisal of the creditworthiness of Borrower and Guarantors.
Except for information, notices, reports and other documents expressly required to be furnished to Lenders by Administrative
Agent hereunder or given to Administrative Agent for the account of, or with copies for, Lenders, Administrative Agent shall
have no duty or responsibility, either initially or on a continuing basis, to provide any Lender with any credit or other
information with respect thereto, whether coming into its possession before the Closing Date or at any time or times
thereafter. If Administrative Agent seeks the consent or approval of any Lenders to the taking or refraining from taking any
action hereunder, then Administrative Agent shall send prior written notice thereof to each Lender. Administrative Agent
shall promptly notify each Lender in writing any time that the applicable percentage of Lenders have instructed
Administrative Agent to act or refrain from acting pursuant hereto.

(c)    Neither Administrative Agent nor any of its officers, directors, managers, members, equity owners, employees,
attorneys or agents shall be liable to any Lender for any action lawfully taken or omitted by them hereunder or under any of
the other Basic Documents, or in connection herewith or therewith; provided, that the foregoing shall not prevent
Administrative Agent from being liable to the extent of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a
court of competent jurisdiction on a final and nonappealable basis. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Administrative Agent shall
be obligated on the terms set forth herein for performance of its express duties and obligations hereunder. Administrative
Agent shall not be liable for any apportionment or distribution of payments made by it in good faith, and if any such
apportionment or distribution is subsequently determined to have been made in error, the sole recourse of any Lender to
whom payment was due but not made shall be to recover from the other Lenders any payment in excess of the amount to
which they are determined to be entitled (and such other Lenders hereby agree promptly to return to such Lender any such
erroneous payments received by them). In performing its functions and duties hereunder, Administrative Agent shall
exercise the same care which it would in dealing with loans for its own account. Administrative Agent shall not be
responsible to any Lender for any recitals, statements, representations or warranties made by Borrower herein or for the
execution,



effectiveness, genuineness, validity, enforceability, collectability or sufficiency of this Agreement or any of the other Basic
Documents, the Receivables Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby, or for the financial condition of Borrower
or Guarantors. Administrative Agent shall not be required to make any inquiry concerning either the performance or
observance of any of the terms, provisions, or conditions of this Agreement or any of the Basic Documents, the Receivables
Documents or the financial condition of Borrower or Guarantors, or the existence or possible existence of any Default or
Event of Default. Administrative Agent may at any time request instructions from Lenders with respect to any actions or
approvals which by the terms of this Agreement or of any of the other Basic Documents Administrative Agent is permitted or
required to take or to grant, and Administrative Agent shall be absolutely entitled to refrain from taking any action or to
withhold any approval and shall not be under any liability whatsoever to any Person for refraining from taking any action or
withholding any approval under any of the Basic Documents until it shall have received such instructions from the applicable
percentage of Lenders. Without limiting the foregoing, no Lender shall have any right of action whatsoever against
Administrative Agent as a result of Administrative Agent acting or refraining from acting under this Agreement or any of the
other Basic Documents in accordance with the instructions of the applicable percentage of Lenders and, notwithstanding the
instructions of Lenders, Administrative Agent shall have no obligation to take any action if it, in good faith, believes that such
action exposes Administrative Agent or any of its officers, directors, managers, members, equity owners, employees,
attorneys or agents to any personal liability unless Administrative Agent receives an indemnification satisfactory to it from
Lenders with respect to such action.

(d)    Administrative Agent shall be entitled to rely upon any written notices, statements, certificates, orders or other
documents or any telephone message or other communication (including any writing, telecopy, email or other electronic
communication) believed by it in good faith to be genuine and correct and to have been signed, sent or made by the proper
Person, and with respect to all matters pertaining to this Agreement, any of the other Basic Documents, or any of the
Receivables Documents and its duties hereunder or thereunder, upon advice of legal counsel, independent accountants and
other experts selected by Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.

(e)    Each Lender, severally and not (i) jointly or (ii) jointly and severally, agrees to reimburse and indemnify and hold
harmless Administrative Agent and its officers, directors, managers, members, equity owners, employees, attorneys and
agents (to the extent not reimbursed by Borrower), ratably according to their respective Pro Rata Share in effect on the date
on which indemnification is sought under this subsection of the total outstanding Obligations (or, if indemnification is sought
after the date upon which the Advances shall have been paid in full, ratably in accordance with their Pro Rata Share
immediately prior to such date of the total outstanding Obligations), from and against any and all liabilities, obligations,
losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses, advances, or disbursements of any kind or nature
whatsoever which may be imposed on, incurred by, or asserted against Administrative Agent or any of its officers, directors,
managers, members, equity owners, employees, attorneys or agents in any way relating to or arising out of this Agreement
or any of the other Basic Documents or any action taken or omitted by Administrative Agent under this



Agreement or any of the other Basic Documents; provided, however, that no Lender shall be liable for the payment of any
portion of such liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses, advances or
disbursements to the extent resulting from Administrative Agent’s gross negligence or willful misconduct as determined by a
court of competent jurisdiction on a final and non-appealable basis. The obligations of Lenders under this Article X shall
survive the payment in full of the Obligations and the termination of this Agreement.

(f)    With respect to the Advances made by it, if any, Midtown Madison Management LLC and its successors as
Administrative Agent shall have, and may exercise, the same rights and powers under the Basic Documents, and is subject
to the same obligations and liabilities, as and to the extent set forth in the Basic Documents, as any other Lender. The terms
“Lenders” or “Required Lenders” or any similar terms shall include Administrative Agent in its individual capacity as a
Lender. Administrative Agent and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, act as the financial advisor or in
any other advisory capacity for and generally engage in any kind of lending, banking, trust, financial advisory or other
business with, Borrower, Guarantors, or any their Affiliates as if it were not acting as Administrative Agent pursuant hereto.

(g)    Administrative Agent may resign from the performance of all or part of its functions and duties hereunder at any
time by giving at least thirty (30) calendar days’ prior written notice to the Lenders and the Borrower if Administrative Agent
and its Affiliates cease to be a Lender hereunder pursuant to an assignment in accordance with Section 11.04. Such
resignation shall take effect upon the acceptance by a successor Administrative Agent of appointment pursuant to this Article
X(g), or as otherwise provided below. Upon any such notice of resignation pursuant to this Article X(g), Required Lenders
shall appoint a successor Administrative Agent; provided, that such successor shall be an Eligible Assignee hereunder. If a
successor Administrative Agent shall not have been so appointed within such thirty (30) calendar day period, the retiring
Administrative Agent may, on behalf of Lenders, appoint a successor Administrative Agent, who shall serve as
Administrative Agent until such time as Required Lenders appoint a successor Administrative Agent as provided above;
provided that any such successor Administrative Agent shall constitute an Eligible Assignee. If no successor Administrative
Agent has been appointed pursuant to the foregoing within such thirty (30) calendar day period, the resignation shall
become effective and Required Lenders thereafter shall perform all the duties of Administrative Agent hereunder, until such
time, if any, as Required Lenders appoint a successor Administrative Agent as provided above. Upon the acceptance of any
appointment as Administrative Agent under the Basic Documents by a successor Administrative Agent, such successor
Administrative Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the
retiring Administrative Agent and, upon the earlier of such acceptance or the effective date of the retiring Administrative
Agent’s resignation, the retiring Administrative Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations under the Basic
Documents; provided that any indemnity rights or other rights in favor of such retiring Administrative Agent shall continue
after and survive such resignation and succession. After any retiring Administrative Agent’s resignation as Administrative
Agent under the Basic Documents, the provisions of this Article X shall inure to its benefit as to any actions



taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was Administrative Agent under the Basic Documents. The fees payable by the
Borrower to a successor Administrative Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise
agreed between the Borrower and such successor.

(h)    Each Lender agrees that any action taken by Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders (or, where required
by the express terms of this Agreement, a greater number of Lenders) in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement
or of the other Basic Documents relating to the Collateral, and the exercise by Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders
(or, where so required, such greater number of Lenders) of the powers set forth herein or therein, together with such other
powers as are reasonably incidental thereto, shall be authorized and binding upon all of Lenders and Administrative Agent.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Administrative Agent shall have the sole and exclusive right and authority to
(i) act as the disbursing and collecting agent for Lenders with respect to all payments and collections arising in connection
herewith and with the Basic Documents in connection with the Collateral; (ii) execute and deliver each Basic Document
relating to the Collateral and accept delivery of each such agreement delivered by the Borrower or any of its Affiliates; (iii)
act as collateral agent for Lenders for purposes of the perfection of all security interests and Liens created by such
agreements and all other purposes stated therein; (iv) manage, supervise and otherwise deal with the Collateral; (v) take
such action as is necessary or desirable to maintain the perfection and priority of the security interests and Liens created or
purported to be created by the Basic Documents relating to the Collateral; and (vi) except as may be otherwise specifically
restricted by the terms hereof or of any other Basic Document, exercise all right and remedies given to such Administrative
Agent and Lenders with respect to the Collateral under the Basic Documents relating thereto, at law, or otherwise. Lenders
hereby irrevocably authorize Administrative Agent, at its option and in its discretion, to release any Lien granted to or held by
Administrative Agent, for the benefit the of Lenders, upon any Collateral covered by the Basic Documents (x) upon
termination of this Agreement and the payment and satisfaction in full in cash of all Obligations (other than contingent
indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving rise thereto has been asserted); (y) constituting Collateral being
sold or disposed of; or (z) constituting Collateral leased to Borrower under a lease which has expired or been terminated in a
transaction permitted under this Agreement or is about to expire and which has not been, and is not intended by Borrower to
be, renewed or extended. So long as no Event of Default then exists, upon receipt by Administrative Agent of confirmation
from the requisite percentage of Lenders of its authority to release any particular item or types of Collateral covered by this
Agreement or the other Basic Documents, and upon at least two (2) Business Days’ prior written request by Borrower (which
notice shall not be required in connection with the release of the Liens granted pursuant to the Basic Documents on the
Term Loan Termination Date upon payment in full in cash of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification
obligations for which no claim has been asserted)), Administrative Agent shall authorize the release of the Liens granted to
the Administrative Agent, for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders, herein or pursuant hereto upon such
Collateral; provided, however, that Administrative Agent shall not be required to execute any such document on terms which,
in Administrative Agent’s opinion, would expose Administrative Agent to liability or create any obligation or entail any
consequence other than the release of such Liens without recourse or warranty (other than that such Collateral is free and
clear, on the date of such delivery, of any and all Liens arising from



such Person’s own acts), and such release shall not in any manner discharge, affect or impair the Obligations or any Liens
upon (or obligations of Borrower in respect of) all interests retained by Borrower, including, without limitation, the proceeds
of any sale, all of which shall continue to constitute part of the Collateral covered by this Agreement or the Basic Documents.
Administrative Agent shall have no obligation whatsoever to any Lender or any other Person to assure that the Collateral
covered by this Agreement or the other Basic Documents exists or is owned by Borrower or is cared for, protected or
insured or has been encumbered or that the Liens granted to Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Lenders, herein or
pursuant hereto have been properly or sufficiently or lawfully created, perfected, protected, enforced or maintained or are
entitled to any particular priority, or to exercise at all or in any particular manner or under any duty of care, disclosure, or
fidelity, or to continue exercising, any of the rights, authorities and powers granted or available to Administrative Agent in
this Article X(h) or in any of the Basic Documents; it being understood and agreed that in respect of the Collateral covered
by this Agreement or the other Basic Documents, or any act, omission or event related thereto, Administrative Agent may
act in any manner it may deem appropriate, in its discretion, given Administrative Agent’s own interest in Collateral covered
by this Agreement or the Basic Documents and Administrative Agent shall have no duty or liability whatsoever to any of the
other Lenders; provided, that Administrative Agent shall exercise the same care which it would in dealing with financial
assets for its own account.

(i)    Each Lender hereby appoints Administrative Agent as agent for the purpose of perfecting Lenders’ security
interest in Collateral which, in accordance with Article 9 of the UCC in any applicable jurisdiction, can be perfected only by
possession. Should any Lender (other than Administrative Agent) obtain possession of any such Collateral, such Lender
shall hold such Collateral for purposes of perfecting a security interest therein for the benefit of the Lenders, notify
Administrative Agent thereof and, promptly upon Administrative Agent’s request therefor, deliver such Collateral to
Administrative Agent or otherwise act in respect thereof in accordance with Administrative Agent’s instructions.

(j)    Each Lender agrees that it will not have any right individually to enforce or seek to enforce this Agreement or any
other Basic Document or to realize upon any Collateral security for the Advances or other Obligations; it being understood
and agreed that such rights and remedies may be exercised only by Administrative Agent in accordance with the terms of
the Basic Documents.

(k)    In the event Administrative Agent requests the consent of a Lender and does not receive a written denial thereof
within five (5) Business Days after such Lender’s receipt of such request, then such Lender will be deemed to have given
such consent so long as such request contained a notice stating that such failure to respond within five (5) Business Days
would be deemed to be a consent by such Lender.

(l)    In the event Administrative Agent requests the consent of a Lender in a situation where such Lender’s consent
would be required and such consent is denied, then Administrative Agent may, at its option, require such Lender to assign its
interest in the Advance to Administrative Agent for a price equal to the then outstanding principal amount thereof due such



Lender plus accrued and unpaid interest and fees due such Lender, which principal, interest and fees will be paid to the
Lender when collected from Borrower. In the event that Administrative Agent elects to require any Lender to assign its
interest to Administrative Agent pursuant to this Article X(l), Administrative Agent will so notify such Lender in writing within
forty-five (45) days following such Lender’s denial, and such Lender will assign its interest to Administrative Agent no later
than five (5) calendar days following receipt of such notice.

(m)    As a matter of administrative convenience, as requested from time to time by a Lender, Administrative Agent
may, either directly, or through one or more of its Affiliates, on behalf of one or more Lenders, disburse funds to Borrower for
an Advance that is otherwise required to be funded pursuant to Section 2.04(a) by such Lender by advancing the amount
thereof on behalf of such Lender (on terms to be agreed upon between Administrative Agent and such Lender (each such
advance, an “Administrative Agent Advance”)). With respect to each Administrative Agent Advance, Administrative Agent or
its Affiliate(s) shall have, subject to the agreed upon terms related to such Administrative Agent Advance, the right to set off
against the amounts of any payments or distributions to be made to such Lender hereunder, the entire amount of such
Administrative Agent Advance, together with any agreed upon interest or fees thereon, until such Administrative Agent
Advance is paid in full. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this Article X(m), or elsewhere in this Agreement or the other
Basic Documents, including, without limitation, the provisions of this Article X(m), shall be deemed to require Administrative
Agent or its Affiliates to advance funds on behalf of any Lender, whether in the form of an Administrative Agent Advance, or
otherwise, or to relieve any Lender from such Lender’s obligation to fulfill its commitments hereunder, or to prejudice any
rights that Administrative Agent or Borrower may have against any Lender as a result of any default by such Lender
hereunder.

(n)    If Administrative Agent pays an amount to a Lender under this Agreement in the belief or expectation that a
related payment has been or will be received by Administrative Agent from Borrower and such related payment is not
received by Administrative Agent, then Administrative Agent will be entitled to recover such amount from such Lender
without interest, set-off, counterclaim or deduction of any kind.

(o)    If Administrative Agent is, at any time, required by Governmental Rule to return any amount received by
Administrative Agent under this Agreement to Borrower, or to pay any such amount to any other Person (each such amount,
an “Avoided Transfer”), then, notwithstanding any other term or condition of this Agreement, Administrative Agent will not be
required to distribute any portion thereof to any Lender and shall promptly deliver the amount of such Avoided Transfer to
the Person entitled thereto, in accordance with the requirements of applicable Governmental Rules.



ARTICLE XI
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 11.01    Notices.

( a )    Notices Generally. Except in the case of notices and other communications expresslyUnless otherwise
specifically provided herein, any notice or other communication herein required or permitted to be given by telephone or
email, all notices and other communications provided for hereinto any Credit Party, the Lenders or the Administrative Agent
shall be sent to such Person’s address as set forth below or in the other relevant Basic Document. Each notice hereunder
shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent
by telecopy, as follows:may be personally served, sent by telefacsimile, courier service or e-mail and shall be deemed to
have been given when delivered in person or by courier service and signed for against receipt thereof, or upon receipt of
telefacsimile or e-mail:

(i)    if to the Borrower, to:

Opportunity Financial, LLC
130 East Randolph Street, Suite 3300
Chicago, Illinois 60601
Attention: [***]
Facsimile: [***]
Telephone: [***]
Email: [***]

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

DLA PiperSidley Austin LLP (US)
200 S. Biscayne Blvd.

1001 Brickell Bay Drive
Suite 2500900
Miami, Florida 33131
Attention: Joshua M. Samek, Esq.
Facsimile: 305-437-8131

Telephone: 305-423-8500305-391-5210
Email: samekj@dlapiperjsamek@sidley.com;

(ii)    if to the Administrative Agent, to:

Midtown Madison Management, as Administrative Agent
One Rockefeller Plaza, 32nd Floor
New York, New York 10020



Attention: [***]
Facsimile: [***];

with a copy to:

Midtown Madison Management LLC, as Administrative Agent
One Rockefeller Plaza, 32nd Floor
New York, New York 10020
Attention: Steven Segaloff, Senior Counsel
Facsimile: 917-464-7350; and

(iii)    if to a Lender, to it at its address (or telecopy number) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire.

Any party hereto may change its address or, telecopy number or email for notices and other communications
hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto (or, in the case of any such change by a Lender, by notice to the Borrower
and the Administrative Agent).  All notices and other communications given to any party hereto in accordance with the
provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given on the date of receipt (except that, if not given during
normal business hours for the recipient, notices sent by facsimile shall be deemed to have been given at the opening of
business on the next business day for the recipient). Notices delivered through electronic communications, to the extent
provided in subsection (b) below, shall be effective as provided in said subsection (b).

(b) Electronic Communications. Notices and other communications to the Lenders hereunder may be delivered or
furnished by electronic communication (including e-mail and Internet or intranet websites) pursuant to procedures approved
by the Administrative Agent, provided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices to any Lender pursuant to Section 2.03(a)
if such Lender has notified the Administrative Agent that it is incapable of receiving notices under such Section by electronic
communication. The Administrative Agent or the Borrower may agree to accept notices and other communications to it
hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it, provided that approval of such procedures
may be limited to particular notices or communications.

Unless the Administrative Agent otherwise prescribes, (i) notices and other communications sent to an e-mail
address shall be deemed received upon the sender’s receipt of an acknowledgement from the intended recipient (such as by
the “return receipt requested” function, as available, return e-mail or other written acknowledgement), provided that if such
notice or other communication is not sent during the normal business hours of the recipient, such notice or communication
shall be deemed to have been sent at the opening of business on the next business day for the recipient, and (ii) notices or
communications posted to an Internet or intranet website shall be deemed received upon the deemed receipt by the
intended recipient at its e-mail address as described in the foregoing clause (i) of notification that such notice or
communication is available and identifying the website address therefor.

Section 11.02    Waivers; Amendments.



( a )    No Deemed Waivers; Remedies Cumulative. No failure or delay by the Administrative Agent or any Lender in
exercising any right or power hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such
right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or
further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent and
the Lenders hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that they would otherwise have. No
waiver of any provision of this Agreement or consent to any departure by Borrower therefrom shall in any event be effective
unless the same shall be permitted under Section 11.02(b), and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the
specific instance and for the purpose for which given. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of any
Advances shall not be construed as a waiver of any Default, regardless of whether the Administrative Agent or any Lender
may have had notice or knowledge of such Default at the time.

( b )    Amendments. Neither this Agreement nor any provision hereof may be waived, amended or modified except
pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by (a) the Borrower, (b) the Required Lenders (or the
Administrative Agent acting at the direction of the Required Lenders) or (c) if the rights or duties of the Administrative Agent
are affected, the Administrative Agent; provided that no such agreement, amendment, waiver, or modification that attempts
to do any of the following shall be effective unless consented to by the Lenders affected thereby referenced below (including,
in each instance, any initial Lender that is a Defaulting Lender):

(i)    increase the Term Loan Commitment of any Lender without the written consent of such Lender;

(ii)    reduce the principal amount of any Advance or reduce the rate of interest thereon, or reduce any fees
payable hereunder, without the written consent of each Lender affected thereby; provided, however, that
only the consent of the Required Lenders shall be necessary to amend the default rate provided in
Section 2.09(b) or to waive any obligation of the Borrower to pay interest or fees at the default rate as
set forth therein;

(iii)    postpone the scheduled date of payment of the principal amount of any Advance, or any interest thereon,
or any fees payable hereunder, or reduce the amount of, waive or excuse any such payment, or
postpone the scheduled date of expiration of any Term Loan Commitment, without the written consent
of each Lender affected thereby;

(iv)    change Section 2.12(d) without the consent of each Lender affected thereby;

(v)    change any of the provisions of this Section or the definition of the term “Required Lenders” or any other
provision hereof specifying the number or percentage of Lenders required to waive, amend or modify
any rights



hereunder or make any determination or grant any consent hereunder, without the written consent of
each Lender;

(vi)    release the Borrower from its Obligations under the Security Documents without the written consent of
each Lender; or

(vii)    without the written consent of each Lender, release all or substantially all of the collateral security or
otherwise terminate all or substantially all of the Liens under the Security Documents, agree to
additional obligations being secured by all or substantially all of the collateral security thereto, alter the
relative priorities of the obligations entitled to the Liens created under the Security Documents with
respect to all or substantially all of the collateral security provided thereby, except that no such consent
shall be required, and the Administrative Agent is hereby authorized (and so agrees with the Borrower)
to release any Lien covering property (and to release any such guarantor) that is the subject of either a
disposition of property permitted hereunder or a disposition to which the Required Lenders have
consented;

a n d provided further that no such agreement shall amend, modify or otherwise affect the rights or duties of the
Administrative Agent hereunder without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (1) no Defaulting Lender shall have any right to approve or
disapprove any amendment, waiver or consent hereunder (and any amendment, waiver or consent which by its terms
requires the consent of all Lenders or each affected Lender may be effected with the consent of the applicable Lenders other
than Defaulting Lenders), except that (x) the Term Loan Commitment of any Defaulting Lender may not be increased or
extended without the consent of such Lender and (y) any waiver, amendment or modification requiring the consent of all
Lenders or each affected Lender that by its terms affects any Defaulting Lender more adversely than other affected Lenders
shall require the consent of such Defaulting Lender, (2) if the Administrative Agent and the Borrower have jointly identified an
obvious error or any error or omission of a technical nature, in each case, in any provision of the Basic Documents, then the
Administrative Agent and the Borrower shall be permitted to amend such provision, and (3) guarantees, collateral security
documents and related documents executed by the Borrower or the Guarantor in connection with this Agreement may be in
a form reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent and may be amended, supplemented or waived without the
consent of any Lender if such amendment, supplement or waiver is delivered in order to (x) comply with local law or advice
of local counsel, (y) cure ambiguities, omissions, mistakes or defects or (z) cause such guarantee, collateral security
document or other document to be consistent with this Agreement and the other Basic Documents.

Section 11.03    Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver.

(a)    Costs and Expenses. The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses actually
incurred by the Administrative Agent and its Affiliates,



including all reasonable and documented due diligence costs, costs of asset validations, field examination, appraisals and
the reasonable and documented fees, charges and disbursements of regulatory counsel and one primary outside counsel
for the Administrative Agent, in connection with the preparation and administration of this Agreement and the other Basic
Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the
provisions hereof or thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be consummated), (ii) all
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses actually incurred by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, including
the reasonable and documented fees, charges and disbursements of one primary outside counsel for the Administrative
Agent and the Lenders as a whole, in connection with the enforcement or protection of its rights in connection with this
Agreement and the other Basic Documents, including its rights under this Section, or in connection with the Advances
hereunder, including in connection with any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect thereof and (iii) all reasonable
and documented costs, expenses, assessments and other charges actually incurred in connection with any filing,
registration, recording or perfection of any security interest contemplated by any Security Document or any other document
referred to therein. Any request for reimbursement of any of the costs and expenses in which the Borrower is required to
reimburse a Person pursuant to this Section 11.03(a) shall be accompanied by any invoice evidencing such cost or expense,
which invoice shall be in reasonable form and substance in respect of such cost or expense.

(b)    Indemnification by the Borrower. The Borrower shall indemnify the Administrative Agent and each Lender, and
each Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an “Indemnitee”) against, and hold each
Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses, including the reasonable
and documented fees, charges and disbursements of a single counsel for the Indemnitees in each relevant jurisdiction
(provided, that if the interests of the Indemnitees conflict with regard to the representation, each Indemnitee having such a
conflict shall be reimbursed for the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of its own counsel), incurred by or asserted
against any Indemnitee arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of this Agreement or
any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the performance by the parties hereto of their respective obligations
hereunder or the consummation of the Transactions or any other transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) the making of any
Advances or the use of the proceeds therefrom, or (iii) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding
relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory and regardless of whether any
Indemnitee is a party thereto; provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that
such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses (x) are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final
and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence, bad faith or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee
or (y) result from a claim brought by the Borrower against an Indemnitee for breach in bad faith of such Indemnitee’s
obligations hereunder or under any other Basic Document, if the Borrower has obtained a final and nonappealable judgment
in its favor on such claim as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction.



(c)    Procedure for Indemnification for Third Party Claims. If the Indemnitee is seeking indemnification hereunder with
respect to a third party claim (in such capacity, the “Indemnified Party”), it shall, except to the extent prohibited by any
Applicable Law, promptly notify the Borrower (in such capacity, the “ Indemnifying Party”), in writing (each, a “Claim Notice”),
of any notice of the assertion by a third party of a claim or of the commencement by a third party of any legal proceeding,
arbitration or action, or if the Indemnified Party determines the existence of any such claim or the commencement by any
third party of any such legal proceeding, arbitration or action, whether or not the same shall have been asserted or initiated,
in any case with respect to which the Indemnifying Party is or may be obligated to provide indemnification (a “Third Party
Claim”), specifying in reasonable detail the nature of the Third Party Claim and, if known, the amount, or an estimate of the
amount, of the Third Party Claim, provided that failure to promptly give such notice shall only limit the liability of the
Indemnifying Party to the extent of the actual prejudice, if any, suffered by the Indemnifying Party as a result of such failure.
The Indemnifying Party shall have thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of any Claim Notice to notify the Indemnified Party
of the Indemnifying Party’s election to assume the defense of the Third Party Claim. If the Indemnifying Party has assumed
such defense, the Indemnifying Party will not be liable for any legal expenses subsequently incurred by the Indemnified
Party in connection with the defense of such claim. In the event that the Indemnifying Party elects to assume the defense of
a Third Party Claim as contemplated herein, the Indemnified Party shall be entitled to participate in (but not control) the
defense of such claim and to employ counsel of its choice for such purpose at its sole expense unless (i) the Indemnifying
Party has agreed in writing to pay such fees and expenses, or (ii) the named parties to any such action, suit or proceeding
(including any impleaded parties) include both such Indemnified Party and the Indemnifying Party and such Indemnified
Party shall have been advised by its counsel that there are one or more legal defenses available to it which are in conflict
with those available to the Indemnifying Party and in the reasonable judgment of such counsel it is advisable for the
Indemnified Party to employ separate counsel in connection with such conflicting defenses (in which case the Indemnifying
Party shall not have the right to assume the defense of such action, suit or proceeding on behalf of the Indemnified Party
solely in connection with such conflicting defenses). If the Indemnifying Party does not assume the defense of any Third
Party Claim in accordance with this Section 11.03(c), the Indemnified Party may continue to defend such claim at the sole
cost and expense of the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnifying Party may still participate in, but not control, the defense
of such Third Party Claim at the Indemnifying Party’s cost and expense; provided, however, that if the Indemnifying Party
does not assume the defense and control of a Third Party Claim in accordance with this Section 11.03(c), the Indemnifying
Party shall not be required to pay for more than one counsel for the Indemnified Party in connection with any Third Party
Claim and a single local counsel in each jurisdiction where local counsel is reasonably required. In the event that the
Indemnified Party assumes the defense of a Third Party Claim in accordance with this Section 11.03(c), the Indemnified
Party will not consent to a settlement, compromise or discharge of, or the entry of any judgment arising from, any such
claim, without the prior written consent of the applicable Indemnifying Party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed). In the event that the Indemnifying Party elects to assume the defense of a Third Party Claim in
accordance with this Section 11.03(c), the Indemnifying Party shall not, without the prior written consent of the Indemnified
Party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or



delayed), consent to a settlement, compromise or discharge of, or the entry of any judgment arising from, such claim,
provided that the consent of the Indemnified Party is not so required if the sole relief provided by such settlement,
compromise, discharge or entry of any judgment consists of monetary obligations that are paid by the Indemnifying Party
and contains no admission of liability on the part of the Indemnified Party. In any such Third Party Claim, the party
responsible for the defense of such claim hereunder shall, to the extent reasonably requested by the other party, keep such
other party informed as to the status of such claim, including all settlement negotiations and offers. If the Indemnifying Party
does not assume the defense of such Third Party Claim in accordance with this Section 11.03(c), the Indemnifying Party
shall make available to the Indemnified Party and its attorneys and other representatives all relevant books, records,
documents and other materials reasonably required by the Indemnified Party or its representatives and attorneys for use in
contesting any Third Party Claim, and shall reasonably cooperate with the Indemnified Party in the defense of all such
claims; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 11.03(c) will require the Indemnifying Party to provide information that
could reasonably be expected to jeopardize the attorney-client privilege applicable to any such information. If the
Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of such Third Party Claim in accordance with this Section 11.03(c), the Indemnified
Party shall make available to the Indemnifying Party and its attorneys and other representatives all relevant books, records,
documents and other materials reasonably required by the Indemnifying Party or its representatives and attorneys for use in
contesting any Third Party Claim, and shall reasonably cooperate with the Indemnifying Party in the defense of all such
claims; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 11.03(c) will require the Indemnified Party to provide information that
could reasonably be expected to jeopardize the attorney-client privilege applicable to any such information.

(d)    Reimbursement by Lenders. To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount required to be paid by it to
the Administrative Agent under Section (a), (b), or (c) of this Section 11.03, each Lender severally agrees to pay to the
Administrative Agent such Lender’s Applicable Percentage (determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed
expense or indemnity payment is sought) of such unpaid amount; provided that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified
loss, claim, damage, liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against the Administrative
Agent in its capacity as such.

( e )    Waiver of Consequential Damages, Etc. To the extent permitted by applicable Governmental Rules, the
Borrower shall not assert, and hereby waives, any claim against any Indemnitee, on any theory of liability, for special,
indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or
as a result of, this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the Transactions, any Advance or the
use of the proceeds thereof.

( f )    Payments. All amounts due under this Section shall be payable promptly after Borrower’s receipt of written
demand therefor in accordance with this Section 11.03.



( g )    Limitation with respect to Taxes. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Taxes shall be
indemnifiable by the Borrower only if and to the extent provided in Section 2.11.

Section 11.04    Successors and Assigns.

(a )    Assignments Generally. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that (i) the Borrower may not assign or
otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Lender and the
Administrative Agent (and any attempted assignment or transfer by the Borrower without such consent shall be null and void)
and (ii) no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations hereunder except in accordance with this
Section. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the
parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby,
the Related Parties of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by
reason of this Agreement.

(b)    Assignments by Lenders.

( i )    Assignments Generally. Subject to the conditions set forth in clause (A) below, any Lender may assign to
one or more assignees all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or
a portion of its Term Loan Commitment and the Advances at the time owing to it) to one or more
Persons (a “Transferee”) with the prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld
or delayed) of the Administrative Agent (provided such Administrative Agent at the time of such request
is not or is not affiliated with a Defaulting Lender) and prior written notice to the Borrower; provided,
however, that no such consent shall be required with respect to an assignment by a Lender to an
Affiliate of such Lender.

(A)    Certain Conditions to Assignments. Assignments shall be subject to the following additional
conditions:

1.    except in the case of an assignment to a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender or
an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender’s Term Loan
Commitment or Advances, the amount of the Term Loan Commitment or Advances of the
assigning Lender subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the
Assignment and Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to the
Administrative Agent) shall not be less than $3,000,000 unless the Administrative Agent
otherwise consents;



2.    each partial assignment of any Term Loan Commitments or Advances shall be
made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender’s rights and
obligations with respect to the applicable Advance under this Agreement in respect of
such Term Loan Commitments and Advances;

3.    the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative
Agent an Assignment and Assumption in substantially the form of Exhibit A, together with
a processing and recordation fee of $3,500 (for which no one other than the assignor and
the assignee shall be obligated);

4.    the assignee, if it shall not already be a Lender, shall deliver to the
Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire and a consent to the terms and
provisions of the Agency Agreement; and

5.    so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, no assignment
shall be made to any Person that does not constitute an Eligible Assignee without the prior
written consent of Borrower.

( B )    Effectiveness of Assignments. Subject to acceptance and recording thereof pursuant to
Section 11.04(b)(ii), from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption the
assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such
Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the
assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and
Assumption, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment
and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement,
such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Section
2.11 and Section 11.03); provided that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected
parties, no assignment by a Defaulting Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any
party hereunder arising from that Lender’s having been a Defaulting Lender. Any assignment or transfer
by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this Section shall be
treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and
obligations in accordance with Section 11.04(c).

( i i )    Maintenance of Registers by Administrative Agent. Administrative Agent, acting for this purpose as an
agent of the Borrower, shall maintain



at their offices in New York, New York, a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a
register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the Term Loan
Commitments of, and principal amount of the Advances owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms
hereof from time to time (the “Registers” and each individually, a “Register”). The entries in the
Registers shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Registers pursuant to the terms hereof
as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary. The
Registers shall be available for inspection by the Borrower, and any Lender, at any reasonable time and
from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.

( i i i )    Acceptance of Assignments by Administrative Agent. Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment
and Assumption executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee’s completed
Administrative Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder), the processing
and recordation fee referred to in Section 11.04(b) and any written consent to such assignment required
by Section 11.04(b), the Administrative Agent shall accept such Assignment and Assumption and send
a copy of such executed and accepted assignment (along with a copy of the Administrative
Questionnaire) to the Administrative Agent to record the information contained therein in the Register.
No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the
Register as provided in this Section 11.04(b)(iii).

( c )    Participations. Any Lender may, without the consent of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, sell
participations to one or more banks, financial institutions, funds or other entities (a “Participant”) in all or a portion of such
Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement and the other Basic Documents (including all or a portion of its Term
Loan Commitments and the Advances owing to it); provided that (i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agreement and the
other Basic Documents shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto
for the performance of such obligations and (iii) Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to
deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender’s rights and obligations under this Agreement and
the other Basic Documents. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide
that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and the other Basic Documents and to approve any
amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement or any other Basic Document; provided that such
agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any
amendment, modification or waiver described in the first proviso to Section 11.02(b) that affects such Participant. Subject to
Section 11.04(d), the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 2.11 (subject to the
requirements and limitations therein, including the requirements under Section 2.11(f), (h) and (i)) (it being understood that
the documentation required under Section 2.11(f) and (h) shall



be delivered to the participating Lender) to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by
assignment pursuant to Section 11.04(b); provided, however, that no participant shall be entitled to receive under Section
2.11 in excess of the amount that would have been payable under such Section by the Borrower to the Lender granting its
participation had such participation not been granted, and no Lender granting a participation shall be entitled to receive
payment under Section 2.11 in an amount which exceeds the sum of (A) the amount to which such Lender is entitled under
such Section with respect to any portion of any Advances owned by such Lender which is not subject to any participation,
plus (B) the aggregate amount to which its participants are entitled under Section 2.11 with respect to the amounts of their
respective participations. Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as a non-fiduciary agent
of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts
(and stated interest) of each Participant’s interest in the Advances or other obligations under the Basic Documents (the
“Participant Register”); provided that no Lender shall have any obligation to disclose all or any portion of the Participant
Register (including the identity of any Participant or any information relating to a Participant’s interest in any commitments,
loans, letters of credit or its other obligations under any Basic Document) to any Person except to the extent that such
disclosure is necessary to establish that such commitment, loan, letter of credit or other obligation is in registered form under
Section 5f.103-1(c) of the United States Treasury Regulations. The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive
absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the
owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary.

( d )    Limitations on Rights of Participants. A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under
Section 2.11 than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such
Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower’s prior written consent.

(e)    Certain Pledges. Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights
under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including any such pledge or assignment to a Federal Reserve
Bank, and this Section shall not apply to any such pledge or assignment of a security interest; provided that no such pledge
or assignment of a security interest shall release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such
assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

(f)    No Assignments to the Borrower or Affiliates. Anything in this Section to the contrary notwithstanding, no Lender
may assign or participate any interest in any Advance held by it hereunder to the Borrower or any of its Affiliates or
Subsidiaries without the prior consent of each Lender.

Section 11.05    Survival. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Borrower herein
and in the certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement shall be considered to
have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the
making of any Advances, regardless of any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and



notwithstanding that the Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or incorrect
representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as
the principal of or any accrued interest on any Advance or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement is
outstanding and unpaid and so long as the Term Loan Commitments have not expired or terminated. The provisions of
Section 2.11, Section 11.03, and Article X shall survive and remain in full force and effect regardless of the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of the Advances and the Term Loan Commitments or the termination
of this Agreement or any provision hereof. For purposes of determining compliance with the conditions specified in Section
4.01, each Lender that has signed this Agreement shall be deemed to have consented to, approved or accepted or to be
satisfied with, each document or other matter required thereunder to be consented to or approved by or acceptable or
satisfactory to a Lender unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from such Lender prior to the Closing
Date specifying its objection thereto.

Section 11.06    Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by
different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken
together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreement and any separate letter agreements with respect to fees payable
to the Administrative Agent constitute the entire contract between and among the parties relating to the subject matter
hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter
hereof, including that certain Non-binding Letter of Intent, dated as of August 7, 2018, executed by the Company. Except as
provided in Section 4.01, this Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed by the Administrative
Agent and when the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the
signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto and their respective successors and assigns. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this
Agreement by telecopy or other electronic means shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this
Agreement.

Section 11.07    Severability. Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any
jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without
affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision
in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

Section 11.08    Right of Set-off. If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each Lender is hereby
authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by Governmental Rules, to set off and apply any
and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other indebtedness at any
time owing by such Lender to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any of and all the Obligations of the
Borrower now or hereafter existing under this Agreement held by such Lender, irrespective of whether or not such Lender
shall have made any demand under this Agreement and although such Obligations may be unmatured. The rights of each
Lender under



this Section are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of set-off) which such Lender may have. Each
Lender agrees to notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent promptly after any such setoff and application; provided
that the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such setoff and application.

Section 11.09    Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Etc.

(a)    Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT, AND THE PERFORMANCE HEREOF, SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND
CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO
CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL
OBLIGATIONS LAW).

(b)    Submission to Jurisdiction. Each of Borrower, the Administrative Agent, and the Lenders hereby irrevocably and
unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New York
sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate
court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the other Basic
Documents, whether sounding in contract, tort, or otherwise, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of
the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding
may be heard and determined in such State or, to the extent permitted by Governmental Rules, in such Federal court. Each
of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced
in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Governmental Rules.

( c )    Waiver of Objection to Venue. Each of the Borrower, the Administrative Agent, and the Lenders hereby
irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may
now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement in
any court referred to in Section 11.09(b). Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted
by Governmental Rules, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such
court.

( d )    Service of Process. Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner
provided for notices in Section 11.01. Nothing in this Agreement will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve
process in any other manner permitted by Governmental Rules.

Section 11.10    WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE GOVERNMENT RULES, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL
PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY).
EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER



PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE
EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND
THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER
THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

Section 11.11    Headings. Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of
reference only, are not part of this Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in
interpreting, this Agreement.

Section 11.12    USA PATRIOT Act . Each Lender hereby notifies Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the
USA PATRIOT Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001, as amended and modified from time to
time)), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies each of the foregoing Persons, which information
includes the name and address of such Persons and other information that will allow such Lender to identify such Persons in
accordance with said Act.

Section 11.13    Interest Savings Clause. It is the intent of the Borrower and the Lenders to conform strictly to all
applicable state and federal usury laws. All agreements between the Borrower and Lenders, whether now existing or
hereafter arising and whether written or oral, are hereby expressly limited so that in no contingency or event whatsoever,
whether by reason of acceleration of the maturity hereof or otherwise, shall the amount contracted for, charged, received or
collected by Lenders for the use, forbearance, or detention of the money loaned hereunder or otherwise, or for the payment
or performance of any covenant or obligation contained herein or in any other document evidencing, securing or pertaining
to the Obligations evidenced hereby which may be legally deemed to be for the use, forbearance or detention of money,
exceed the maximum amount which the Borrower is legally entitled to contract for, charge, receive or collect under
applicable Governmental Rules. If from any circumstances whatsoever fulfillment of any provision hereof or of such other
documents, at the time performance of such provision shall be due, shall involve transcending the limit of validity prescribed
by Governmental Rules, then the obligation to be fulfilled shall be automatically reduced to the limit of such validity, and if
from any such circumstance Lenders shall ever receive as interest or otherwise an amount in excess of the maximum that
can be legally collected, then such amount which would be excessive interest shall be applied to the reduction of the
principal indebtedness hereof and any other amounts due with respect to the Obligations evidenced hereby, but not to the
payment of interest and if such amount which would be excess interest exceeds the Obligations and all other non-interest
indebtedness described above, then such additional amount shall be refunded to the Borrower. In determining whether or
not all sums paid or agreed to be paid by the Borrower for the use, forbearance or detention of the Obligations hereunder to
Lenders, under any specific contingency, exceeds the maximum amount permitted by applicable Governmental Rules, the
Borrower and Lenders shall to the maximum extent permitted under applicable Governmental Rules, (a) treat all Obligations
evidenced hereby as but a single extension of credit, (b) characterize any non-principal payment as an expense, fee or
premium rather than as sums paid or agreed to be paid by the Borrower for



the use, forbearance or detention of the Obligations evidenced hereby, (c) exclude voluntary prepayments and the effect
thereof, and (d) amortize, prorate, allocate and spread in equal parts, the total amount of such sums paid or agreed to be
paid by the Borrower for the use, forbearance or detention of the Obligations to Lenders evidenced hereby throughout the
entire contemplated term of such Obligations so that the interest rate is uniform through the entire term of such Obligations.
The terms and provisions of this paragraph shall control and supersede every other provision hereof and all other
agreements between the Borrower and Lenders.

Section 11.14    Approvals. Unless expressly provided herein to the contrary, any approval, consent, waiver or
satisfaction of Administrative Agent with respect to any matter that is the subject of any Basic Document may be granted or
withheld by Administrative Agent, as applicable, in its sole and absolute discretion.

Section 11.15    Right of First Offer.

(a)    Subject to the rights of Ares pursuant to the Ares Facility and any rights entered into in connection with
refinancings thereof, each Credit Party hereby agrees, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, if at any time prior to the date
that all of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving rise thereto has
been asserted) have been fully performed and indefeasibly paid in full in cash, Borrower, the Company, any Subsidiary of
Borrower or the Company or, solely to the extent the creation of such entities resulted in the practical circumvention of this
Section 11.15, any Affiliates of the Company, intends to incur (a) senior or junior debt financing or refinancing of the
Advances from a third party lender or (b) with respect to Borrower, the Company or any Subsidiary of Borrower or the
Company, for any third party senior or junior debt financing of any type and with respect to any type of collateral or any
business unit (including, without limitation, any special purpose vehicle or asset-based financing in respect of Receivables)
(any such transaction described in clause (a) or (b), a “Financing Transaction”), Borrower or Company shall, or shall cause
such Affiliate or Subsidiary to, in writing, promptly inform Administrative Agent (such writing to Administrative Agent is
referred to herein as the “First Offer Notice”) of such proposed Financing Transaction and, in such First Offer Notice, shall
offer to Administrative Agent an option to prepare an offer to Borrower, the Company such Subsidiary or such Affiliate with
respect to such proposed Financing Transaction. Administrative Agent’s right of first offer shall grant Administrative Agent
the right to, within ten (10) days after the receipt of such First Offer Notice, deliver a writing to Borrower and Company (the
“Offer”) stating that Administrative Agent and Lenders wish to provide financing in respect of such Financing Transaction
and setting forth the material economic terms of such Offer. Borrower, Company, such Subsidiaries or Affiliates shall have
the right to accept or reject any Offer from Administrative Agent, but each agrees that if any Offer is rejected, none of them
shall enter into any Financing Transaction that was the subject of an Offer with any third party on any material terms that are
less favorable, taken as a whole, to Borrower, the Company, such Subsidiaries or Affiliates than those offered by
Administrative Agent in such Offer. If Administrative Agent shall have declined to exercise its right to extend an Offer after
receipt of a First Offer Notice, or shall have failed to respond to such First Offer Notice, or Borrower shall have rejected an
Offer from Administrative Agent, Borrower, the Company or such Affiliates shall be free to close such



Financing Transaction; provided that, if Borrower, the Company or such Affiliates shall have failed to so close such
Financing Transaction within one hundred and eighty (180) days after any such occurrence, then a new right of first offer for
the benefit of Administrative Agent with respect to such Financing Transaction shall immediately arise.

(b)    The provisions of the foregoing Section 11.15(a) shall not apply in connection with, and shall not survive, any
Qualified Change of Control, so long as the Lockout Period COC Additional Interest Amount has been paid by Borrower.

(c)    The provisions of the foregoing Section 11.15(a) shall not apply at any time after extensions of credit under this
Agreement together with any extensions of credit under one more Financing Transactions totaling $[***] in the aggregate
have been funded.

(d)    The provisions of the foregoing Section 11.15(a) shall terminate upon, and shall not survive, the payment and
satisfaction in full in cash of all Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim giving
rise thereto has been asserted) and termination of all Term Loan Commitments.

Section 11.16    Joint and Several Liability of Borrowers.

(a)    All Obligations are the joint and several Obligations of each Borrower, and each Borrower must
make payment upon the maturity of the Obligations by acceleration or otherwise, and this obligation and
liability on the part of each Borrower is not affected by any extensions, renewals, and forbearance
granted by Administrative Agent to any Borrower, Administrative Agent’s failure to give any Borrower
notice of borrowing or any other notice, Administrative Agent’s failure to pursue or preserve its rights
against any Borrower, the release by Borrower of any Collateral now or hereafter acquired from any
Borrower, and any agreement by each Borrower to pay upon any notice issued pursuant thereto is
unconditional and unaffected by prior recourse by Administrative Agent to the other Borrowers or any
Collateral for each Borrower’s obligations or the lack thereof. Each Borrower waives all suretyship
defenses. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that
any and all actions, inactions, or omissions by any one or more, or all, of the Borrowers in connection
with, related to, or otherwise affecting any Basic Document are the obligations of, and inure to and are
binding upon, each and all of the Borrowers, jointly and severally.

(b)    Each covenant, agreement, obligation, representation and warranty of the Borrowers contained in
this Agreement is the joint and several undertaking of each Borrower. Each Borrower acknowledges
that its obligations undertaken herein might be construed to consist, at least in part, of the guarantee of
Obligations of the other Borrowers and, in full recognition of that fact, each Borrower consents and
agrees that



Administrative Agent may, at any time and from time-to-time without notice or demand, whether before
or after any actual or purported termination, repudiation, or revocation of this Agreement by any
Borrower, and without affecting the enforceability or continuing effectiveness of this Agreement as to
any Borrower: (i) supplement, restate, modify, amend, increase, decrease, extend, renew, or otherwise
change the time for payment or the terms of this Agreement or any part thereof, including any increase
or decrease of the rate(s) of interest thereon; (ii) supplement, restate, modify, amend, increase,
decrease or waive, or enter into or give any agreement, approval or consent with respect to, this
Agreement or any part thereof, or any of the Basic Documents, or any condition, covenant, default,
remedy, right, representation, or term thereof or thereunder; (iii) accept partial payments; (iv) during the
continuance of an Event of Default, release, reconvey, terminate, waive, abandon, fail to perfect,
subordinate, exchange, substitute, transfer or enforce any security or guarantees, and apply any
security and direct the order or manner of sale thereof as Administrative Agent, in its sole discretion
determines; (v) release any Person or entity from any personal liability with respect to this Agreement or
any part thereof; (vi) during the continuance of an Event of Default, settle, release on terms satisfactory
to Administrative Agent or by operation of applicable law or otherwise liquidate or enforce any security
or guaranty in any manner, consent to the transfer of any security and bid and purchase at any sale; or
(vii) consent to the merger, change or any other restructuring or termination of the corporate or
partnership existence of any Borrower, or any other Person or entity, and correspondingly restructure
the Obligations, and any merger, change, restructuring or termination does not affect the liability of any
Borrower or the continuing effectiveness of this Agreement, or the enforceability of this Agreement with
respect to all or any part of the Obligations.

(c)    Each Borrower states and acknowledges that: (i) under this Agreement, the Borrowers desire to
utilize their borrowing potential on a consolidated basis to the same extent possible as if they were
merged into a single corporate entity and that this Agreement reflects the establishment of credit
facilities that would not otherwise be available to the Borrowers if each Borrower were not jointly and
severally liable for payment of the Obligations; (ii) it has determined that it will benefit specifically and
materially from the advances of credit contemplated by this Agreement; (iii) it is both a condition
precedent to Administrative Agent’s obligations hereunder and a desire of the Borrowers that each
Borrower execute and deliver to Administrative Agent this Agreement; and (iv) the Borrowers have
requested and bargained for the structure and terms of and security for the advances contemplated by
this Agreement. Each Borrower agrees if its joint and several liability hereunder, or if any security
interests



securing the joint and several liability, would, but for the application of this Section, be unenforceable
under applicable law, then the joint and several liability and each security interests is valid and
enforceable to the maximum extent that would not cause the joint and several liability or security
interests to be unenforceable under applicable law, and the joint and several liability and the security
interest is treated as having been automatically amended accordingly at all relevant times.

(d)    To the extent that any Borrower, under this Agreement as a joint and several obligor, repays any of
the Obligations constituting Loans made to another Borrower or other Obligations incurred directly and
primarily by any other Borrower (an “Accommodation Payment”), then the Borrower making an
Accommodation Payment is entitled to contribution and indemnification from, and, be reimbursed by,
each of the other Borrowers in an amount, for each of the other Borrowers, equal to a fraction of the
Accommodation Payment, the numerator of which fraction is the other Borrower’s “Allocable Amount”
(as defined below) and the denominator of which is the sum of the Allocable Amounts of all of the
Borrowers. As of any date of determination, the “Allocable Amount” of each Borrower is equal to the
maximum amount of liability for Accommodation Payments that could be asserted against that Borrower
hereunder without (i) rendering that Borrower “insolvent” within the meaning of Section 101(31) of the
Bankruptcy Code, Section 2 of the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act (“UFTA”) or Section 2 of the
Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act (“UFCA”), (ii) leaving that Borrower with unreasonably small capital
or assets, within the meaning of Section 548 of the Bankruptcy Code, Section 4 of the UFTA, or (iii)
leaving that Borrower unable to pay its debts as they become due within the meaning of Section 548 of
the Bankruptcy Code or Section 4 of the UFTA, or Section 5 of the UFCA. All rights and claims of
contribution, indemnification, and reimbursement under this Section are subordinate in right of payment
to the prior payment in full of the Obligations (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which
no claim has been asserted). The provisions of this Section, to the extent expressly inconsistent with
any provision in any Basic Document, supersede the inconsistent provision.

Section 11.17    Confidentiality. This Agreement, the other Basic Documents and all information related to the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby is confidential and no party hereto or thereto shall disclose any or all of its
content to any third party without the prior consent of the Borrower other than any such information that becomes generally
available to the public or becomes available to a party from a source other than another party hereto that is not known to
such recipient to be subject to confidentiality obligations; provided, that disclosure may be made by a party to its Affiliates,
managers, direct and indirect members, partners, officers, directors, employees, agents, advisors (including consultants,
accountants, attorneys and financial advisors), representatives, potential capital sources, potential lenders, and potential co-



investors who reasonably need to know such information for the purpose of evaluating the transactions described herein, or
who otherwise reasonably need to know such information (to prepare tax returns, for example) and so long as such parties
have been instructed to keep such information confidential; provided, further, that any party may disclose confidential
information to the extent required by any Governmental Authority to which such party is subject, or required by Applicable
Law or valid legal process and if required to do so will exercise commercially reasonable efforts to obtain assurances that
confidential treatment will be afforded to such information. Each of the Lenders and the Administrative Agent acknowledges
that it may receive information pursuant to the Basic Documents with respect Receivables that contains non-public
personally identifiable information (“NPI”) regarding Obligors as defined by Title V of the Gramm‑Leach‑Bliley Act of 1999
and implementing regulations, including the Federal Trade Commission’s Rule Regarding Privacy of Consumer Financial
Information (collectively, the “GLB Act”). To the extent that a Lender or the Administrative Agent has access to NPI pursuant
to the Basic Documents or from any other source, each such party agrees that such information will not be disclosed or
made available to any third party, agent or employee for any reason whatsoever, other than with respect to: (a) such
Person’s authorized employees or agents on a “need to know” basis in order for such Person to perform its obligations or
enforce its rights under the Basic Documents, provided that such representatives are subject to a confidentiality agreement
which shall be consistent with and no less restrictive than the provisions of this Section 11.17; and (b) as required by
Applicable Law or as otherwise permitted by this Agreement or the GLB Act regarding ‘Privacy’ of NPI, either during the
term of this Agreement or after the termination of this Agreement, provided that, prior to any disclosure of NPI as required by
Applicable Law, the applicable Lender or the Administrative Agent shall (i) not disclose any such information until it has
notified the Borrower in writing of all actual or threatened legal compulsion of disclosure, and any actual legal obligation of
disclosure promptly upon becoming so obligated, and (ii) cooperate to the fullest extent possible with all lawful efforts by the
Borrower to resist or limit disclosure. The Lender and the Administrative Agent will not utilize NPI in any manner that violates
any Applicable Law.

Section 11.18    Effect of Benchmark Transition Event.

(a)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Basic Document, if a Benchmark Transition
Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred prior to the
Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then, (x) if a Benchmark Replacement is
determined in accordance with clause (1) or (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark
Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any
Basic Document in respect of such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or
further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Basic Document and (y) if a Benchmark
Replacement is determined in accordance with clause (32) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such
Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and
under any Basic Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the fifth (5th)
Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Borrower and the Lenders without
any



amendment to this Agreement or any other Basic Document, or further action or consent of any other party to, this
Agreement or any other Basic Document.

(b)    In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Administrative Agent will have the right
to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary
herein or in any other Basic Document, any amendments implementing such Benchmark Replacement Conforming
Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to this Agreement or any other Basic
Document.

(c)    The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrower and the Lenders of (i) any occurrence of a
Benchmark Transition Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date, (ii) the
implementation of any Benchmark Replacement, (iii) the effectiveness of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming
Changes, (iv) the removal or reinstatement of any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to clause (d) below and (v) the
commencement or conclusion of any Benchmark Unavailability Period. Any determination, decision or election that may be
made by the Administrative Agent pursuant to this Section 11.18, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or
adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain
from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its sole
discretion and without consent from any other party to this Agreement or any other Basic Document, except, in each case,
as expressly required pursuant to this Section 11.18.

(d)    Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Basic Document, at any time (including in
connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (i) if the then-current Benchmark is a term rate (including
Term SOFR or USD LIBOR) and either (A) any tenor for such Benchmark is not displayed on a screen or other information
service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion or (B)
the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of
information announcing that any tenor for such Benchmark is or will be no longer representative, then the Administrative
Agent may modify the interest period formulation for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such
unavailable or non-representative tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to clause (i) above either (A) is
subsequently displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (B) is
not, or is no longer, subject to an announcement that it is or will no longer be representative for a Benchmark (including a
Benchmark Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify the interest period formulation for all Benchmark
settings at or after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.

(e)    Upon the Borrower’s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark Unavailability Period, the Borrower
may revoke any request for an Advance.

(f)    As used in this Section 11.18:



“Available Tenor” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then current Benchmark, as
applicable, any tenor for such Benchmark or payment period for interest calculated with reference to such Benchmark, as
applicable, that is or may be used for determining the length of an interest period pursuant to this Agreement as of such
date.

“Benchmark” means, initially, USD LIBORthe Adjusted Term SOFR Rate; provided that if a Benchmark Transition
Event or an Early Opt-in Election, as applicable, and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to
USD LIBORthe Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or the then-current Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable
Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant
to clause (a) of this Section 11.18.

“Benchmark Replacement” means, for any Available Tenor, the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be
determined by the Administrative Agent for the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date:

(1) the sum of: (a) Term SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

(1)    (2) the sum of: (a) Daily Simple SOFR andplus (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment0.11%;

( 2 )    (3) the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Administrative Agent in
consultation with the Borrower as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding
Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the
mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing
market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar-
denominated syndicated or bilateral credit facilities at such time and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement
Adjustment;.

provided that, in the case of clause (1), such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is displayed on a screen or other
information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable
discretion. If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause (1), or (2) or (3) above would be less than the
Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement and the other Basic
Documents.

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the then current Benchmark with
an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for any applicable interest period and Available Tenor for any setting of such
Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement:

(1) , the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a
positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by for purposes of clauses (1) and (2) of the definition of
“Benchmark Replacement,” the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the
Administrative Agent:



(a) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which
may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference Time such Benchmark Replacement is
first set for such interest period that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental
Body for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement
for the applicable Corresponding Tenor;

(b) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference Time
such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such interest period that would apply to the fallback rate for
a derivative transaction referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon an index cessation event
with respect to such Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding Tenor; and

(2) for purposes of clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement,” the spread adjustment, or method for
calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been
selected by thethe Administrative Agent in consultation with the Borrower for the applicable Corresponding Tenor giving due
consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such
spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the
Relevant Governmental Body on the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market
convention for determining a spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the
replacement offor such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated
syndicated or bilateral credit facilities;

provided that, in the case of clause (1) above, such adjustment is displayed on a screen or other information service that
publishes such Benchmark Replacement Adjustment from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its
reasonable discretion.

“Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes” means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical,
administrative or operational changes (including changes to the definition of “Business Day”, timing and frequency of
determining rates and making payments of interest, timing of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation
notices, length of lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions and other technical, administrative or operational
matters) that the Administrative Agent decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and implementation of such
Benchmark Replacement and to permit the administration thereof by the Administrative Agent in a manner substantially
consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is
not administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent determines that no market practice for the administration of such
Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner of administration as the Administrative Agent decides is reasonably
necessary in connection with the administration of this Agreement and the other Basic Documents).



“Benchmark Replacement Date” means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current
Benchmark:

(1)    in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the later of (a) the date of the
public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the administrator of such
Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or indefinitely ceases to
provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(2)    in the case of clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the date of the public statement or
publication of information referenced therein; or.

(3) in the case of an Early Opt-in Election, the first (1st) Business Day after the date notice of such Early Opt-in
Election is provided to the Borrower and the Lenders.

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day
as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed
to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination and (ii) the “Benchmark Replacement Date” will be
deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (1) or (2) with respect to any Benchmark upon the occurrence of the
applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or the
published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-
current Benchmark:

(1)    a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such Benchmark (or the
published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to
provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided
that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any
Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);

(2)    a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such
Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof), the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the
administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator
for such Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over
the administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), which states that the administrator of such Benchmark (or
such component) has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component
thereof) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of



such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of
such Benchmark (or such component thereof); or

(3)    a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such
Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available Tenors of such
Benchmark (or such component thereof) are no longer representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with respect to any
Benchmark if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current
Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means the period (if any) (x) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement
Date pursuant to clauses (1) or (2) of that definition has occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced
the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Basic Document in accordance with this Section
11.18 and (y) ending at the time that a Benchmark Replacement has replaced the then-current Benchmark for all purposes
hereunder and under any Basic Document in accordance with this Section 11.18.

“Corresponding Tenor” with respect to any Available Tenor means, as applicable, either a tenor (including overnight)
or an interest payment period having approximately the same length (disregarding business day adjustment) as such
Available Tenor.

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day, SOFR, with the conventions for this rate (which will include a lookback)
being established by the Administrative Agent in accordance with the conventions for this rate selected or recommended by
the Relevant Governmental Body for determining “Daily Simple SOFR” for business loans; provided, that if the
Administrative Agent decides that any such convention is not administratively feasible for the Administrative Agent, then the
Administrative Agent may establish another convention in its reasonable discretion.

“Early Opt-in Election” means, if the then-current Benchmark is USD LIBOR, the occurrence of:

(1) a determination by the Administrative Agent that at least five currently outstanding U.S. dollar-denominated
syndicated or bilateral credit facilities at such time contain (as a result of amendment or as originally executed) a
SOFR-based rate (including SOFR, a term SOFR or any other rate based upon SOFR) as a benchmark rate, and

(2) the election by the Administrative Agent in consultation with the Borrower to trigger a fallback from USD LIBOR.

“Floor” means two percent (2.00%) per annum initially (as of the execution of this Agreement, the modification,
amendment or renewal of this Agreement or otherwise) with respect to USD LIBOR.



“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any successor definitional
booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc.
or such successor thereto.

“Reference Time” with respect to any setting of the then-current Benchmark means (1) if such Benchmark is USD
LIBOR, 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the day that is two London banking days preceding the date of such setting, and (2) if
such Benchmark is not USD LIBOR, the time determined by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System or the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Board of Governors of the Federal
Reserve System or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor thereto.

“SOFR” means, with respect to any Business Day, a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight financing rate for
such Business Day published by the SOFR Administrator on the SOFR Administrator’s Website on the immediately
succeeding Business Day.

“SOFR Administrator” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the secured
overnight financing rate).

“SOFR Administrator’s Website” means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, currently at
http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR
Administrator from time to time.

“Term SOFR” means, for the applicable Corresponding Tenor as of the applicable Reference Time, the forward-
looking term rate based on SOFR that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body.

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the related
Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

“USD LIBOR” means the London interbank offered rate for U.S. dollars.

ARTICLE XII
TERMINATION

Section 12.01    Termination.

(a)    Date of Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon the occurrence of the earlier of either: (i) the payment
and satisfaction in full in cash of all Obligations (other than contingent indemnification Obligations to the extent no claim
giving rise thereto has been asserted); or (ii) the mutual consent of the Borrower and all Lenders in writing and delivered to
the Administrative Agent by the Borrower. Upon the occurrence of either of the foregoing



events described in this Section 12.01(a), the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall authorize the filing of such
documents as set forth in Section 2.06(c).

( b )    Termination of the Borrower. Neither the Administrative Agent, Lenders nor the Borrower, shall be entitled to
revoke or terminate this Agreement except as contemplated herein.

[Remainder of Page Left Intentionally Blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Agreement as of the date first above-written.

BORROWER:

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,
as Borrower

By: ____________________

Name:

Title:



AGENT:

MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC,
as Administrative Agent

By: /s/ David Aidi

Name: David Aidi

Title: Authorized Signatory

LENDERS:

ATALAYA SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND VII LP,
as Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi

Name: David Aidi

Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA SPECIAL OPPORTUNITIES FUND (CAYMAN) VII LP,
as Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi

Name: David Aidi

Title: Authorized Signatory
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Exhibit 10.2

AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 3 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”),
dated as of April 16, 2024 (the “Effective Date”) to that certain Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as
of July 19, 2023 (as amended, restated supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Existing Credit
Agreement” and, as amended by this Amendment, the “Amended Credit Agreement”), among Opportunity Funding SPE V,
LLC (the “Borrower”), Opportunity Financial, LLC (the “Company”), as originator (in such capacity, the “Originator”), as
servicer (in such capacity, the “Servicer”), as a Guarantor (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) and as a Seller (as
defined the Amended Credit Agreement), OppWin, LLC (“OppWin”), as a Seller and as a Guarantor, the other Guarantors
from time to time party thereto, Midtown Madison Management LLC, as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the
“Administrative Agent”) and as Collateral Agent (in such capacity, the “Collateral Agent” and together with the Administrative
Agent, the “Agents”), and the Lenders parties thereto from time to time (the “Lenders” and each, individually, a “Lender”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Company, the Originator, the Servicer, each Guarantor and each Seller party thereto
(collectively, the “Credit Parties” and each, individually, a “Credit Party”), the Administrative Agent and the Lenders entered
into the Existing Credit Agreement whereby the Lenders agreed to extend a revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) to the
Borrower and the Borrower agreed to secure its Obligations under the Existing Credit Agreement by granting to the
Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a first priority Lien on all of its assets; and

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Existing Credit Agreement as more specifically set forth herein on
the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto
hereby agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms that are used in this Amendment (including the recitals hereto, which are herein
incorporated) but are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement, unless
otherwise stated.

2. Amendments to Credit Agreement. Upon the Effective Date, the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by:

[Signature Page to Amendment No. 3 to A&R Credit Agreement (OppFunding V)]



(a) adding the following new defined term to Section 1.1 of the Existing Credit Agreement in alphabetical
order:

"Specified Share Repurchase Program" means OppFi Inc.’s program to repurchase, from time to time,
up to $20,000,000 worth of its Class A common stock over a three year period as more specifically
described in OppFi Inc.’s current report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 9, 2024.

(b) amending and restating Section 5.11(d) of the Existing Credit Agreement as follows:

(d)    Dividend Restriction. None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall make any payments of Cash
dividends or other Cash distributions to its equity holders without the prior written consent of the Administrative
Agent, other than Cash dividends or Cash distributions made by any direct or indirect wholly-owned Subsidiary
of the Company to its parent company; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company
may make distributions or payments of dividends no more frequently than once per Fiscal Quarter, so long as,
after giving effect to such dividend or distribution, the Company and the Borrower shall not be in violation of
Section 5.11(a) above; provided, further, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may make
distributions and/or dividends (x) in an amount not to exceed the amount necessary to permit its equity holders
to pay federal, state and local income taxes, then due and owing, attributable to the income of the Borrower
and its Subsidiaries, and (y) directly or indirectly to OppFi Inc., or redeem units, in each case in order to fund
all or a portion of the payments made under, or to otherwise effectuate, the Specified Share Repurchase
Program, in each case, so long as no Default or Event of Default shall exist (after giving effect to such
distributions).

3. Limitation of Amendments.

(a) The amendments set forth in Article 2, above, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be
limited precisely as written. This Amendment does not, and shall not be construed to constitute a waiver of any past, present
or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents or any other related document, and shall
not, directly or indirectly in any way whatsoever either: (i) impair, prejudice or otherwise adversely affect any Agent’s or any
Lender’s right at any time to exercise any right, privilege or remedy in connection with the Amended Credit Agreement, any
other Credit Document or any other related document (all of which rights are hereby expressly reserved by the Agents and
Lenders), (ii) except as specifically set forth herein, amend or alter any provision of the Existing Credit Agreement, any other
Credit Document or any other related document, (iii) constitute any course of dealing or other basis for altering any
obligation of the Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates or any right, privilege or remedy of any Agent or any Lender
under the Existing Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document or (iv) constitute any
consent (deemed or express) by any Agent or any Lender to any prior, existing or
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future violations of the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document. There are no
oral agreements among the parties hereto, and no prior or future discussions or representations regarding the subject matter
hereof shall constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit
Document or any other related document.

(b) This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Amended Credit Agreement
and all terms, conditions, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Amended Credit
Agreement and each other Credit Document are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect,
except that on and after the date hereof all references in the other Credit Documents to the “Credit Agreement,” “thereto,”
“thereof,” “thereunder” or words of like import referring to the Existing Credit Agreement shall mean and refer to the
Amended Credit Agreement.

4. Representations and Warranties; Ratification of Assignments.

(a) Each Credit Party affirms that the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment and the
performance by it of the Amended Credit Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action, and it has all
requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Amendment and to perform the Amended Credit
Agreement.

(b) Each Credit Party represents and warrants that this Amendment and the Amended Credit Agreement,
as applicable, constitute its legally valid and binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with the respective
terms hereof and thereof, except as enforcement may be limited by equitable principles (regardless of whether enforcement
is sought in equity or at law) or by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or limiting
creditors’ rights generally.

(c) Each Credit Party (with respect to itself) represents and warrants that the representations and
warranties contained in Section 4 of the Existing Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects after giving
effect to this Amendment on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of the date hereof (except to the extent
such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date), and no Default or Event of Default exists (after
giving effect to this Amendment) or would result from this Amendment becoming effective in accordance with its terms.

5. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of this Amendment. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the
satisfaction of the following conditions precedent, unless specifically waived in writing by the Administrative Agent:

(a) The Administrative Agent shall have received this Amendment duly executed by the Credit Parties.

(b) After giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) the representations and warranties contained
herein and in the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents shall be true and correct in all material
respects (except for such representations and
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warranties already qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of the Effective Date (or
to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier time, as of such earlier time); and (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have
occurred and be continuing.

(c) Borrower shall have paid to the Agents and the Lenders, as applicable, all other amounts required to be
paid pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement on the Effective Date and all outstanding Permitted Expenses.

6. Ratifications. The terms and provisions set forth in this Amendment shall modify and supersede all inconsistent
terms and provisions set forth in the Existing Credit Agreement and the Credit Documents and, except as expressly modified
and superseded by this Amendment, the terms and provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement and the other Credit
Documents are ratified and confirmed as of the Effective Date and shall continue in full force and effect. The Borrower and
the Company each hereby agrees that all Liens and security interests securing payment of the Obligations under the Credit
Documents are hereby collectively renewed, ratified and brought forward as security for the payment and performance of
the Obligations. The Credit Parties, the Agents and the Lenders agree that the Amended Credit Agreement and the other
Credit Documents, as amended hereby, shall continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their
respective terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership,
moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general equity principles
(regardless of whether such enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

7. Amendment as a Credit Document. Each Credit Party acknowledges and agrees that this Amendment constitutes a
“Credit Document.” Accordingly, it shall be an Event of Default under the Existing Credit Agreement if any representation or
warranty made by a Credit Party under or in connection with this Amendment shall have been false in any material respect
when made and which shall not have been remedied or waived within fifteen (15) Business Days after the earlier of (i) an
Authorized Officer of such Credit Party becoming aware of such falsity, or (ii) receipt by such Credit Party of written notice
from the Administrative Agent or any Lender of such falsity.

8. Expenses of Agents and Lenders. Each Credit Party agrees to pay, jointly and severally, promptly after demand, all
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agents and the Lenders in connection with the
negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this Amendment in accordance with Section 9.2 of the Amended Credit
Agreement.

9. Severability. Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as
to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity,
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular
jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

10. Successors and Assigns. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Agents, the
Lenders, the Credit Parties, and their respective successors and permitted
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assigns, except that the Credit Parties may not assign or transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder
without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent.

11. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different
counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single
contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by telecopy or other electronic means
shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.

12. No Waiver. Nothing contained in this Amendment shall be construed as an amendment or waiver by the Agents or
the Lenders of any covenant or provision of the Existing Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, this Amendment, or
of any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties, the Lenders and the Agents, and the failure of the Lenders and
the Agents at any time or times hereafter to require strict performance by the Credit Parties of any provision thereof shall not
waive, affect or diminish any right of the Agents to thereafter demand strict compliance therewith. The Agents and Lenders
hereby reserve all rights granted to each of them under the Existing Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, this
Amendment and any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties and any one or more of the Agents and the
Lenders.

13. Headings. Article and Section headings used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this
Amendment and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.

14. Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH,
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN
SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).

15. Final Agreement. THE AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE CONTRACT BETWEEN
AND AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF AND SUPERSEDES ANY AND ALL
PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER
THEREOF.

16. Time. Time is of the essence of this Amendment.

    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Amendment as of the date first above-written.
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OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE V, LLC,
as a Borrower

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,
in its individual capacity, as Originator, Servicer, a Seller and a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPWIN, LLC,
as a Seller and a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO
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MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC,
as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent
    

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory
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ACM AIF EVERGREEN P2 DAC SUBCO LP,
as a Tranche B Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA A4 POOL 1 LP,
as a Tranche B Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA A4 POOL 1 (CAYMAN) LP,
as a Tranche B Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ACM AIF EVERGREEN P3 DAC SUBCO LP,
as a Tranche C Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA ASSET INCOME FUND PARALLEL 345 LP,
as a Tranche C Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA A4 P2 DAC SUBCO LP,
as a Tranche C Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

[Signature Page to Amendment No. 3 to A&R Credit Agreement (OppFunding V)]



ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:

OPPORTUNITY MANAGER, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: Executive Chairman & CEO

OPPWIN CARD, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: Executive Chairman & CEO

OPPWIN SALARYTAP, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: Executive Chairman & CEO

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL CARD COMPANY, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: Executive Chairman & CEO

SALARYTAP, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: Executive Chairman & CEO

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL LOANS, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: Executive Chairman & CEO
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OPPWIN LOANS, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: Executive Chairman & CEO

OPPFI MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: Executive Chairman & CEO

OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE II, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: Executive Chairman & CEO
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Exhibit 10.3

AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO
REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”), dated as of April 24, 2024 (the
“Closing Date”) to that certain Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of December 14, 2022, (as amended, restated
supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Existing Credit Agreement” and, as amended by this
Amendment, the “Amended Credit Agreement”), among Opportunity Funding SPE IX, LLC (the “Borrower”), Opportunity
Financial, LLC (the “Company”), as originator (in such capacity, the “Originator”), as servicer (in such capacity, the
“Servicer”) and as a Seller (as defined the Amended Credit Agreement), OppWin, LLC (“OppWin”), as a Seller, UMB Bank,
N.A., as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the “ Administrative Agent”) and as Collateral Agent (in such capacity, the
“Collateral Agent” and together with the Administrative Agent, the “Agents”), Randolph Receivables LLC, as Castlelake
Representative and as a Lender, and the other Lenders party thereto from time to time (together with Randolph Receivables
LLC, the “Lenders”, and each, individually, a “Lender”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Company, the Originator, the Servicer and each Seller party thereto (collectively, the
“Credit Parties” and each, individually, a “Credit Party”), the Administrative Agent and the Lenders entered into the Existing
Credit Agreement whereby the Lenders agreed to extend a revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) to the Borrower and the
Borrower agreed to secure its Obligations under the Existing Credit Agreement by granting to the Collateral Agent, for the
benefit of the Secured Parties, a first priority Lien on all of its assets; and

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Existing Credit Agreement as more specifically set forth herein on
the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto
hereby agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms that are used in this Amendment (including the recitals hereto, which are herein
incorporated) but are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement, unless
otherwise stated.

2. Amendments to Credit Agreement. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions set forth in Section 5 and the other
terms and conditions of this Amendment, upon the Closing Date, the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by:
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(a) adding the following new defined term to Section 1.1 of the Existing Credit Agreement in alphabetical
order:

"Specified Share Repurchase Program" means OppFi Inc.’s program to repurchase, from time to time,
up to $20,000,000 worth of its Class A common stock over a three year period as more specifically
described in OppFi Inc.’s current report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on April 9, 2024.

(b) amending and restating Section 5.11(d) of the Existing Credit Agreement as follows:

(d)    Dividend Restriction. None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall make any payments of Cash
dividends or other Cash distributions to its equity holders without the prior written consent of the Required
Lenders, other than Cash dividends or Cash distributions made by any direct or indirect wholly-owned
Subsidiary of the Company to its parent company; provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Company may make distributions or payments of dividends no more frequently than once per Fiscal Quarter,
so long as, after giving effect to such dividend or distribution, the Company and the Borrower shall not be in
violation of Section 5.11(a) above; provided, further, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company may
make distributions and/or pay dividends (x) in an amount not to exceed the amount necessary to permit its
equity holders to pay federal, state and local income taxes, then due and owing, attributable to the income of
the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, and (y) directly or indirectly to OppFi Inc., or redeem units, in each case in
order to fund all or a portion of the payments made under, or to otherwise effectuate, the Specified Share
Repurchase Program, in each case, so long as no Default or Event of Default shall exist (after giving effect to
such distributions).

3. Limitation of Amendments.

(a) The amendments set forth in Section 2, above, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall
be limited precisely as written. This Amendment does not, and shall not be construed to, constitute a waiver of any past,
present or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents or any other related document,
and shall not, directly or indirectly in any way whatsoever either: (i) impair, prejudice or otherwise adversely affect any
Agent’s or any Lender’s right at any time to exercise any right, privilege or remedy in connection with the Amended Credit
Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document (all of which rights are hereby expressly reserved by
the Agents and Lenders), (ii) except as specifically set forth herein, amend or alter any provision of the Existing Credit
Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document, (iii) constitute any course of dealing or other basis for
altering any obligation of the Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates or any right, privilege or remedy of any Agent or
any Lender under the Existing Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document or (iv)
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constitute any consent (deemed or express) by any Agent or any Lender to any prior, existing or future violations of the
Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document. There are no oral agreements
among the parties hereto, and no prior or future discussions or representations regarding the subject matter hereof shall
constitute a waiver of any past, present or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or
any other related document.

(b) This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Amended Credit Agreement
and all terms, conditions, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Amended Credit
Agreement and each other Credit Document are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect,
except that on and after the date hereof all references in the other Credit Documents to the “Credit Agreement,” “thereto,”
“thereof,” “thereunder” or words of like import referring to the Existing Credit Agreement shall mean and refer to the
Amended Credit Agreement.

4. Representations and Warranties; Ratification of Assignments.

(a) Each Credit Party affirms that the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment and the
performance by it of the Amended Credit Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action, and it has all
requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Amendment and to perform the Amended Credit
Agreement.

(b) Each Credit Party represents and warrants that this Amendment and the Amended Credit Agreement,
as applicable, constitute its legally valid and binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with the respective
terms hereof and thereof, except as enforcement may be limited by equitable principles (regardless of whether enforcement
is sought in equity or at law) or by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or limiting
creditors’ rights generally.

(c) Each Credit Party (with respect to itself) represents and warrants that the representations and
warranties contained in Section 4 of the Existing Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects after giving
effect to this Amendment on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of the date hereof (except to the extent
such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date), and no Default or Event of Default exists (after
giving effect to this Amendment) or would result from this Amendment becoming effective in accordance with its terms.

5. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of this Amendment. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the
satisfaction of the following conditions precedent, unless specifically waived in writing by the Administrative Agent:

(a) The Administrative Agent shall have received this Amendment duly executed by the Credit Parties;

(b) After giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) the representations and warranties contained
herein and in the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit
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Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except for such representations and warranties already
qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all respects) on and as of the Closing Date (except to the extent
they expressly relate to an earlier time); and (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.

(c) Borrower shall have paid to the Agents and the Lenders, as applicable, all other amounts required to be
paid pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement on the Closing Date and all outstanding Permitted Expenses.

6. Ratifications. The terms and provisions set forth in this Amendment shall modify and supersede all inconsistent
terms and provisions set forth in the Existing Credit Agreement and the Credit Documents and, except as expressly modified
and superseded by this Amendment, the terms and provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement and the other Credit
Documents are ratified and confirmed as of the Closing Date and shall continue in full force and effect. The Borrower and
the Company each hereby agrees that all Liens and security interests securing payment of the Obligations under the Credit
Documents are hereby collectively renewed, ratified and brought forward as security for the payment and performance of
the Obligations. The Credit Parties, the Agents and the Lenders agree that the Amended Credit Agreement and the other
Credit Documents, as amended hereby, shall continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their
respective terms, except as such enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership,
moratorium or other similar laws relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general equity principles
(regardless of whether such enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

7. Amendment as a Credit Document. Each Credit Party acknowledges and agrees that this Amendment constitutes a
“Credit Document.” Accordingly, it shall be an Event of Default under the Existing Credit Agreement if any representation or
warranty made by a Credit Party under or in connection with this Amendment shall have been false in any material respect
when made and which shall not have been remedied or waived within fifteen (15) Business Days after the earlier of (i) an
Authorized Officer of such Credit Party becoming aware of such falsity, or (ii) receipt by such Credit Party of written notice
from the Administrative Agent or any Lender of such falsity.

8. Expenses of Agents and Lenders. Each Credit Party agrees to pay, jointly and severally, promptly after demand, all
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agents and the Lenders in connection with the
negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this Amendment in accordance with Section 9.2 of the Amended Credit
Agreement.

9. Severability. Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as
to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity,
legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular
jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.
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10. Successors and Assigns. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Agents, the
Lenders, the Credit Parties, and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that the Credit Parties may not
assign or transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the Administrative
Agent.

11. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different
counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single
contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by telecopy or other electronic means
shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.

12. No Waiver.

(a) Nothing contained in this Amendment shall be construed as an amendment or waiver by the Agents or
the Lenders of any covenant or provision of the Existing Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, this Amendment, or
of any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties, the Lenders and the Agents, and the failure of the Lenders and
the Agents at any time or times hereafter to require strict performance by the Credit Parties of any provision thereof shall not
waive, affect or diminish any right of the Agents to thereafter demand strict compliance therewith. The Agents and Lenders
hereby reserve all rights granted to each of them under the Existing Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents, this
Amendment and any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties and any one or more of the Agents and the
Lenders.

13. Headings. Article and Section headings used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this
Amendment and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.

14. Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH,
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES (OTHER THAN
SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).

15. Final Agreement. THE AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE CONTRACT BETWEEN
AND AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF AND SUPERSEDES ANY AND ALL
PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER
THEREOF.

16. Time. Time is of the essence of this Amendment.

17. Agent Instruction. By its execution hereof, each undersigned Lender and the Castlelake Representative hereby
authorize and direct the Agents to execute and deliver this Amendment on the date hereof.
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[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Amendment as of
the date first above-written.

OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE IX, LLC,
as Borrower

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,
in its individual capacity, as Originator, Servicer, a Seller

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPWIN, LLC,
as a Seller

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO
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UMB BANK, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent
    

By: /s/ Scott Rosevear
Name: Scott Rosevear
Title: Senior Vice President

RANDOLPH RECEIVABLES LLC
as Castlelake Representative and a Lender

By: CIO II INVESTMENTS USA LLC, its managing member

By: /s/ Ben Thompson
Name: Ben Thompson
Title: Vice President

[Signature Page to Amendment No. 1 to A&R Credit Agreement (OppFunding V)]



ACKNOWLEDGED AND CONSENTED TO:

OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE III, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO
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Exhibit 10.4

AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS AMENDMENT NO. 4 TO AMENDED AND RESTATED REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”),
dated as of June 12, 2024 (the “Effective Date”) to that certain Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated
as of July 19, 2023 (as amended, restated supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Existing Credit
Agreement” and, as amended by this Amendment, the “Amended Credit Agreement”), among Opportunity Funding SPE V,
LLC (the “Borrower”), Opportunity Financial, LLC (the “Company”), as originator (in such capacity, the “Originator”), as
servicer (in such capacity, the “Servicer”), as a Guarantor (as defined in the Amended Credit Agreement) and as a Seller (as
defined the Amended Credit Agreement), OppWin, LLC (“OppWin”), as a Seller and as a Guarantor, the other Guarantors
from time to time party thereto, Midtown Madison Management LLC, as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, the
“Administrative Agent”) and as Collateral Agent (in such capacity, the “Collateral Agent” and together with the Administrative
Agent, the “Agents”), and the Lenders parties thereto from time to time (the “Lenders” and each, individually, a “Lender”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the Company, the Originator, the Servicer, each Guarantor and each Seller party thereto
(collectively, the “Credit Parties” and each, individually, a “Credit Party”), the Administrative Agent and the Lenders entered
into the Existing Credit Agreement whereby the Lenders agreed to extend a revolving credit facility (the “Facility”) to the
Borrower and the Borrower agreed to secure its Obligations under the Existing Credit Agreement by granting to the
Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a first priority Lien on all of its assets; and

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend the Existing Credit Agreement as more specifically set forth herein on
the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto
hereby agree as follows:

AGREEMENT

1. Definitions. Capitalized terms that are used in this Amendment (including the recitals hereto, which are herein
incorporated) but are not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Amended Credit Agreement, unless
otherwise stated.

2. Amendments to Credit Agreement. Upon the Effective Date, the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended as
follows:
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(a) Section 1.01 of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by amending and restating the
definition of “Specified Bank Partner State” in its entirety as follows :

“Specified Bank Partner State” means each of Illinois, Maine, Nevada, New Hampshire, New Mexico,
Pennsylvania or Washington.

(a) Appendix C of the Existing Credit Agreement is hereby amended by amending and restating paragraph
10 in its entirety as follows:

10. [***].

3. Limitation of Amendments.

(a) The amendments set forth in Article 2, above, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be
limited precisely as written. This Amendment does not, and shall not be construed to constitute a waiver of any past, present
or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, the other Credit Documents or any other related document, and shall
not, directly or indirectly in any way whatsoever either: (i) impair, prejudice or otherwise adversely affect any Agent’s or any
Lender’s right at any time to exercise any right, privilege or remedy in connection with the Amended Credit Agreement, any
other Credit Document or any other related document (all of which rights are hereby expressly reserved by the Agents and
Lenders), (ii) except as specifically set forth herein, amend or alter any provision of the Existing Credit Agreement, any other
Credit Document or any other related document, (iii) constitute any course of dealing or other basis for altering any
obligation of the Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates or any right, privilege or remedy of any Agent or any Lender
under the Existing Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document or (iv) constitute any
consent (deemed or express) by any Agent or any Lender to any prior, existing or future violations of the Amended Credit
Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related document. There are no oral agreements among the parties
hereto, and no prior or future discussions or representations regarding the subject matter hereof shall constitute a waiver of
any past, present or future violation of the Amended Credit Agreement, any other Credit Document or any other related
document.

(b) This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Amended Credit Agreement
and all terms, conditions, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Amended Credit
Agreement and each other Credit Document are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full force and effect,
except that on and after the date hereof all references in the other Credit Documents to the “Credit Agreement,” “thereto,”
“thereof,” “thereunder” or words of like import referring to the Existing Credit Agreement shall mean and refer to the
Amended Credit Agreement.
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4. Representations and Warranties; Ratification of Assignments.

(a) Each Credit Party affirms that the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment and the
performance by it of the Amended Credit Agreement have been duly authorized by all necessary action, and it has all
requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Amendment and to perform the Amended Credit
Agreement.

(b) Each Credit Party represents and warrants that this Amendment and the Amended Credit Agreement,
as applicable, constitute its legally valid and binding obligations, enforceable against it in accordance with the respective
terms hereof and thereof, except as enforcement may be limited by equitable principles (regardless of whether enforcement
is sought in equity or at law) or by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or limiting
creditors’ rights generally.

(c) Each Credit Party (with respect to itself) represents and warrants that the representations and
warranties contained in Section 4 of the Existing Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects (except for
such representations and warranties already qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all respects) after
giving effect to this Amendment on and as of the Effective Date as though made on and as of the Effective Date (or to the
extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier time, as of such earlier time), and no Default or
Event of Default exists or would result from this Amendment becoming effective in accordance with its terms.

5. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of this Amendment. The effectiveness of this Amendment is subject to the
satisfaction of the following conditions precedent, unless specifically waived in writing by the Administrative Agent:

(a) The Administrative Agent shall have received this Amendment duly executed by the Credit Parties;

(b) After giving effect to the terms of this Amendment, (i) the representations and warranties contained
herein and in the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents shall be true and correct in all material
respects (except for such representations and warranties already qualified by materiality which shall be true and correct in all
respects) on and as of the Effective Date (or to the extent they expressly relate to an earlier time, as of such earlier time);
and (ii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.

(c) Borrower shall have paid to the Agents and the Lenders, as applicable, all other amounts required to be
paid pursuant to the Amended Credit Agreement on the Effective Date and all outstanding Permitted Expenses.

6. Ratifications. The terms and provisions set forth in this Amendment shall modify and supersede all inconsistent
terms and provisions set forth in the Existing Credit Agreement and the Credit Documents and, except as expressly
modified and superseded by this Amendment, the terms and provisions of the Existing Credit Agreement and the
other Credit Documents are ratified and confirmed as of the Effective Date and shall continue
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in full force and effect. The Borrower and the Company each hereby agrees that all Liens and security interests
securing payment of the Obligations under the Credit Documents are hereby collectively renewed, ratified and
brought forward as security for the payment and performance of the Obligations. The Credit Parties, the Agents and
the Lenders agree that the Amended Credit Agreement and the other Credit Documents, as amended hereby, shall
continue to be legal, valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, except as such
enforcement may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, receivership, moratorium or other similar laws
relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally, and by general equity principles (regardless of whether such
enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

7. Amendment as a Credit Document. Each Credit Party acknowledges and agrees that this Amendment constitutes a
“Credit Document.” Accordingly, it shall be an Event of Default under the Existing Credit Agreement if any
representation or warranty made by a Credit Party under or in connection with this Amendment shall have been false
in any material respect when made and which shall not have been remedied or waived within fifteen (15) Business
Days after the earlier of (i) an Authorized Officer of such Credit Party becoming aware of such falsity, or (ii) receipt by
such Credit Party of written notice from the Administrative Agent or any Lender of such falsity.

8. Expenses of Agents and Lenders. Each Credit Party agrees to pay, jointly and severally, promptly after demand, all
reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the Agents and the Lenders in connection with the
negotiation, preparation, execution and delivery of this Amendment in accordance with Section 9.2 of the Amended
Credit Agreement.

9. Severability. Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as
to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the
validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a
particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

10. Successors and Assigns. This Amendment is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Agents, the
Lenders, the Credit Parties, and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that the Credit Parties
may not assign or transfer any of its respective rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of the
Administrative Agent.

11. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different
counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single
contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Amendment by telecopy or other electronic
means shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment.
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12. Limited Waiver; No Other Waiver.

(a) Other than as specifically set forth in Article 2, nothing contained in this Amendment shall be construed
as an amendment or waiver by the Agents or the Lenders of any covenant or provision of the Existing Credit Agreement, the
other Credit Documents, this Amendment, or of any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties, the Lenders and
the Agents, and the failure of the Lenders and the Agents at any time or times hereafter to require strict performance by the
Credit Parties of any provision thereof shall not waive, affect or diminish any right of the Agents to thereafter demand strict
compliance therewith. The Agents and Lenders hereby reserve all rights granted to each of them under the Existing Credit
Agreement, the other Credit Documents, this Amendment and any other contract or instrument among the Credit Parties
and any one or more of the Agents and the Lenders.

13. Headings. Article and Section headings used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this
Amendment and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Amendment.

14. Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH,
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES (OTHER
THAN SECTIONS 5-1401 AND 5-1402 OF THE NEW YORK GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW).

15. Final Agreement. THE AMENDED CREDIT AGREEMENT CONSTITUTES THE ENTIRE CONTRACT BETWEEN
AND AMONG THE PARTIES RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER THEREOF AND SUPERSEDES ANY AND
ALL PREVIOUS AGREEMENTS AND UNDERSTANDINGS, ORAL OR WRITTEN, RELATING TO THE SUBJECT
MATTER THEREOF.

16. Time. Time is of the essence of this Amendment.

    IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Amendment as of the date first above-written.
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OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE V, LLC,
as a Borrower

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL, LLC,
in its individual capacity, as Originator, Servicer, a Seller and a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO
   

OPPWIN, LLC,
as a Seller and a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO
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MIDTOWN MADISON MANAGEMENT LLC,
as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent
    

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory
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ACM AIF EVERGREEN P2 DAC SUBCO LP,
as a Tranche B Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA A4 POOL 1 LP,
as a Tranche B Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA A4 POOL 1 (CAYMAN) LP,
as a Tranche B Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA ASSET INCOME FUND PARALLEL 345 LP,
as a Tranche C Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory

ATALAYA A4 P2 DAC SUBCO LP,
as a Tranche C Lender

By: /s/ David Aidi
Name: David Aidi
Title: Authorized Signatory
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ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:

OPPORTUNITY MANAGER, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPWIN CARD, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPWIN SALARYTAP, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL CARD COMPANY, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

SALARYTAP, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO
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ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED:

OPPORTUNITY FINANCIAL LOANS, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPWIN LOANS, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPFI MANAGEMENT HOLDINGS, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO

OPPORTUNITY FUNDING SPE II, LLC,
as a Guarantor

By: /s/ Todd Schwartz
Name: Todd Schwartz
Title: CEO
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Todd G. Schwartz, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2024

/s/ Todd G. Schwartz

Todd G. Schwartz

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)



 

EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Pamela D. Johnson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2024

/s/ Pamela D. Johnson

Pamela D. Johnson

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)    



 

EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc. (“Company”) for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2024, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (“Report”), I, Todd G. Schwartz, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) of the
Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.

/s/ Todd G. Schwartz

Todd G. Schwartz

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 8, 2024

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as a part of the Report or as a
separate disclosure document.



 

EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of OppFi Inc. (“Company”) for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2024, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (“Report”), I, Pamela D. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer) of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
to my knowledge:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Company and will be
retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

The undersigned expressly disclaims any obligation to update the foregoing certification except as required by law.

/s/ Pamela D. Johnson

Pamela D. Johnson

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)    

Date: August 8, 2024

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to the requirements of 18 U.S.C. § 1350 and is not being filed as a part of the Report or as a
separate disclosure document.


